Understanding Older Adolescent Girls' Perceptions of the Relationship Between Nature and Physical Activity

By

Cynthia MacDonald

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia February 2023

© Copyright by Cynthia MacDonald, 2023

Dedication

This project is dedicated to all the girls who love physical activity and being in nature, and to those in my life who have continuously supported me.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vi
Abstract	vii
List of Abbreviations Used	viii
Acknowledgements	ix
Chapter One: Introduction	1
The Issue	1
Study Rationale	3
Research Purpose and Objectives	4
Key Concepts and Terminology	5
Researcher Reflexivity and Positionality	7
Importance and Relevance to Health Promotion	8
Chapter One Summary	9
Chapter Two: Literature Review	
Physical Activity and Health	
Nature and Health	11
Gender and Health	14
Critique of the Literature	
Chapter Two Summary	
Chapter Three: Methodology	
Study Purpose, Question, and Objectives	
Paradigm: Constructivism	
Strategy of Inquiry: Qualitative Description	
Participants	
Data Collection	33
Analytic Approach	
Quality and Rigour	
Ethical Considerations	41
Chapter Three Summary	
Chapter 4: Findings	
Participants and Context	
Theme 1: Girls' Environments Can Influence Their Relationship Between Nature and PA	
Resources and Location are Essential to How Girls Connect Nature and PA Opportunities Available to Girls' Influence Their Relationship Between Nature and PA	
Fear Influences Adolescent Girls' Relationship Between Nature and PA	

Theme 2: Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Wellbeing for Adolescent Girls Connecting Nature and PA Enhances Girls' Social Opportunities and Promotes Social Wellbeing Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Mental Wellbeing for Girls	52 54
Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Emotional Wellbeing for Girls Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Physical Wellbeing for Girls	
Theme 3: Connecting Nature and PA Provides Adolescent Girls with a Sense of Connection Adolescent Girls Feel a Sense of Connectedness While in Nature	57
Adolescent Girls' Value the Connection Between Nature and PA	
How Adolescent Girls Choose to Connect Nature and PA	
Theme 4: Exposure to Stereotypes' Influences Adolescent Girls' Connection with PA & Nature	63
Stereotypes and their Influence on Girls Connecting with Nature and PA The Negative Portrayal of Adolescent Girls in Nature and PA	
Sources that Reinforce Stereotypes for Girls	
Chapter Four Summary	
Chapter 5: Discussion	
Girls' Environments Can Influence Their Relationship Between Nature and PA	73
Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Wellbeing for Girls	
Connecting Nature and PA Provides Adolescent Girls with a Sense of Connection	
Exposure to Stereotypes Influences Adolescent Girls' Connection with PA & Nature	
Study Strengths and Limitations	
Significance & Implications Adolescent Girls' Suggestions	
Future Research	
Knowledge Translation	
Conclusion	
References	
Appendix A	145
Recruitment Poster	145
Appendix B	146
Recruitment Email	146
Appendix C	147
Semi-structured interview questions	
Appendix D	149
Demographics Survey	
Appendix E	151
Consent Form	151
Appendix F	154
Verbal Consent Script	
a	

Appendix G	
Resources	

List of Tables

Table 1	. 44
Table 2	. 44

Abstract

Over time, as older adolescent girls age they become susceptible to a decline in physical activity. This decrease may be due to gender norms and stereotypes faced by women, which often centre on their bodies. In addition, older adolescent girls' connection with nature may also be affected by gender norms and stereotypes, as nature is often perceived as a masculine space where mandominated activities, such as hunting and fishing, are performed. As nature and PA have historically been associated with masculinity, adolescent girls may experience challenges when connecting nature and PA. The purpose of this study was to explore how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes. A constructivist worldview with a feminist qualitative descriptive approach was utilized as the methodology for this study. To explore the perceptions of ten older adolescent girls reflexive thematic analysis was used. Results suggest that girls' environments can influence their relationship between nature and PA, connecting nature and PA promotes wellbeing for girls, connecting nature and PA provides adolescent girls' with a sense of connection, and exposure to stereotypes' influences adolescent girls' connection with nature and PA. Study findings highlight that adolescent girls have a positive perception toward their relationship with nature and PA, as they actively chose to connect nature and PA; however they are mindful of gender norms and stereotypes. Findings from this study may provide an opportunity to better understand how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes.

List of Abbreviations Used

PA: Physical activity QD: Qualitative description TA: Thematic Analysis WHO: World Health Organization SES: Socioeconomic status

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the support of many people.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Becky Spencer, I cannot thank you enough for your continuous support throughout my thesis journey. You have patiently read my numerous revisions and shared countless feedback that contributed to my professional and personal growth. You believed in me when I didn't believe in myself and I would not be here today without your constant encouragement and support throughout this process.

I am also extremely grateful for the support I received from my committee members, Dr. Megan Aston and Dr. Karen Gallant, who generously shared their knowledge, guidance, and expertise throughout this journey. I want to express my sincerest gratitude for having had the opportunity to work with them as my supervisors. This work could not have happened without their continuous encouragement.

I would also like to thank all the participants in this study who took the time out of their schedules to participate in this project and make this thesis possible.

Thank you to all my health promotion colleagues; especially Kathryn Stone, Amera Hinnawi, and Maggie Zohil-Morton. Their constant motivation inspired me, reassured me, and provided me the confidence to finish this degree.

Thanks to all my family and friends who have supported me these past two and half years. Special thanks to my parents, for believing in me, encouraging me, and motivating me. Thank you to my baby sister Julia, for being my biggest critic and motivating me to be better than I was yesterday. I hope someday I inspire you, the way you inspire me.

Chapter One: Introduction

This chapter will provide a broad overview of this study. To begin, a brief introduction to the issue will be presented, followed by the study rationale. Next, the research purpose and objectives will be presented, and key terms will be identified. Then, the researchers' interest in the topic, including their position and reflexivity, will be provided. This chapter will conclude with the significance and potential implications of the study.

The Issue

Physical inactivity is identified by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a problem worldwide, as physical inactivity is the fourth leading risk factor for global mortality (World Health Organization, 2020). The prevalence of physical inactivity is associated with a decline in physical activity (PA) as youth age (World Health Organization, 2020). Older adolescent girls, defined as girls aged 16-19 by the WHO, are the most susceptible to this decline (Guthold et al., 2020; ParticipACTION, 2020). As young girls transition through adolescence, they become more sedentary, and their activity levels drop by as much as 83 percent (ParticipACTION, 2020). By the age of 18, many adolescent girls will engage in almost no PA except in physical education class (Burnette et al., 2017; Kimm et al., 2002, 2006). This decline in PA may be contributed to by the stereotypes and norms older adolescent girls encounter regarding femininity, such as unrealistic standards of how they should look, dress, speak, or the interests they should pursue (Beltrán-Carrillo et al., 2018; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Rosselli et al., 2020).

Societal pressures within western culture can influence adolescent girls to adhere to specific stereotypes concerning the appropriate gender appearance and behaviour (Bordo, 2004). Adolescent girls can be seen as a representation of social pressures, as they conform to cultural standards of femininity that define their bodies and social roles (Bordo, 2004). Cultural standards

can influence girls to assume they should adhere to a stereotypical feminine appearance which is fixated on being thin, slender, and pretty (Beltrán-Carrillo et al., 2018; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Rosselli et al., 2020). The pressure to adhere to specific feminine stereotypes, such as to be pretty and thin, can result in adolescent girls having a complex relationship with PA, as PA has historically been perceived as masculine (Beltrán-Carrillo et al., 2018; Dwyer et al., 2006; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Rosselli et al., 2020; Wesely & Gaarder, 2004).

In western culture, much like PA, nature has historically been seen as masculine due to the masculine traits needed to thrive in nature (Hively & El-Alayli, 2014; McNiel et al., 2012; White et al., 2019; Woodgate & Skarlato, 2015). Being powerful, adventurist, resilient, brave, and resourceful are examples of masculine traits used in nature, leading nature to be a place where men can assert their masculinity (Whittington, 2006). From a young age, boys are taught to use their bodies in skilled and forceful ways, and girls are taught that being feminine means limiting their strength and constraining their bodies in public spaces or nature (Bordo, 2020; Culp, 1998; Hortigüela-Alcalá et al., 2021; Suzanne Roberts et al., 2020; Whitson, 1994). As cultural beliefs position nature as masculine, girls may feel as though nature does not fit with the traditional conceptualizations of femininity (K. Green & Keltner, 2017; Kilgour & Parker, 2013; MacBride-Stewart et al., 2016; McNiel et al., 2012; Pinch et al., 2008).

As adolescent girls may feel as though they do not belong in nature, they may miss out on the associated physical and mental health benefits (Little, 2002). PA in nature can decrease the risk of cardiovascular disease, improve immune systems, and increase life expectancy (McNiel et al., 2012). Further, mental wellbeing benefits of participating in PA include reduced depression and stress, and improved quality of life, self-esteem, and life satisfaction (Bedimo-Rung et al., 2005). Performing PA in nature also allows adolescents to benefit from the natural elements,

such as being exposed to vitamin D and fresh air, which contributes to bone development and immune system function (Bento & Dias, 2017; Dyment & Bell, 2007).

Although there are countless positive outcomes from participating in PA in nature, recent research has found that adolescent girls have been spending less time outside and engaging in fewer outside activities (Beyer et al., 2018; Gladwell et al., 2013; Gray et al., 2015; Louv, 2009). This decline may be attributable to the stereotypes positioning both PA and nature as masculine in western society (McNiel et al., 2012; White et al., 2019; Whittington, 2006). As both nature and PA have traditionally been seen as male-dominated, when adolescent girls participate, they may face negative evaluation from society and their peers, as they are not conforming to the traditional conceptualizations of femininity (McNiel et al., 2012; Pinch et al., 2008). To avoid negative evaluation girls may begin to restrict their involvement in nature and PA (Herrington & Brussoni, 2015; Kilgour & Parker, 2013; MacBride-Stewart et al., 2016; McNiel et al., 2012). Girls who participate in PA in nature face a complex dilemma of resisting oppressive stereotypes of femininity while also trying to conform to some of the traditional gender norms to gain acceptance (Lugg, 2003). When girls challenge assumptions about their abilities, appearance, and behaviours, they disrupt the traditional idea of femininity and complexities may arise (Herrington & Brussoni, 2015; MacBride-Stewart et al., 2016; McNiel et al., 2012; E. A. Richardson & Mitchell, 2010; Whittington, 2006; Wittmer, 2001).

Study Rationale

A study focused specifically on older adolescent girls is important to understand the unique relationships they can have with PA and nature. First, researchers have previously studied how men connect with nature (Culp, 1998; Godtman Kling et al., 2020; Khajavei, 2017; Pasanen et al., 2014; White et al., 2019). This results in a gender gap in the research, as men's

experiences may not translate to other genders. Additionally, PA research that has been done with girls focuses on early-to-middle adolescents, as only one study focusing on older adolescent girls was identified in a scoping review (Spencer et al., 2015). This gap in the literature is necessary to fill as adolescent girls become more sedentary and less active as they age (Guthold et al., 2020; ParticipACTION, 2020).

Although studies have identified that adolescent girls are spending less time outside than their predecessors (Gray et al., 2015; Larson et al., 2011; Louv, 2009), research has not uncovered what may be contributing to the decline (McNiel et al., 2012; Roth & Basow, 2004). Understanding the relationship women and girls have with nature can help us reveal and understand the stereotypes they face (Bixby et al., 2015; Gentile et al., 2018; Spencer et al., 2021). It is important to identify the specific stereotypes women and girls are expected to follow in nature in order to build a more inclusive and accepting society. By doing so, this study will add to scholarly research as few studies have researched older adolescent girls' experiences with PA and nature (B. Evans, 2006; Gray et al., 2015; Spencer et al., 2021; White et al., 2019).

Research Purpose and Objectives

The purpose of this study was to use qualitative description to understand how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes. This proposed study explored the stereotypes and gender norms older adolescent girls in Nova Scotia experience while connecting with nature and PA by addressing the following research objectives:

- To understand how older adolescent girls perceive their connection with nature.
- To explore how older adolescent girls' connection with nature relates to PA.

• To understand how older adolescent girls experience gender-, nature-, and PA-related stereotypes.

Key Concepts and Terminology

Physical activity (PA) is a broad term used to describe a wide range of activities. The World Health Organization (WHO) defines PA as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that require energy expenditure" (World Health Organization, 2018). This form of movement can be done through activities like walking, cycling, or sports, and can be done at any skill level (World Health Organization, 2018). In this study, I will use the term 'PA' to broadly refer to any type of bodily movement through sport or recreation.

Central to this work is the concept of gender. Historically, the terms sex and gender have been used interchangeably, but are now recognized as distinct concepts from one another (Government of Canada, 2020). The term "sex" refers to traits that define a human as male or female, such as physiology, genetics, and biology (Government of Canada, 2020; Kenney et al., 2015). In contrast, gender refers to socially constructed characteristics of behaviours and roles associated with self-representation, such as being a girl or boy, resulting in systems of social stratification (World Health Organization, 2021a). As a social construct, gender varies from society to society due to social, cultural, and psychological influences (Government of Canada, 2020; Kenney et al., 2015). This project is about gender, not sex, physiology, or biology. Therefore, I will use the gender terms 'women' or 'girls.' Further, much of the literature reviewed on PA used the physiology and sex terminology; as such, the focus on gender throughout this study addresses that literature gap (Tannenbaum et al., 2016). This proposed study is centred on older adolescent girls, defined by the WHO as between the ages of 16 and 19 (World Health Organization, 2015b, 2018, 2020). This study will use the term 'older adolescent girls' to refer to the study population.

There are many phrases that can be used interchangeably to describe nature. Many of the intersecting terms are used to explain how humans can interact with nature (MacBride-Stewart et al., 2016). For this study, the term 'nature' will be used to describe the natural environment, green or blue space, or landscape that includes plants and wildlife (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017). Green spaces can be defined as open, undeveloped land with natural vegetation and can include parks, forests, and playing fields, for example (R. Hunter et al., 2017). Blue spaces can be defined as visible outdoor natural surface waters with potential for the promotion of human health and wellbeing (Britton et al., 2020; Gledhill & James, 2008; Grellier et al., 2017; Völker & Kistemann, 2011). Nature can be seen as an open and constantly changing environment, where it is possible to experience freedom, active movements, and contact with natural elements (Bilton, 2010; Dyment & Bell, 2007; S. Hunter et al., 2016).

At the beginning of each interview, I provided an explanation of where my definition of nature was derived from and how I indented to use the term within my study. I then provided each participant with different examples of nature and PA, and how PA in nature can range from walking to school to going on a hike in the woods. Many participants gave their own examples and asked if these examples would be considered nature, such as going skiing, gardening, and walking around the block. As everyone's interpretation of nature may be different, the term nature was defined broadly to allow participants to add their own interpretation of what nature meant to them.

As the purpose of this study was to explore the relationship adolescent girls have between nature and PA, it is important to understand the meaning of experiences to better appreciate

interpretations of the event. The term 'perceptions' was chosen to better understand the meanings older adolescent girls give to certain situations (Angell, 1906). An exploratory study such as this, using a qualitative description methodology, allows for participants experiences to be better understood from their unique perspectives (Doucet et al., 2010 Sandelowski, 2000; Thorne et al., 2004).

Researcher Reflexivity and Positionality

Reflexivity is a technique in which the researcher acknowledges their own positions, assumptions, and biases, which is critical when conducting qualitative research (S. Morrow, 2005; Richman & Shaffer, 2000). Researchers should recognize, examine, and understand how their social background, location, age, socioeconomic status, education, and assumptions affect their research (S. Morrow, 2005). I am a young white woman who has lived in Antigonish, Nova Scotia, for my entire life. Due to my social position, specific groups may be more likely to participate than others. For example, others who see themselves as similar to me may be more inclined to participate. This may impact my study by disproportionately recruiting participants who are white girls of a middle-to-high socioeconomic status.

Additionally, I have always been interested in PA, as I grew up playing sports and being physically active in general. As I am from a rural area, I have also been exposed to nature and outside experiences as a primary form of unstructured PA. My background in PA and nature may influence my interpretation of the data. For example, I could interpret the data to reflect how I feel about nature and PA, which could be different from the emotions and perceptions of the participants. I am aware of my position and was mindful of the impact it may have on the study. In addition, my position as a woman may be beneficial for the study, as older adolescent girls may feel they can speak freely due to my closeness to the study population's age and gender.

Every effort was made to ensure I am cautious of my social location and its impact on the results. For example, throughout the coding and analysis process, I remained cautious and mindful of my position and how it may impact the results.

My passion for PA started at a young age. As an infant my parents enrolled me in PA groups and once I was old enough to pick my own activities, I started playing sports. More specifically hockey and soccer. In high school my friends from hockey were labelled as the sporty girls, who were too strong, tried too hard in PE class, and played a boys' sport. It was also around this time when my friends and I started developing an interest in hiking and backpacking. As a group of girls who played hockey and liked to adventure, we became subjected to judgement and stereotyped. As we played a male dominated sport we were seen as girls going against the norm and contradicting femininity. As athleticism and femininity are oftentimes contradictory, we had to go out of our way to demonstrate that we could be both athletic and socially accepted as feminine. Although valiant efforts were made from myself and my friends, many girls dropped out around this time to better adhere to societal norms. Although I was in high school many years ago, these issues still arise as my younger sister is still told that her athleticism contradicts femininity. My hope for this research is for older adolescent girls' to know that it is socially acceptable to form a relationship with nature and PA. Additionally, I hope this research highlights how stereotypes and gender norms can influence girls' relationship between nature and PA.

Importance and Relevance to Health Promotion

This project is significant to the field of health promotion as PA, as well as inactivity, significantly impacts adolescents' health. Health promotion provides the opportunity to raise the health status of populations by facilitating a thriving, productive, and equitable society (IUHPE,

2020; World Health Organization, 1986). In addition, this study serves to challenge common myths and misconceptions regarding nature and PA with the hopes of enabling older adolescent girls to engage with nature and PA.

The Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion has previously identified the importance of natural environments on health, stating that the links between people and their environment are the basis for a socio-ecological approach to health (IUHPE, 2020; World Health Organization, 1986). Some of the stereotypes pertaining to nature are problematic as they discourage older adolescent girls from visiting nature and being physically active. These stereotypes are related to factors such as gender, socio-economic status (SES), and race that can be addressed through advocacy. Recently health promotion research has increased its focus on the connection between planetary health and human health (IUHPE & World Health Organization, 2021). Nature has been identified as a positive outcome towards human health and well-being as it provides conditions that foster human and environmental health resulting in potential advocacy for health promotion (IUHPE, 2020; IUHPE, 2021).

Chapter One Summary

Older adolescent girls are faced with complex gender norms and stereotypes, which can impact their relationship with both nature and PA. A decrease in PA among adolescents is a growing concern, especially in adolescent girls, yet there has been limited PA research focusing on older adolescent girls. Further, adolescent girls can have a multifaceted relationship with nature due to the cultural and historical stereotypes surrounding nature. The purpose of this study was to understand older adolescent girls' perceptions and experiences with nature and PA. The proposed study fills a current gap and will add to the body of literature on older adolescent girls and their perceptions of the relationship between nature and PA.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

This chapter will provide an in-depth review and critique of the literature. Specifically, this review will focus on the connection between PA, nature, and older adolescent girls' health and wellbeing. Additionally, this review will explore stereotypes and gender norms and how they influence adolescent girls' relationship with PA and nature. This review will further examine the context of the existing literature on older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA. To begin, PA and health will be broadly discussed. Nature and its connection to health will then be described. Finally, gender and health will be outlined by examining how girls connect with nature and PA. Overall, the connections between gender, nature, and PA will be explored.

Physical Activity and Health

Regular participation in PA is strongly associated with numerous health benefits (Li et al., 2016; Ortiz-Castillo, 2011). The benefits associated with engaging in PA include but are not limited to: enhanced self-esteem; decreased risk of developing diseases, obesity, and type II diabetes; improved bone and muscle strength; maximal oxygen uptake; increased brain function and development, as well as overall higher quality of life (Eddolls et al., 2018; Ortiz-Castillo, 2011; ParticipACTION, 2020; Proudfoot et al., 2019; Thivel et al., 2019). Therefore, a physically active population should have fewer health risks than an inactive population (Eddolls et al., 2018; Ortiz-Castillo, 2011; Thivel et al., 2019).

As research has highlighted the benefits of PA, it is alarming that the current literature suggests adolescents do not meet the minimal hours of PA per day recommended by the Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology (CSEP) (Li et al., 2016; ParticipACTION, 2020). Globally, 81% of adolescents have been identified as physically inactive (Guthold et al., 2020; ParticipACTION, 2020), leading the WHO to identify physical inactivity among adolescents as a

worldwide problem (World Health Organization, 2015b, 2018, 2020). Studies have found that PA levels tend to decline as children transition into adolescence and adulthood (Li et al., 2016; Pate et al., 2009; Sallis et al., 2000; Trost et al., 2002). Older adolescent girls are the most vulnerable to this decline, as their levels decrease by approximately 83% (Dwyer et al., 2006; Guthold et al., 2020; Kimm et al., 2002; Pate et al., 2009; World Health Organization, 2019). Further, just 2% of girls aged 12–17 in Canada achieve the 24-hour movement guidelines recommended by CSEP (Colley et al., 2017; Guthold et al., 2018; ParticipACTION, 2020; World Health Organization, 2020).

Adolescent girls' decline in PA may be attributed to the unrealistic expectations of femininity (Spencer et al., 2021). As girls transition into adolescence, they feel pressure from society to conform to unrealistic standards about what it means to be a girl. For example, the societal pressure to conform extends to expectations on how they should look, dress, speak, or the interests they should pursue (Beltrán-Carrillo et al., 2018; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Rosselli et al., 2020). These expectations can impact adolescent girls' behaviour, leading them to avoid participating in PA due to fear of being criticized or being perceived as too sporty by their peers (Beltrán-Carrillo et al., 2018; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Rosselli et al., 2020; Wesely & Gaarder, 2004). These gender norms and stereotypes that often lead to contradictions and double standards that girls face will be further discussed below, in the section regarding gender and health.

Nature and Health

Over the past few decades, there has been an increased focus within Health Promotion on understanding the connection between nature and health. Spending time in nature, as well as performing activities in nature have both been found to provide positive health benefits (Bedimo-

Rung et al., 2005; Doherty et al., 2014; Gladwell et al., 2013; Herrington & Brussoni, 2015; Shanahan et al., 2016; Thompson Coon et al., 2011). Nature can deliver many physical and psychological benefits, such as reduced mortality from cardiovascular disease (Donovan et al., 2013; Mitchell & Popham, 2008), improved cognitive performance (Berman et al., 2008), and improved concentration and productivity (Dowdell et al., 2011; Faber Taylor & Kuo, 2009; Ginsburg et al., 2007; Kuo & Faber Taylor, 2004; Zelenski & Nisbet, 2014).

Natural environments have also been identified as therapeutic, leading to improved mental and social wellbeing. For example, exposure to nature has been found to improve mental health and wellbeing by fostering positive emotional states (Bojorquez & Ojeda-Revah, 2018; Cobar et al., 2017; Mayer et al., 2009; Nisbet & Zelenski, 2011; Shan, 2014; Tannehill et al., 2015; Thomas, 2015; Thompson Coon et al., 2011). Nature has also been found to help improve awareness and restore attention (Bojorquez & Ojeda-Revah, 2018; Cobar et al., 2017; Tannehill et al., 2015; Thomas, 2015). Studies suggest that connecting with nature can lead to positive emotions, such as happiness, gratitude, and pride (Capaldi et al., 2015; Cervinka et al., 2012; Cobar et al., 2017; Gladwell et al., 2013; Mayer et al., 2009; Nisbet & Zelenski, 2011, 2011; Tannehill et al., 2015; Thomas, 2015). For instance, previous research found that walking in parks or open spaces with large amounts of green coverage improves mental health and leads to a boost in mood, thus promoting overall happiness, especially in young women or adolescent girls (Berman et al., 2012; Bojorquez & Ojeda-Revah, 2018; Cobar et al., 2017; Gladwell et al., 2013; Mayer et al., 2009; Nisbet & Zelenski, 2011).

The relationship between PA and nature can be influenced by external barriers such as pests, fear of accidents, and wildlife sightings (Allison et al., 2005; Armstrong et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2001). These barriers can act as constraints which can hinder adolescent girls' connection

between nature and PA. For example, many girls and women avoid spending time in nature for pest-related reasons, such as the presence of ticks, mosquitos, and other insects (Oppliger et al., 2019). In addition, fear of accidents, getting attacked, getting lost, and poisonous plants are other reasons adolescent girls avoid nature (Armstrong et al., 2018; Oppliger et al., 2019). Other external barriers such as, the influence of peers and family, lack of time, inaccessibility, and cost of facilities, can also act as constraints (Allison et al., 2005).

The influence of peers and family members can also hinder adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA, as they may not want to engage in such activities alone (Allison et al., 2005). Lack of time was also considered a constraint as other commitments such as school, jobs, relationships, and responsibilities at home compete for their time after school and on weekends (Allison et al., 2005). Research has found that accessibility and cost can affect the relationship between nature and PA, as many adolescents cannot transport themselves or afford transportation fairs (Astell-Burt et al., 2014; Owen et al., 2004; Pikora et al., 2003; E. A. Richardson et al., 2013; Thompson Coon et al., 2011). For this reason, some barriers can be mitigated when locations promote free and easy access (Lee et al., 2001; Shanahan et al., 2016).

The relationship between PA and nature can be influenced by multiple characteristics, including SES, ethnicity, age, and gender (Armstrong et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2001). Constraints to accessing nature are not equally distributed, and socio-demographic characteristics play a role in the prevalence and extent of constraints (DeVille et al., 2021; Jackson & Henderson, 1995; Shores et al., 2007; Waite et al., 2021). For example, marginalized groups, such as ethnic minorities, women, and older people experience greater restrictions and barriers towards nature and PA than their counterparts (Baah et al., 2019; Crespo et al., 2000; G. Green et al., 2012; Pratt, 2019; Saffer et al., 2013; Sasidharan3/29/2023 3:21:00 PM, 2001; Waite et al., 2021).

Cultural background can also influence the use and perception of landscape, as different cultures use nature differently (Carr & Williams, 1993; Gentin, 2011; Johnson et al., 2004; Kamičaitytė et al., 2020). As noted above, constraints and barriers can influence people's abilities to form a relationship between nature and PA, yet women may encounter additional barriers as nature has historically been seen as a male-dominated space (Ardener, 1975; K. Green & Keltner, 2017; Kilgour & Parker, 2013; MacBride-Stewart et al., 2016; McNiel et al., 2012; Roth & Basow, 2004; White et al., 2019).

Gender and Health

Across cultures, gender is seen as a classification that structures social life and can greatly influence the way in which people understand themselves, how others treat them, and how they interact with society (Schnebly, 2022). Society's understandings of gender and sex has evolved over time creating more ways for people to live and express their gender identities (Godman, 2018). Recent studies have found that gender fluidity, such as non-binary identification and expression is becoming more commonly accepted (Diamond, 2020; James et al., 2016). Interestingly, despite the evolving understandings of gender and sex, literature to date in both nature and PA has primarily focused on a binary understanding of gender (Tannenbaum et al., 2016). While health, gender, and social literature is moving toward a more broad and fluid understanding of gender, there is still work to be done.

People of colour, immigrants, those living in poverty, people with pre-existing health conditions, women, and Indigenous people are susceptible to gender-based inequities (Hayes & Poland, 2018). Gender-based inequities can result in differences in life expectancy, health behaviours, mortality, and morbidity (Crimmins et al., 2019; Luy & Minagawa, 2014; Mackenbach et al., 2019; Stefko et al., 2020; Vlassoff, 2007). There is almost no aspect of health

that is unaffected by gender norms (Crimmins et al., 2019; Luy & Minagawa, 2014; Vlassoff, 2007). Health inequities are primarily a function of gender inequality, resulting in differences in opportunities (Crimmins et al., 2019; Stefko et al., 2020; Vlassoff, 2007). Differences in opportunities can result in unequal access to health services, nutritious food, adequate housing, and PA (Davidson et al., 2011; Stefko et al., 2020).

Despite the ongoing progress in eliminating social and health disparities, girls are still often marginalized when it comes to their health (Crimmins et al., 2019; Davidson et al., 2011; Heise et al., 2019; Luy & Minagawa, 2014; Read & Gorman, 2010; Stefko et al., 2020). Gender inequality and discrimination faced by women and girls puts their health and wellbeing at risk. For example, women and girls often face barriers when accessing health information and services (Davidson et al., 2011; World Health Organization, 2021b). These barriers include but are not limited to: restrictions on mobility, unequal power relations resulting in lack of access in decision-making, decreased access to education, discriminatory attitudes of communities and healthcare providers, and lack of awareness amongst healthcare providers of the needs and challenges of women and girls (Davidson et al., 2011; World Health Cra also effect their opportunities to engage in PA in nature, which is imperative to address in order to improve health and wellbeing (Ponic et al., 2000).

Girls and PA. Children begin to exhibit recognition of gender stereotypes at an early age (Rosselli et al., 2020; Schmalz & Kerstetter, 2006). The development of gender stereotypes originates from our society's ideas, beliefs, and assumptions (Azzarito & Solomon, 2005). Stereotypes are a result of how we experience, think, and communicate about people, things, and the social organization of society (Azzarito, 2009; Hodge, 2012). Stereotypes are often gender-

specific and affect various components of a person's life, such as their behaviours and perceptions (Hodge, 2012). Historically, girls were expected to wear dresses, cook and clean, raise children, maintain a beautiful and delicate body, and remain passive, moral, and pure (Griffin, 1998; Woolum, 1998; Zimmerman, 2011). These traditional gender stereotypes are centred around the concept of femininity (Azzarito, 2012; Spencer et al., 2021). Femininity can refer to a set of attributes, behaviors, and roles generally associated with women and girls, such as emphasizing beauty and submissive behaviours (Azzarito, 2009; Bordo, 2004; Garrett, 2004; Whittington, 2006). In Western culture, femininity can also be linked to behaviours related to gentleness, dependency, emotionality, submissiveness, and vanity (Rathus et al., 2013). In addition, girls may be praised for being attractive, carefully groomed, compliant, sweet, pleasant, cooperative, upbeat, and sincere (Whittington, 2006).

The stereotypes connected to femininity result in complexities regarding PA, as PA has historically been linked to masculinity (Ardener, 1975; McNiel et al., 2012; Roth & Basow, 2004; White et al., 2019). Historically masculine traits may contradict feminine stereotypes, as masculinity has centred on behaviours associated with toughness, protectiveness, assertiveness, independence and competitiveness (Whittington, 2006). This creates complexity when it comes to PA, as participating in such activities may undermine the feminine identity (Garrett, 2004; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Wright, 1996). The feminine identity is commonly perceived as being less capable of performing PA due to traditional stereotypes connecting PA to the masculine identity (Beltrán-Carrillo et al., 2018; Lorber & Martin, 2013; MacBride-Stewart et al., 2016).

The connection between PA and masculinity comes from culturally constituted ideas of what behaviours are associated with masculine identity (Connell & Messerschmidt, 2005). Historically, PA has been seen as a masculine activity that requires strength and aggressiveness

to perform, while, by contrast, femininity requires grace and expressivity (B. Evans, 2006; Gentile et al., 2018). In addition, masculinity has been associated with being active, and femininity with being passive (B. Evans, 2006; MacBride-Stewart et al., 2016; Rosselli et al., 2020). As PA is an active pastime, when girls participate their skills and abilities are often called into question based on the assumptions of weakness and submissiveness (Dwyer et al., 2006; B. Evans, 2006; Rosselli et al., 2020; Warren et al., 2018). These gender stereotypes can make it challenging for adolescent girls to negotiate athletic and feminine characteristics, which may result in girls' decreased PA levels (Azzarito et al., 2006; B. Evans, 2006; Garrett, 2004; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Wright, 1996).

When adolescent girls participate in activities that have been traditionally viewed as masculine, they may threaten their feminine appearance (Azzarito et al., 2006; Azzarito & Solomon, 2005; Walseth et al., 2017). To prevent being labelled as less-than-feminine, older adolescent girls may reduce their PA and adhere to the stereotypical feminine appearance to avoid criticism (Beltrán-Carrillo et al., 2018; J. Lee & Macdonald, 2010; Rosselli et al., 2020). Society has constructed a framework for what is thought to be the ideal body, where it outlines what is socially and gender appropriate. Through socialization, girls become increasingly conscious of others' opinions and are taught that engaging in gender-inappropriate behaviours may lead to social disapproval and negative evaluation (Alley & Hicks, 2005; Harrison & Lynch, 2005; Weedon, 1997). When girls do not adhere to gender-specific stereotypes and engage in stereotypical masculine behaviour, such as rough and tumble play, they can become vulnerable to negative evaluation such as name-calling and teasing (McNiel et al., 2012; Schmalz & Kerstetter, 2006). To avoid negative evaluation, adolescent girls may limit their participation in specific activities to be socially accepted, which can therefore affect their ability to form a

connection with PA (Azzarito et al., 2006; Dworkin, 2001; Garrett, 2004; Gorely et al., 2003; Haines et al., 2016; McNiel et al., 2012; Schmalz & Kerstetter, 2006; Vu et al., 2006; Weedon, 1997; Zach & Adiv, 2016).

It is important to acknowledge the changes in stereotypes over the past few decades. Research has found that as the roles women and men have in society change, so has the beliefs towards the attributes of women over the years (Blau & Winkler, 2017; Eagly et al., 2020; Koenig & Eagly, 2014). As discourse is constantly reconstructed and people are continuously changing, this shift in gender stereotypes may be due to the constant renegotiation of social positions (Blau & Winkler, 2017; Eagly et al., 2020; Koenig & Eagly, 2014). Although research has highlighted possible shifts in gender stereotypes (Blau & Winkler, 2017; Eagly et al., 2020; Koenig & Eagly, 2014), it is important to note the position in time, as research studied during later or earlier times may report different findings. Therefore, it is important to continuously highlight and identify the possible shifts in gender stereotypes so we can expand on and strengthen previous research. This research specifically looks at the stereotypes and gender norms older adolescent girls may face during the time of this study; however, the findings may be transferable across time, age, and populations.

Gender and Nature. Historically, nature has been viewed as a masculine environment due to the traits needed to thrive in nature, such as resiliency, bravery, and powerfulness. However, during the same era nature was also seen as a representation of femininity and women's health, due to women's innate instinct to nurture their offspring (MacCormack & Strathern, 1980). For example, dated literature suggest that a woman's ability to reproduce and their natural lactation functions, resulted in them being viewed as close to nature because of the animal-like nature of raising, feeding, and caring for children (Ardener, 1975; MacCormack &

Strathern, 1980; Ortner, 1974). Feminine language such as, Fertile Land, Virgin Earth, beautiful/pretty scenery, and the term Mother Earth gives reverence to women being entwined with the environment (Bixby et al., 2015; Khajavei, 2017; McDermott, 2004; Mollett, 2017). Historically, both women and the earth have been treated as a natural resource or commodity, leading ecofeminist theorists to connect the mistreatment of women to the mistreatment of nature (McDermott, 2004; Mollett, 2017). For example, women much like the environment, have been used, altered, and manipulated for profit over the years (Bixby et al., 2015). Women and nature thus share the experiences of exploitation and oppression, resulting from masculinized culture (McDermott, 2004; Mollett, 2017). Additionally, gender can influence the intensity of different climate change effects, as extreme weather events can increase the likely hood of women and girls' experiencing gender-based violence (Alston, 2013; Hayes & Poland, 2018; Kaijser & Kronsell, 2014; Stone et al., 2022; Watts et al., 2021).

Although women and girls' relationship with nature is still complex in western society, adolescent girls and young women have begun advocating for climate change action (Stark et al., 2021). Recently, adolescent girls and young women have engaged in significant climate change advocacy. Many of these young women choose to address climate change because they have been and continue to be impacted by it (Greta's not the Only one, 2019). By advocating for climate change action, adolescent girls are contradicting the traditional, social, and cultural norms around nature. Although women and young girls in western society are beginning to advocate for climate change, Indigenous people, many whom are women, have been advocating for the protection of nature for some time now (M. K. Dennis & Bell, 2020). Furthermore, Indigenous people are among the populations that contribute the least to emissions and are seen as the protectors of the earth's biodiversity (M. K. Dennis & Bell, 2020; Garnier et al., 2020).

However, many Indigenous advocators often go unrecognized as climate change activists (M. K. Dennis & Bell, 2020).

Despite evidence that women may connect and relate to nature, historically, nature has been seen as a traditionally male environment (Hively & El-Alayli, 2014; McNiel et al., 2012; White et al., 2019; Woodgate & Skarlato, 2015). One way in which men dominate nature is through the activity of hunting, which is a predominantly male activity that is historically associated with violence and killing (Lee et al., 2001; Warren, 2015). Nature can be viewed as a place where men and boys may be powerful, adventurist, resilient, brave, and resourceful (Warren, 2015; Whittington, 2006). These masculine traits are perceived as essential for success in outdoor activities, leading PA in nature to be portrayed as a masculine domain, where mandominated activities, such as scouting, hunting, and hiking, are encouraged (Ardener, 1975; White et al., 2019; Whittington, 2006). As PA in nature has traditionally been seen as contradictory to feminine traits, women have historically been excluded from common nature and PA pursuits.

Women's experiences in nature are often affected by constraining social beliefs about what women can and cannot, or should and should not, do in the outdoors (Brussoni et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2001; Marzi et al., 2018; McAnirlin & Maddox, 2020). Women have traditionally been socialized to put the needs of others ahead of their own (Lee et al., 2001). In addition, the idea that many nature activities are not appropriate for women is yet another example of how women and girls may feel discouraged to develop nature skills (Ghimire et al., 2014; Henderson & Shaw, 2006; Lee et al., 2001). Gendered assumptions such as, a lack of navigational skill and the fear of being alone can affect adolescent girls' relationship with nature (Brussoni et al., 2020; Ghimire et al., 2014; Henderson & Shaw, 2006; Lee et al., 2001; Marzi et al., 2018; McAnirlin &

Maddox, 2020). Stereotypes aligning nature to the masculine identity, can affect girls' abilities to form a relationship between PA and nature by enforcing the idea that outside spaces are not for girls (Hively & El-Alayli, 2014; McNiel et al., 2012).

Over the past decade, it has been found that adolescents, more specifically older adolescent girls, have been spending less time outside (Larson et al., 2011; McNiel et al., 2012; Roth & Basow, 2004). This may be due to the fact that many girls feel as though when they participate in PA in nature they can face a complex dilemma of resisting oppressive stereotypes of femininity (Lugg, 2003). Additionally, if girls challenge assumptions about their abilities, appearance, and behaviours, they may disrupt the traditional idea of femininity (McNiel et al., 2012; Whittington, 2006; Wittmer, 2001). Recent research, however, has found that adolescent girls can connect with nature and associate being outside with health and wellbeing (Spencer et al., 2021; Woodgate & Skarlato, 2015). When girls are able to navigate these challenges, they are able to demonstrate their connection with nature and its association with health and wellbeing (Chillón et al., 2013; Dunton et al., 2010; Spencer et al., 2021; Woodgate & Skarlato, 2015). In addition, a study found that nature can also provide girls with a sense of emotional safety to negotiate the complex gender stereotypes they face (Spencer et al., 2021).

Girls, Nature, and PA. Despite gender norms and stereotypes, adolescent girls can and do connect nature and PA. For instance, adolescent girls can connect with nature and PA through active transportation. Active transportation can act as a connector between nature and PA while improving older adolescent girls' physical, mental, and social wellbeing (Chillón et al., 2013; Dunton et al., 2010). When older adolescent girls can incorporate natural environments into their routines, they are able to perform PA independently or with family and friends (Dunton et al., 2010; Janha et al., 2020; Kudlacek et al., 2020; Ries et al., 2008; Spencer et al., 2021; Thomas,

2015; A. L. Ward et al., 2018; Woodgate & Skarlato, 2015). When adolescent girls can socialize with family and friends while connecting with nature and PA, they may feel more encouraged to engage in PA and find emotional support, familiarity, reassurance, and comfort, which can lead to stress and anxiety reduction (Bojorquez & Ojeda-Revah, 2018; Cobar et al., 2017; Shan, 2014; Tannehill et al., 2015; Thomas, 2015).

The perceived safety of outside PA environments can also affect older adolescent girls' connection between nature and PA. In particular, girls' level of fear and perception of risk can significantly affect their relationship between PA and nature (Chaparro et al., 2019; Perez et al., 2017; Roman et al., 2013; Shores et al., 2007). When older adolescent girls have high levels of fear, they are less likely to engage in PA and outdoor recreation (Brussoni et al., 2020; Carver et al., 2012; Ding et al., 2012; Kilgour & Parker, 2013; Perez et al., 2017; Rišová & Sládeková Madajová, 2020; Roman et al., 2013). When girls feel unsafe in natural environments, they may become hyper-aware, leading them to avoid specific areas or refrain from pursuing independent activities, such as walking or hiking (Carver et al., 2012; Kilgour & Parker, 2013). In addition, the proximity of a natural environment or green space may also impact the connections older adolescent girls form between nature and PA. When a neighbourhood has parks or open spaces, older adolescent girls are more likely to participate in PA (Babey et al., 2015; Humbert et al., 2008; Mitra et al., 2020; Oliveira et al., 2020; Schultz et al., 2017).

Older adolescent girls' perceptions of the infrastructure and aesthetics of natural environments may impact their connection between nature and PA. Older adolescent girls were found to engage in more PA when the natural environment had multiple features, such as playgrounds, fields, tennis courts and trails, as this promoted PA opportunities (Cohen et al., 2017; Floyd et al., 2011; Kaczynski et al., 2011; Ries et al., 2008; Sarmiento et al., 2017; Van

Hecke et al., 2018). In addition, when a natural environment is aesthetically pleasing, older adolescent girls are more likely to visit these spaces, connect with their surroundings, and engage in PA (Oliveira et al., 2020; Roman et al., 2013). When parks and outside areas incorporate aspects of beauty, scenery, colour, and views, older adolescent girls may feel more enticed to visit these environments, resulting in more opportunities for PA (Oppliger et al., 2019; Ries et al., 2008; Shan, 2014; Spencer et al., 2021). When nature and PA incorporate positive aspects, such as familiarity and comfort, adolescent girls are able to form a relationship between nature and PA regardless of the traditional gender norms and stereotypes associated with PA and nature.

Critique of the Literature

As discussed, previous research has found that girls can have a complex relationship with both nature and PA, yet there has been limited research on the relationship older adolescent girls can form between nature and PA (B. Evans, 2006; Gray et al., 2015; White et al., 2019). This is a critical gap to fill as the stereotypes older adolescent girls face regarding nature and PA may contribute to their wellbeing. Although research has identified that adolescent girls are faced with stereotypes when it comes to PA and nature, it is important to identify how older adolescent girls experience these stereotypes and how they affect the perceived relationship between nature and PA.

Similarly, the existing literature is overwhelmingly focused on young girls (Colley et al., 2017; Dumith et al., 2011; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; ParticipACTION, 2020; Prioreschi & Micklesfield, 2016). For example, a scoping review by Spencer et al. (2015), explored gender and PA in girls and young women, and found that most reviewed documents focused on early-to-middle adolescents, with only one article focusing exclusively on older adolescent girls. This literature gap is necessary to fill as older adolescent girls become more sedentary and less active

(Colley et al., 2017; Guthold et al., 2020; ParticipACTION, 2020; Thompson & Wadsworth, 2012).

In addition, though studies have suggested that youths' connection with nature has declined over the past decade (Gray et al., 2015; Larson et al., 2011; Louv, 2009), present literature has not explored stereotypes associated with nature, such as nature being maledominated environment, where traits such as resourcefulness and powerfulness are considered essential (Hively & El-Alayli, 2014; McNiel et al., 2012; White et al., 2019; Whittington, 2006; Woodgate & Skarlato, 2015). These stereotypes may impede girls from connecting with nature, leading to adolescent girls spending less time in nature. Stereotypes regarding nature and PA often contradict femininity, as these activities require masculine traits such as strength, aggressiveness, resiliency, and bravery (B. Evans, 2006; Gentile et al., 2018; Whittington, 2006).

Due to social norms regarding femininity, girls may restrict their participation in outdoor pursuits such as hiking, camping, and hunting, in order to avoid negative evaluation from peers (Alley & Hicks, 2005; Gentile et al., 2018; McNiel et al., 2012; Pinch et al., 2008; E. A. Richardson & Mitchell, 2010). Not only is there inadequate literature concerning PA in older adolescent girls, but there is also limited research on how girls connect with nature, specifically through PA (B. Evans, 2006; Gray et al., 2015). PA in nature has the potential to bring positive mental and physical health benefits to all people, but women may be missing out on these benefits due to constraining social beliefs and gendered assumptions about what women can and cannot do in the outdoors (McAnirlin & Maddox, 2020). This is a critical gap to fill as the stereotypes and gender norms associated with nature may be contributing to the contradictory relationship that women often have with PA in nature.

Although there are several studies that focused on how PA performed in nature can improve mental and physical health (Gladwell et al., 2013; Herrington & Brussoni, 2015; Mayer et al., 2009; Mitchell, 2013; Nisbet & Zelenski, 2011; ParticipACTION, 2020; Thompson Coon et al., 2011; White et al., 2019), there is not one specific study that considers the direct benefits older adolescent girls may receive from connecting with nature and PA. Stereotypes concerning PA and nature intersect, overlap, and blend together as both PA and nature have historically been identified as male-dominated. Further investigation of the complexities and contradictions older adolescent girls encounter while connecting with PA in nature is required to fully understand their unique experiences.

Chapter Two Summary

This chapter situated the proposed study within the literature, suggesting adolescent girls may have a complex relationship between nature and PA due to gender norms and stereotypes. Historically, western society expected girls to maintain a beautiful and delicate body, and remain passive. These stereotypes contradict traditional traits that are perceived as essential for success in outdoor PA. Nature can be viewed as a place where male-dominated activities occur, which may involve being powerful, adventurist, resilient, brave, and resourceful. It is evident that adolescent girls have to navigate challenges regarding PA and nature, yet there is a gap in the literature about to the perceived connection adolescent girls can form between PA and nature. Previous literature has lacked a focus on older adolescent girls and their relationship between nature and PA. This studies aim is to fill these gaps by using qualitative description to understand older adolescent girls' perceptions of the relationship between nature and PA.

Chapter Three: Methodology

This chapter outlines the methodology and methods used for this study. To begin, the purpose and research questions will be restated, followed by a description of the conceptual framework that was used to inform the study. The conceptual framework included a constructivist paradigm and used qualitative description with a feminist lens as the strategy of inquiry. Characteristics of the participants and setting will then be described, as well as recruitment techniques. The processes for data collection, semi-structured interviews, and thematic analysis are explained. Predetermined measures to facilitate quality and rigour will be outlined. This section will also include the researcher's role in the study and ethical considerations.

Study Purpose, Question, and Objectives

The purpose of this study was to answer the research question "What are older adolescent girls' perceptions of the relationship between nature and PA?" The study objectives are: (1) To understand how older adolescent girls perceive their connection with nature; (2) To explore how older adolescent girls' connection with nature relates to PA; (3) To understand how older adolescent girls experience gender-, nature-, and PA-related stereotypes.

Paradigm: Constructivism

A constructivist paradigm guided this study. A constructivist paradigm seeks to understand the lived experiences from the viewpoint of those who have lived through the experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Guba & Lincoln, 1994). The perceptions and realities of peoples' lived experiences are used to describe socially constructed knowledge and answer the research question and address the three objectives (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Constructivism acknowledges that our understanding of lived experiences is complex,

resulting in people's perceptions of the same event to vary (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Individual perceptions and interpretations of reality are subjective, resulting in multiple truths about one experience (Creswell, 2013; Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Rubin & Rubin, 2021). Constructivism also emphasizes that knowledge is socially constructed, meaning that the researcher and participants will have different interpretations and understandings due to their experiences and personal, cultural, or historical values (Appleton & King, 1997; Creswell, 2013; Guba & Lincoln, 1994; Rubin & Rubin, 2021; Schwandt, 2000; Weaver & Olson, 2006).

The current study utilized a constructivist lens to understand older adolescent girls' connections with nature and PA. Constructivism was the best paradigm for this research because it allowed the focus to be on the perspective of each participant (Creswell, 2013; Doucet et al., 2010). This paradigm acknowledges participant perceptions, experiences, and realities, allowing individuals' concerns to be vocalized and acknowledged (J. Green & Thorogood, 2013; Guba & Lincoln, 1994; Weaver & Olson, 2006). A constructivist approach can provide a deep understanding of the meaning older adolescent girls have on their experiences with nature and PA (Doucet et al., 2010). As girls have unique experiences with nature and PA, it is important to understand their shared and subjective meanings (Guba & Lincoln, 1994; Lucibello et al., 2021; Weaver & Olson, 2006). A constructivist inquiry allowed this study to explore girls' views and the meanings attached to their experiences, while also considering how factors in participants' lives may shape their experiences and reality (J. Green & Thorogood, 2013).

Constructivism was used in this study to explore adolescent girls' perceptions about the relationship between nature and PA. As constructivism recognizes the value in individual perspectives, multiple perspectives were revealed during the interviews (Burr, 2015; Doucet et al., 2010; Ponterotto, 2005). In addition, using a constructivist paradigm allowed the impact of

societal norms to be explored and discussed (Jung, 2019). As, this study aimed to explore adolescent girls' relationships between nature and PA, it was important to obtain their perspectives to understand their unique experiences fully. The constructivism framework is a useful foundation as it has an interpretive structure that has been used in previous studies with adolescent girls and with similar data collection methods (Dowd et al., 2015; Hill, 2014; Laird et al., 2018; Lucibello et al., 2021; Vani et al., 2021).

Strategy of Inquiry: Qualitative Description

Qualitative description (QD) was chosen as the methodology for this study as it allows for a rich straightforward description of an experience or event. QD transforms experiences into words by allowing unstructured life experiences to take on meaning and provides insights and understandings about lived events within the context in which they are experienced (Thompson Burdine et al., 2021; Thorne, 2000, 2016; Thorne et al., 1997, 2004). QD allows the researcher to stay close to the data in the analysis and dissemination processes (Thompson Burdine et al., 2021). While the use of QD as a qualitative research approach may be criticized for being too simple, lacking rigour, and being less interpretive than other approaches, when used in the proper context, it can be just as credible as other qualitative approaches (Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). QD is an applicable inquiry across health professions when a study aims to explore the subjective experience of participants to increase knowledge (Thompson Burdine et al., 2021). QD utilizes minimal interpretation, yet is not completely free of interpretation due to the presence of the researcher's perspective when describing the topic of events (Neergaard et al., 2009; Nusbaum et al., 2008; Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). This approach accepts multiple interpretations of reality through subjective interpretation supported by participants' descriptions of their experiences (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Thorne et al., 2004).

QD was chosen as the methodology for this project because little research has been conducted on older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA. The exploratory nature of this project fits well with a QD approach as it recognizes multiple interpretations of reality and that multiple perspectives can be described through subjective interpretation supported by participants' descriptions of their experiences (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Thorne et al., 2004). As QD involves little interpretation, I was able to stay closer to each participant's experiences with nature and PA, allowing for multiple truths to be revealed about each lived experience (Neergaard et al., 2009; Sandelowski, 2000). An important aspect of QD is that the information represents the perspective of the participant to ensure that the voices of those affected are heard (Sandelowski, 2000).

QD may also encompass overtones of other qualitative methodologies (Neergaard et al., 2009; Sandelowski, 2000). I therefore conducted my study using QD with overtones of feminist theory. Feminist theory utilizes research principles that aim to help decrease biases that result from sexism and other forms of oppression (Brisolara et al., 2014; Intemann, 2012). This is done by allowing different perspectives of empowerment to challenge the knowledge of those who occupy privileged positions (Hesse-Biber, 2006). Feminist theory provides opportunity to eliminate boundaries of dominant forms of knowledge and believes that what is true for dominant groups must also be true for women and other oppressed groups (Hesse-Biber, 2006). By challenging dominant discourses of knowledge, women are able to embrace the creativity and build knowledge within the tensions of differences (Brisolara et al., 2014; Hesse-Biber, 2006).

As this research values women and acknowledges that women are the experts of their own lives, a feminist perspective was necessary (Brisolara et al., 2014; DeVault & Gross, 2012; Kushner & Morrow, 2003; Reinharz, 1992). Feminist research places emphasis on the

experiences of women, centring and highlighting women's diverse and varied circumstances and the social and cultural norms and institutions that influence their lives (Currie & Wiesenberg, 2003; Kinser & Lewis, 2005). By placing emphasis on the experiences of each participant I was able to explore and understand the ways in which gender and power shape each participants perspective (Dankoski, 2000; Hesse-Biber, 2006; Hesse-Biber, 2013; Hesse-Biber & Leavy, 2007; Weedon, 1987, 1997). By utilizing a feminist lens during interviews participants were able to disrupts traditional ways of knowing by create their own new meanings of their experiences (Hesse-Biber, 2006; Intemann, 2012). Additionally, applying a feminist lens allowed me to ask questions that placed girls and their experiences at the center inquiry (DeVault & Gross, 2012; Hesse-Biber, 2006). A key component of feminist research is the researchers ability to pay attention to reflexivity (Hesse-Biber, 2006). As reflexivity is a key component of feminist research I recognized that my interpretation of participants words may be influenced by my own experiences and assumptions. This interpretation may have affected both the interviews and the analysis. More details regarding reflectivity can be found in chapter one under the heading Research Reflectivity.

Feminist QD allowed me to gain access to the meanings that adolescent girls attribute to their connection between nature and PA (Caelli et al., 2003; Merriam, 1998; Sandelowski, 2000). A Feminist QD inquiry allowed me to gather information directly from the adolescent girls while employing a subjective outlook and recognizing that perceptions of the relationship between nature and PA may vary (Parahoo, 2014). By using a naturalistic approach, I was able to identify the descriptions each participant gave to their experiences and how these can be influenced by both their perceptions as well as my own (Parahoo, 2014; Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). As explained in the below data collection procedures, I conducted one-on-one semi-structured

interviews with older adolescent girls. QD is well-aligned with interviews as the interviews processes allowed participants to explain their experiences and allowed for multiple perspectives to be recognized and described (Neergaard et al., 2009; Sandelowski, 2000).

Participants

Inclusion and exclusion criteria were based on participants' age and gender identity. The study population includes older adolescent girls living in Nova Scotia, Canada. Older adolescent girls were the focus of this research due to the lack of research pertaining to this population (Spencer et al., 2015) and their relationship with nature and PA (B. Evans, 2006; Gray et al., 2015; Spencer et al., 2021; White et al., 2019). To be included in this study, participants had to be between the ages of 16 and 19, as this is how the World Health Organization (WHO) defines older adolescents (World Health Organization, 2020). In addition, biological sex was not used in this study, instead anyone who identified as a girl or young woman of the required age range was eligible to participate. To ensure the inclusion of girls living in Nova Scotia, potential participants had to currently reside in the province of Nova Scotia for at least one year and speak English to be eligible to participate in this study.

This study included ten participants, which is consistent with recent research investigating adolescent girls' relationships with PA (Clark et al., 2011; Vani et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2015) and within the range of sample sizes of relevant studies that used QD (Dickson, 2008; Kayes et al., 2011; Nyvang et al., 2016; Vani et al., 2021; Wiens et al., 2014). Qualitative research tends to use a small sample size to allow the researcher to connect with participants (LoBiondo-Wood & Haber, 2014; Sandelowski, 1986). The goal of this sample size was to collect rich descriptions of the experiences and perceptions of older adolescent girls' relationships with nature and PA until sufficient data containing rich information allowed

patterns to develop (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Morse, 2000; Proctor & Allan, 2006).

Sampling. Eligible participants for the interviews were recruited through purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling is an appropriate method to use in qualitative research to obtain rich descriptions (Palinkas et al., 2015; Sandelowski, 2000) and allows the researcher to recruit people who are knowledgeable or experienced with the topic of interest (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Creswell & Poth, 2018). Purposeful sampling was used in this study to recruit participants with experience regarding the relationships between nature and PA (Palinkas et al., 2015; Sandelowski, 2000). Similar work in the PA field has used purposeful sampling to gain insight on a specific topic (Humbert et al., 2008; Spencer et al., 2021). By implementing purposeful sampling, participants were eligible to participate if they identified as a girl between the ages of 16-19 with experiences, connections, or relationships with nature and PA. Recruiting a sample with previous experiences within the context of interest ensured that each participant could provide rich information on their relationship between nature and PA (Patton, 2014; Sandelowski, 2000).

Recruitment. Recruitment occurred electronically through virtual posters to reach a wide audience. The poster included a summary of the study, its purpose, the inclusion criteria, and was emailed strategically by the researcher to relevant organizations and societies (see Appendix A for poster). In order to recruit a diverse population, community gatekeepers, such as people in leadership positions or cultural insiders who share the same background as the target population were approached (Birman, 2006; B. P. Dennis & Neese, 2000; Eide & Allen, 2005; Knobf et al., 2007; Neufeld et al., 2001; Ogilvie et al., 2008; Russell et al., 2008; Yancey et al., 2006). For example, virtual posters were emailed to organizations and societies that may be in frequent contact or connection with diverse groups, such as the International Centre, the Indigenous

Student Centre, and the Black Student Advisory Centre at Dalhousie University (Appendix B). In addition, content focused recruitment was used to recruit participants that have experiences with the study topic, such as the Adventure Earth Centre, an organization within Halifax, Halifax Outdoor Recreation, Nova Scotia Girl Guides, Nova Scotia Outdoor Network, and Hike Nova Scotia. The poster was also posted on Facebook groups such as, Women Who Explore Nova Scotia and Nova Scotia Hiking and Adventures Group.

The poster contained my contact information, so those interested in participating in the study had the means to contact me. All potential participants reached out via email expressing their interest and were sent the study consent forms, which contained a description of the study and the study's inclusion criteria. Participants were asked to review the documents to ensure they met the study's inclusion criteria. If they felt they met the inclusion criteria, they were then asked if they would like to participate in a one-on-one or group interview, and arrangements were made.

Location. This project's setting was remote due to the global pandemic and the location of each participant. Ten interviews took place over Microsoft Teams. Microsoft Teams interviews were recorded using a handheld audio recorder and GarageBand, an iOS audio recording software application from my computer.

Data Collection

Data collection involved one-on-one semi-structured, online interviews. Participants had the option to participate in a group interview if they wished, however no participants requested group interviews. The purpose of a qualitative interview is to explore views, experiences, or beliefs about the study topic (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Gill et al., 2008). Qualitative interviews can take form in three different ways including structured, semi-structured, and

unstructured (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Gill et al., 2008). Semi-structured interviews can occur individually or in groups and are the most widely used form for qualitative interviews (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Gill et al., 2008). Semi-structured interviews are organized using a set of pre-set questions that were open-ended, with other questions forming from the dialogue between interviewer and interviewee (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Gill et al., 2008). Individual interviewer and interviewer to dive deep into personal experiences, while group interviews focus on a broader range of experiences but produce fewer profound experiences due to the public setting (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Gill et al., 2008). Interviews align with a feminist QD approach, as their opened-ended nature allows for multiple perspectives, experiences, and knowledge to be recognized (Neergaard et al., 2009; Sandelowski, 2000). In addition, interviews can generate a depth of understanding of the participants' point of view, provide flexibility in the interviewing, and foster a relationship with the participants (Rubin & Rubin, 2021).

Interview guides contained open-ended questions and follow-up or probing questions. The interview guide (Appendix C) was developed in collaboration with my research supervisor. The open-ended questions allowed me to explore the research topic with more depth than breadth, whereas the probes were used to help maintain the specific focus of the research and clarify unclear exchanges (Rubin & Rubin, 2021). An example question is: "How does identifying as a girl or woman impact how you experience nature and PA?"

The interviews followed a conversational format to build trust, develop a bond, and help equalize the power dynamics within the interviewer-interviewee relationship (Hesse-Biber & Leavy, 2007). At the start of each interview, I introduced myself to each participant and provided some background information on myself. To start, I explained my academic background, how I

was a Masters student at Dalhousie in the Health Promotion field and that I was conducting this research for my thesis. Additionally, I provided a background on why I decided to research this topic and highlighted my personal interest in nature and PA. It was my hope that expressing my interests with nature and PA, participants would feel more opened to express their own feelings. At the start of each interview, I read the verbal consent form to each participant. In the verbal consent form, participants were asked if they consented to their interviewing being audio-recorded. All participants consented to their interview being audio-recorded.

In addition to the one-on-one or group interviews, participants were asked to complete an electronic survey on Microsoft Forms (See Appendix D). The reason for the additional survey was to collect demographic information on each participant to describe the participants as a group for transferability. The demographic survey was not used to connect individuals to their responses in the interview. A link for the demographic survey was emailed to all participants who completed the study.

Analytic Approach

Data Management. All interviews were audio recorded as it provided a detailed record of what was said during the interview (Gill et al., 2008). Audio recordings were made with handheld audio-recorder and GarageBand, version 10.4.5 to ensure high-quality audio recordings, as this can prevent difficulties later in the research process (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006). Shortly after each interview, I transcribed the audio recordings. While I was transcribing each interview, I removed all personally identifying information. For example, participants' names were replaced with pseudonyms, and places or organizations were replaced with square brackets with a description such as [park] or [organization].

In addition, audio recordings were stored on a password protected file on my computer

and later deleted following transcription. After transcripts were de-identified, they were uploaded to OneDrive and shared as a password protect file to my supervisor. Transcripts were also downloaded to NVivo 12 to allow for coding. This project was labelled PA&NATURE on NVivo and requires a password to access. The demographic survey was sent out via forms on Microsoft 365. As submissions were only used to describe the participants as a group, they were submitted anonymous and only accessible through my Microsoft 365 account.

Data Analysis. This study utilized thematic analysis (TA) for its data analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021b). TA is a relevant qualitative research method which involves searching for patterns and themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021a, 2021c; Sandelowski, 2000). TA does not require a detailed theoretical approach and can offer an accessible form of analysis, especially when researching a phenomenon that little is known about (Braun & Clarke, 2006). TA can be used to provide a rich description of participants' experiences and perspectives while accounting for multiple realities (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This study specifically utilized reflexive TA. A key component of reflexive TA is that the researcher's position and subjectivity is necessary, unavoidable, and an integral ingredient of the process and should not be removed or avoided (Braun & Clarke, 2021a, 2021b, 2021c). Reflexivity involves exploring and examining how the researchers own experiences, pre-existing knowledge, and social position influence and contribute to the research process (Braun & Clarke, 2021b, 2021c). The flexibility of reflexive TA as a method, rather than a fully-embedded methodology, means it can be undertaken with different guiding theories, such as the constructionist approach utilized in this study (Braun & Clarke, 2021b, 2021c). A constructionist approach seeks to examine the social construction of meaning of realities articulated by the participants, as reality is a manifestation of individuals' sense-making, there is no one true reality (Braun & Clarke, 2021b, 2021c).

Reflexive TA was selected for its flexibility, as this technique allowed me to approach the data with a feminist lens, but also to explore the unique perspectives of our participants. Reflexive TA with a feminist lens allowed me to provide a rich description of the older adolescent girls' experiences and perceptions with nature and PA, while also allowing each participant to express their own realities (Braun & Clarke, 2021a; Sandelowski, 2000). As little is known within the literature on this specific topic, reflexive TA with a feminist lens aligned well with the research questions, as it can be a useful method when studies are investigating an under-researched area and marginalized populations (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021c). In particular, reflexive TA with a feminist lens allowed me to code the data with an awareness of gender-based oppression and how girls and women's ways of being and identities have been marginalized in society. Within reflexive TA, the coding process is critical to theme development, in the sense that themes are outcome of coding, themes are developed through coding, and both codes and themes do not emerge from the data (Braun & Clarke, 2019, 2021b, 2021c). Themes also do not explain themselves once developed; instead it is the researcher who needs to interpret, elaborate, and explain the relevance of the themes (Braun & Clarke, 2019, 2021b, 2021c).

During the analysis, I utilized an inductive approach when coding each interview. Inductive analysis is a process of coding the data without trying to fit the data into a pre-existing coding frame and instead themes identified are strongly linked to the data themselves (DeVault et al, 2012). As women's perspectives have often been silenced or ignored an inductive approach with a feminist lens allowed me to develop themes directly from participants language. Additionally, as it is important to build rapport when conducting feminist research, mutual sharing was utilized in order to provide trust between interviewer and interviewee (Thwaites,

2017). Building rapport with each participant allowed me to used participants own words when generating codes and developing themes (Jenkinson et al., 2017; McDougall & McGeorge, 2014). As reflexivity is a hallmark of feminist research, it was important for me to reflect on my own positionings, and express my reflexivity to each participant (Harding, 2007; Jankowski et al., 2017). As TA is an iterative process where the phases are not totally distinct, I was able to maintain a flexible and organic approach.

This research followed the guide to reflexive TA developed by Braun and Clarke (2006, 2021b). Reflexive TA is a non-linear process that involves 6 stages: (1) familiarizing yourself with the data; (2) systematically coding data; (3) generating initial themes from coded and collected data; (4) reviewing each initial theme; (5) defining each theme; and (6) producing the report. These six phases were used as a guideline in this study. First, I became familiar with the data through conducting transcription and then reading and re-reading the interviews (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021b). Once I was familiar with the data, I began initial coding which involved systematic data coding (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021b). To organize and code the data, open coding was conducted through reading and re-reading, which allowed the identification of codes throughout the data (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Examples of codes were: connecting with nature through PA; nature as opportunity to connect with friends, family, and self; PA- nature as an escape; and accessibility to nature. After coding the data, analysis at the broader level was conducted to generate and develop themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021c). In this step, I looked for relationships between different codes to understand how they could combine to form themes that represent the data as a whole. Recurring and significant codes were grouped and collapsed together to generate themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Nusbaum et al., 2008). For example, I decided to merge the following codes into one theme: "community resources", "accessibility to

nature", and "neighborhood resources", and created the theme titled: "girls environment effects their relationship with nature and PA". Each of these codes described different factors that influenced adolescent girls experiences with nature and PA (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

In the fourth phase, I reviewed themes to identify whether each theme provided an accurate representation of the data, if there was enough data to support each theme, or if they should be broken down further or removed (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021b). Next, I defined and named each theme so that they are easily understood and accurately represented the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021c). As this research employed QD with a feminist lens, the themes were developed from the adolescent girls' stories and illustrate their perception of their relationship between nature and PA; however some level of interpretation was required to understand the participants' perspectives. Additionally, my level of training, experience, and subjectivity may have also influenced my interpretation of codes and themes (Braun & Clarke, 2021a). Coding, theming, and naming was an ongoing process and was overviewed by my supervisor who offered additional insight, provided support to deepen my analysis, and enhance reflexivity (Braun & Clarke, 2021a).

Quality and Rigour

Qualitative research must be evaluated differently than quantitative research in terms of quality and rigour (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Creswell, 2013). To satisfy quality and rigor, qualitative research should demonstrate credibility, confirmability, dependability, authenticity, and transferability, which all demonstrate trustworthiness (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018; Graneheim & Lundman, 2004; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Miles & Huberman, 1994). To achieve trustworthiness this study strived to establish the principals of credibility, confirmability, dependability, and transferability.

Credibility. Credibility refers to how accurately the research addresses the intended research question and objectives (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021). Credibility can be partly achieved during an interview by ensuring participants are well-informed. To achieve credibility, I expressed compassion and empathy during each interview and repeated specific points back to participants. I repeated certain points back to participants as I wanted to ensure I accurately understood and interpreted the meaning of their word (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Confirmability. Confirmability is the degree to which findings are consistent and are based on the participants' responses (Guba & Lincoln, 1982; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Tobin & Begley, 2004). To achieve confirmability, participants demographics were described and direct quotes from the participants were used in my findings section (Bradshaw et al., 2017).

Dependability. Dependability refers to the extent that other researchers could repeat the study. This involves identifying and explaining changes in the research design, if there were any influences on the data collection and analysis, and how themes developed (Guba & Lincoln, 1982; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Tobin & Begley, 2004). To ensure dependability, I recorded the reasoning for sample size and the methods for recruitment, data collection, and analysis (Bradshaw et al., 2017). In addition, I was transparent about any changes to the study and remained consistent throughout the study process (Bradshaw et al., 2017).

Transferability. Transferability refers to the extent to which a reader might use the information gained from a research study for their own practice and/or research (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; S. Morrow, 2005). In the case of this research, transferability was established by providing a rich and detailed description of participants' experiences and perceptions, allowing for the transferability of results to a similar context or setting (Bradshaw et al., 2017; S. Morrow,

2005). By upholding transferability, the findings from this study can be understood in different contexts and be transferred to other studies in similar fields (Bradshaw et al., 2017; S. Morrow, 2005).

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was established through Dalhousie University Research Ethics Board and abided by the TCPS guidelines. I have completed the TCPS training and have obtained my certificate. First, as the researcher, I was responsible for respecting the participant's rights and needs. Participants were provided information regarding the study's purpose, the potential associated risks, and were advised on how the results could benefit them and others prior to providing consent. There was no deception involved in this study.

Participants were first sent the consent form (Appendix E) via email to ensure they were eligible to participate and for their review before the interview. Once participants had the opportunity to review the consent form and were deemed eligible to participate a date and time for their interview was established via email. At the beginning of each interview the verbal consent form (Appendix F) was read, and verbal consent was obtained from all participants. The informed and verbal consent forms were based on the templates and requirements from the REB website (Appendix E & F). All participants were given the opportunity to ask any questions through email or face-to-face on the day of the interview.

Confidentiality was a consideration for this study as qualitative analysis attempts to gather rich data, which heightens the risk of participant identification. Confidentiality was attempted on every aspect of the study from the researcher's end, and participants were notified of this potential risk before agreeing to participate. To mitigate the risk of identities being uncovered, I first labelled all audio recordings with participants' initials instead of their names.

Once transcription occurred, audio recordings were deleted, and transcripts were again labelled with participants' initials and stored on OneDrive with a password-protected file. All identifying information was removed during transcription, and participants were given pseudonyms. Participants' pseudonyms were used during the data analysis and dissemination of results.

Depending on the participant's background, topics such as gender issues could evoke strong emotions or raise traumatic experiences, leading to unintended harm. Additionally, sensitive topics such as, stereotypes and gender norms can evoke strong emotions. For these reasons, a list of formal and non-formal wellbeing resources were emailed to participants along with the consent forms and were made available at every interview (Appendix G). Participants were also reminded that they could refrain from answering any questions, stop participating at any time, and take breaks if/when they wish.

Chapter Three Summary

This study used a constructivism paradigm and a QD approach with a feminist lens as its philosophical underpinning. This methodology was used to explore how older adolescent girls perceive the connection between nature and PA. To understand the relationship that adolescent girls perceive between nature and PA, older adolescent girls were recruited through electronic posters. Ten older adolescent girls participated in one-on-one semi structured online interviews. Data was analyzed using reflexive TA, and trustworthiness was established throughout the analysis.

Chapter 4: Findings

This study utilized a constructivism paradigm with a feminist qualitative descriptive (QD) design as its methodology. To guide the analysis, reflexive thematic analysis (TA) with a feminist lenes was used for theme development (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2021a, 2021b). Reflexive TA with a feminist lens allowed me to gain access to the meanings that adolescent girls attribute to their connection between nature PA. Additionally, it allowed me to code these meanings with an awareness of gender-based oppression and how girls and women have been marginalized in society. To start, a description of participants and their characteristics is provided. Four themes are identified as the product of my reflexive thematic analysis: girls' environments can influence their relationship between PA & nature, connecting nature and PA promotes wellbeing for girls, adolescent girls' feel a sense of belonging through connecting nature and PA, and stereotypes' effect on adolescent girls' connection with nature and PA. Each theme is organized into subheadings to present the participants' experiences logically. Subheadings were utilized over subthemes as there was not enough evidence to develop sub-themes.

Participants and Context

Ten adolescent girls took part in semi-structured interviews. During the interviews, participants provided demographic information, which included age and location of living. The ages of participants varied between 16 and 19 (M=17.6; SD=0.84). Participants described where they lived, using the terms rural or urban. Six participants identified being from a rural area, and four identified as being from a city, but exact locations were not fully discussed.

An additional survey was administered electronically using Microsoft Forms to collect demographic information. Eight out of the ten participants completed the additional survey.

Through the survey, participants confirmed their age, and described the ethno-racial-cultural group(s) with whom they identify, their gender, and whether they identified as a person with a disability. A summary of participants' characteristics is summarized in table 1. Pseudonyms were assigned to each participant to present the quotes throughout this chapter. Quotes are presented verbatim, with minor edits for readability indicated by brackets.

Age		Ethno-racial-cultural Group(s)		Gender		Identify as a Person with a Disability	
	#		#		#		#
Sixteen	1	Canadian	3	Woman	8	No	8
Seventeen	4	Nova Scotian- Canadian	1				
Eighteen	3	Caucasian- Canadian	1				
Nineteen 2		Caucasian- Polish	1				
		Chinese- Canadian	1				
		Syrian	1				

Table 1: Participant Characteristics

This chapter presents four themes that were developed to organize and explore participants' experiences. All themes were further divided into subheadings for the purposes of clarity and organization. For a visual representation of the organization of the findings, which included themes and subheadings, please refer to Table 2.

Table 2: Table demonstrating findings by themes and subheadings.

Findings						
	Theme	Subheadings				
1		Resources and location essential to how girls connect nature				
	Girls' Environments can	and PA				
	Influence their	Opportunities available to girls' influence their relationship				
	Relationship Between	between nature and PA				
	Nature and PA	Fear influences adolescent girls' relationship between nature				
		and PA				
2		Connecting nature and PA enhances girls' social opportunities				
		and promotes social wellbeing				
	Connecting Nature and	Connecting nature and PA promotes emotional wellbeing for				
	PA Promotes Wellbeing	girls				
	for Girls	Connecting nature and PA promotes mental wellbeing for				

		girls
		Connecting nature and PA promotes physical wellbeing for
		girls
3	Connecting Nature and	Adolescent girls feel a sense of connectedness while in nature
	PA Provides Adolescent	Adolescent girls' value the connection between nature and PA
	Girls' with a Sense of	How adolescent girls choose to connect nature and PA
	Connection	
4	Exposure to Stereotypes'	Stereotypes and their influence on girls connecting with
	Influences Adolescent	nature and PA
	Girls' Connection with	The negative portrayal of adolescent girls in nature and PA
	PA & Nature	Sources that reinforce stereotypes on girls

Theme 1: Girls' Environments Can Influence Their Relationship Between Nature and PA

The participants in this study believed their environments affected their ability to form a relationship between nature and PA. Older adolescent girls described how factors in their environment, such as where they lived, and the resources available to them, contributed to their relationship between nature and PA. Girls also emphasized the importance of safety, as fears of being alone and wildlife negatively influenced girls' ability to connect nature and PA. This theme is divided into the following subheadings: resources and location are essential to how girls connect nature and PA, personal factors in girls' lives influence their relationship between nature and PA.

Resources and Location are Essential to How Girls Connect Nature and PA

All participants highlighted that their relationship between nature and PA can be affected by the resources they have available to them. Participants identified that they had a positive perspective of nature and PA when they had access to community resources, such as walking trails, ski hills, beaches, and parks. For example, Kelsey stated, *"I like to go on runs, so I find if there is a nice trail, that I know of, there's a few around my home, I like to go on runs through the woods and such."* Tori, who also emphasized community resources, felt as though having access to nature trails motivated her to connect with nature and PA. Tori stated, *"I like to go on* walks to the nature trail where I live, to go with my friends and walk along that trail." Haylee also highlighted the positive influence of living close to walking trails, "I have a few different ones [walking trials] like in walking distance from my house, so I am able to get on those. They aren't terribly long, but you know, they will keep you busy for like an hour or so." Participants recognized the significance community resources play in their ability to form a relationship between nature and PA.

Location of participants' homes, such as living in a rural or urban community, was also identified as an influence on adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA. Adolescent girls who identified as living in a rural area discussed how they had access to hiking trails, nature trails, beaches, and wildlife. For instance, Brigid said, "I like to just go down to the beach, cause like I said I live near a lot of beaches, so I like to just go down to the beach ... That is one of the main reasons I do it, since it's such an accessible thing to me." Further, Haylee, who stated that she attends University in an urban area, but was raised in a rural community, believed she had more opportunities to engage with nature while living rurally. Haylee shared: "Coming from like a rural community, we do have a lot of outdoor trails, outdoor hikes, like that kind of thing, so like that was nice to have access to that, whereas I didn't so much, like when I was in the city for school." Tori, who has lived in both rural and urban communities shared: "I use to live on a lake... I spent most of my time outside exploring, especially in the summer, but when I moved to town, I find I spend less time outside and more time inside doing inside activities." According to these participants, where they lived influenced and affected their relationship between nature and PA.

Opportunities Available to Girls' Influence Their Relationship Between Nature and PA

This study found that adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA can be

affected by the opportunities available to them. All of the participants mentioned opportunities and responsibilities they had that influenced their relationship between nature and PA, such as extracurricular activities, jobs, and school. For instance, three of the participants highlighted how they had the opportunity to go camping and backpacking, as it was an extracurricular activity that was available to them through their family. For example, Brigid shared: "*My family is very much a camping family, like backcountry camping family. They all love to go camping, and love to be outside, and just be outdoors doing stuff all the time.*" Kelsey also highlighted the extracurricular activities available to her, "*My family is big hikers and campers, so we go on hikes every weekend, and we don't camp as much as we used too, but up until the age of 14 maybe, we'd go on camping trips all summer, outdoors.*" While the participants recognized their opportunities, they also noted that not everyone has the same opportunities, which can make it challenging to connect with nature and PA.

Similarly, a few participants spoke about the importance of their part-time job and academics leading to decreased opportunities for nature and PA. For example, Brigid felt she did not have enough time to connect nature and PA, as school and work took priority. Brigid shared the following:

I was never like the kind of child that was in a lot of group sports and was not like involved in a lot of stuff. I'm a very academic person, I enjoy science and reading and being alone, so I think, like in my life I've been subjected to a lot of just trying to fit into the kind of person that I believe that my parents would like, which to me was academics. So, I mainly focused on being good at my academics instead of sports or outdoor activities. So, I surrounded myself with stuff that shows me that's what girls should be like anyway. That girls need to use their brains not their bodies to get what they want,

that kind of thing. So, it's hard to want to actually participate in sports and nature when you're trying to focus on this whole other thing.

Participants recognized that some activities, such as school and having a job, affected their ability to form a relationship between nature and PA. Julia highlighted how she is expected to put school first, *"I'm definitely like expected to focus on school, like more than physical activity."* Some participants also stated that as their lives get busier, they tend to prioritize nature less. For example, Olivia said, *"This year while I was at University I was really busy with academics, I think we walked the [walking trail] like maybe twice, but there wasn't a lot of, we didn't do a lot of outdoor like activities."* From these participants' perspectives the busier they were with extracurricular activities and their academics the less time they had to prioritize nature and PA.

Fear Influences Adolescent Girls' Relationship Between Nature and PA

All participants suggested that the safety of their environment had a large influence on their relationship between nature and PA. Participants suggested that being a girl makes it harder to enjoy being active in nature due to personal safety. The majority of participants highlighted how going for walks/runs on trails or in the woods puts them in a situation where no one could see them if they encountered danger. For example, Julia stated: *"Um, there are some trails, but they are very like hidden into the woods, so as a girl I would feel very scared to go in those places where no one could see where I am and like if anything were to happen to me it's very hidden."* Robyn, who also emphasized safety, felt as though safety was always on her mind while in nature. Robyn mentioned the following:

I find nature wise, like some girls are afraid to walk alone, or if they just wanted to go for a walk like on a path in the woods, like they would never want to go alone just cause

they're a girl type of thing... it definitely crosses my mind just as a female. Especially if you want to go for like a walk or run at nighttime, I'm like, I think of my safety.

Adolescent girls' personal safety can result in avoidance of nature which can influence their connect with nature and PA. For example, Haylee said *"I think there were some ways that fear lead to avoidance, going out in the woods by yourself, like that was just a big no, you never thought to do that, you thought no I am going to stay in sight, like that kind of thing. I would have never kind of ventured off by myself."* These quotes highlight how their perceived safety can influence the relationship between nature and PA. It is important to note that participants highlighted that their fear of being attacked was due to them identifying as a girl. Participants suggested that being a girl made them feel more vulnerable being alone outdoors, especially at night.

Girls also focused on wildlife, such as animals and bugs, as a barrier to connecting nature and PA. Almost every participant highlighted avoiding nature due to wildlife. Participants suggested that wildlife, such as bears, ticks, and blackflies, had a negative impact on their willingness to go outside. For example, Brigid stated: *"I love nature, but I'm like terrified of like ticks a lot, and like leaches, so that really has a big impact on my like willingness to actually go outside.* " Haylee and Kalyn both mentioned bears in their area have resulted in them becoming hesitant to visit the woods. Haylee said, *"We actually do have a lot of problems with bears up in my area. So, I haven't been out walking as much recently just of fear that I'm going to you know run into one.* " Kalyn added, *"Yeah like sometimes there's a few bears around towns than I'm kind of hesitant to walk in the woods.*" Aside from animals, insects and bugs were highlighted as a significant barrier towards nature, as more than half of the participants stated that bugs turned them away from nature. Robyn stated: *"I hate mosquitoes, they are everywhere... I just like don't* want to go to a campfire, like don't want to go out like go for a walk 'cause I don't want to have to deal with it." According to these participants, the different forms of wildlife in their environments limited their desire to connect nature and PA. Although there are more opportunities in rural areas to connect with nature, there are also more wildlife sightings which can lead to girls becoming hesitant to connect with nature.

Two participants discussed the precautions they take in order to connect nature and PA. Haylee stated that although they have issues with ticks and bears in her community, she does still go out into nature but remembers to be careful. She stated: *"You know, you take those extra precaution, but it's still in the back of your head, like am I going to run into a bear? Am I going to come home with a tick? You know?"* Olivia also discussed the extra precautions she needs to take to go hiking. She shared the following:

Yeah, definitely on hikes it can be stressful, like it definitely takes away from the overall like experience. You always have to be worried about like being loud, so that they can hear you, and like you have to bring bear spray, and have a bear bell, and there's a lot of prep that goes into it that a lot of people wouldn't do, like it sort of stops them from going out because of all the prep they would have to do.

While the participants recognized the risk of running into wildlife, many participants focused more on limiting their exposure risk and ways to still go out in nature and be safe.

Theme 2: Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Wellbeing for Adolescent Girls

Overall, the girls in this study perceive their relationship with nature and PA as positive, as they want to be in nature and connect PA to nature. Participants highlighted that connecting nature and PA has many positive benefits for their overall wellbeing. Adolescent girls discussed the importance of connecting with nature and PA for their social, emotional, mental, and

physical wellbeing.

Participants used many different words to distinguish between their social, emotional, mental, and physical wellbeing; therefore, it is important to note the difference between emotional and mental wellbeing. Although mental wellbeing and emotional wellbeing are sometimes used interchangeably, they are distinctly different. Mental wellbeing is influenced by many factors such as biology and psychology, and involves processing, storing, and understanding information (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Hasa, 2022). In contrast, emotional wellbeing involves the ability to control and express emotions (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Hasa, 2022). For instance, when referencing mental wellbeing, participants discussed ways in which they were able to enhance their ability to think clearly and make good decisions such as, coping with stress and managing their emotions. In contrast, adolescent girls in this study used emotional wellbeing to refer to the feelings they express, such as happiness, calmness, and freedom. It is important to note that different aspects of mental and emotional wellbeing were intertwined and that connecting nature and PA reinforces multiple aspects of wellbeing simultaneously.

During the analysis I utilized specific terms participants used to divide the findings into subheadings. For example, if a participant specifically mentioned a connection towards their mental wellbeing, I categorized this as "mental wellbeing", as the participants understand their own realities best. Likewise, if participants referred to coping mechanisms and feeling better about oneself, I coded this as "mental wellbeing", as mental wellbeing refers to coping with stress and managing emotions (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Hasa, 2022). In contrast, I coded "emotional wellbeing" when participants highlighted controlling and expressing their emotions through words such as, happiness, calmness, and freedom (Centers for

Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Hasa, 2022). I am aware that my own interpretation of wellbeing may have influenced my coding and development of subheadings for these themes. The ways in which wellbeing enhanced participants connection with nature and PA is discussed below.

Connecting Nature and PA Enhances Girls' Social Opportunities and Promotes Social Wellbeing

Participants discussed the importance of social connections and how these social connections can influence their relationship with nature and PA. All participants felt like their relationship with nature and PA provided them with the opportunity to connect with friends, family, or their community. Adolescent girls' ability to form a social connection with others through connecting nature and PA, allowed girls to enhance their social wellbeing. Adolescent girls suggested that by having a relationship with nature and PA, they were able to interact with friends and meet others. Haylee believed that nature and PA allowed her the opportunity to meet and connect with people who are like-minded, as she stated: "... in my community, I'm really just, you know, talking to people that have the same values as me, like you know, want the same things as me." Participants also highlighted that friends significantly influenced their desire to connect nature and PA. For example, participants mentioned they would rather connect nature and PA with their friends than alone. Robyn shared the following: "... if I go hiking, I'm definitely going to go with someone else." Further, Silvana suggested that connecting nature and PA was more enjoyable with others. She stated: "It depends on the activity, but I do enjoy doing it with someone else. I find that more enjoyable!" Haylee also agreed that PA in nature was more enjoyable with others, "Going outdoors, going on a bike ride, going on a walk, I do like to do that with people to stay engaged and stay focused, otherwise I tend to find it a little bit boring."

According to these participants, friends and peers enhanced their experiences while connecting nature and PA.

Adolescent girls' connection with their family was also highlighted as positively impacting their relationship between nature and PA. Many participants suggested nature and PA allowed them to form a deeper connection with their family through activities, such as hiking and walking. For example, Robyn highlighted how walking with her mom helped them reconnect by stating the following: "*I think sometimes, like I'll take my mom a lot for walks… that's like a nice way to kind of like reconnect with her, and like chat, and things like that, so it's a nice feeling, bonding with people too!*" Similarly, Haylee discussed that going on family hikes allowed them to take time to be a family and reconnect. She said, "Yeah, I think we all perceive it pretty *positively, like sometimes you know we'll go as a family, like do a hike that we haven't done before, that type of thing. So it's time away from like a busy schedule or a busy life, our technology, just to kind of connect with family through spending time in nature and doing PA as a* family.

Adolescent girls also highlighted that their community connections can enhance their social wellbeing. Participants discussed how connecting nature and PA allows them to be out in their community and feel a sense of belonging to their community. For example, Robyn stated, "I would say like, in my community in general, even just being able to go for walk in the park or something, like you know, you see people along your walk or whatever and that's like a nice way to kind of like, be out in the community." Kalyn also shared the following: "... even just going for a walk around town, it's like you meet people, the same people walk every day." Kalyn further mentioned that nature and PA allowed her to form stronger connections with her

community, "You'll see people who like exercise at similar times, like you'll stop and chat, it's definitely like created some stronger connections...." According to these participants, having a relationship between nature and PA allowed them to connect with their community in different ways. Lastly, participants discussed how during the pandemic, nature and PA allowed them to feel connected to others, as they had the ability to go for a walk and interact with members of their community. Haylee shared the following, "During covid it was like something to do, you could, you know, get out to a gym, or you could get outside, see people in passing, it still made me feel like sort of connected to people." Nature and PA during the pandemic allowed people to not only get outside and perform PA, but also form a sense of connection to others during prolonged periods of isolation.

Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Mental Wellbeing for Girls

In addition to social wellbeing, adolescent girls also highlighted the role that nature and PA can have on their mental wellbeing. Many participants stated how nature and PA can transform their mental wellbeing. Connecting nature and PA allowed many participants to feel better about themselves. For instance, Robyn stated that, "*It can be really good for my mental health especially, because I find when I'm like getting moving I'll just feel a lot better about myself.*" Adolescent girls discussed how being active in nature helped change their perspective about themselves when they felt down. Kelsey said, "*I find if I'm having like a bad day, or I'm feeling sad, I find if I go to the gym or just like going on a walk it's kind of like a coping mechanism for me*…" Julia also agreed that nature and PA helped transform her mood by stating the following: "*When I'm like, really down I like to just workout. So, when I feel extra down, I like to go outside and go for a walk and just clear my mind. I feel like that brings me a lot of, like it redeems myself alitle bit, and I feel very calming, soothing when I'm outside doing*

something physical. " It is apparent through these quotes that the participants perceived their mental wellbeing to be enhanced through their ability to connect nature and PA.

Further, some participants felt like they could see a difference in their day-to-day life when they did not have the opportunity to connect nature and PA. Silvana believed that by connecting nature and PA, she was able to enhance her wellbeing by stating the following, *"Sometimes you start off in a bad state, kind of because like you don't want to do it, but once you do it [go out into nature or PA], it makes you feel good, so, I find it definitely makes you feel better, like mental."* Jodie highlighted how not being able to get out into nature had a negative effect on her wellbeing by stating the following:

I think it definitely benefits my mental health, um, like not being able to get out for like my morning run, or like in the summer I work at a summer camp so like that definitely improves like my mental health a lot. It makes me feel very good about myself and happy, so if I don't like get that kind of activity, whether be like on a run or just kind of like getting outside for a little walk or anything like I don't get that done, then my day just kind of goes to crap.

Here this participant defined her own experience as benefiting her mental health and was therefore coded as mental wellbeing.

Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Emotional Wellbeing for Girls

Along with enhancing adolescent girls' mental wellbeing, nature and PA can positively influence their emotional wellbeing. Throughout the interviews, participants used a variety of terms to describe their relationship between nature and PA. They connected nature and PA to happiness, as they felt happier while connecting the two. For example, Julia stated: *"When I think of nature I think of happy and calming. I feel a sense of happiness while I'm active in*

nature." Further, participants suggested that going out into nature and being active also allowed them to feel calm, relaxed, and at peace. For example, Robyn said the following, "*Um, so when I'm going out for like a walk or a run when you are like on a track or trail or something, I guess kind of like what I said before like I feel a little bit more relaxed and like a little bit less stressed out, calming effect.*" Participants also used words, such as "*tranquil*" (Kalyn) and "*solitude*" (Silvana) when referring to the relaxation effect that nature was able to provide them.

Participants in this study highlighted the significance of freedom. All participants expressed how they felt a sense of freedom while connecting nature and PA. This freedom was expressed in different ways, such as freedom from the outside world, freedom from technology, and freedom in the sense of solitude. For example, Haylee highlighted how nature and PA allowed her family to escape, "There's no chance of you using your phone or getting that text, or I know like my family is pretty prone to distractions... so it's nice to kind of get away from that." Further, Olivia highlighted freedom in the sense of unplugging from her devices and recharging her emotional wellbeing. Olivia described her sense of freedom through the following, "I think even just like going out for walks is really nice, like it's definitely a good way to like get away from like technology and stuff too. It's an excuse to like not be on your phone or like not be doing schoolwork on your laptop and such." Robyn also highlighted freedom through the sense of disconnect through the following, "Um, definitely relaxed and like unplugged, like not focusing on like devices and things like that." Participants words, as well as my own interpretation allowed me to code "emotional wellbeing" as emotions participant express through words such as, happiness, calmness, and freedom.

Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Physical Wellbeing for Girls

Adolescent girls' physical wellbeing is closely connected to their mental wellbeing, as

being physically active has many positive mental benefits. For example, Robyn suggested that "… I find when I'm like getting moving, I'll feel a little bit more productive, so I think definitely physical wellbeing and mental health benefit." Further, adolescent girls stated that being active in nature helps them improve their physical wellbeing, as physical activity and time spent in nature can help decrease health issues. For example, Kalyn suggested that, "If you're like staying active and like trying to like be physically active every day like it decreases your risk of like a lot of health issues, and like heart disease, and different things like that." Similarly, Olivia added, "I think if I do it consistently it definitely benefits my well-being, like physical." All participants believed that overall, forming a connection between nature and PA increases all aspects of wellbeing.

During the pandemic, having the ability to form a relationship between nature and PA allowed girls to stay physically active. For example, Robyn stated, "*I definitely, like over covid, especially, like this is kind of what helped me like stay sane, like the outside and going for walks or runs and things like that, I was able to still prioritize my physical health.*" Connecting nature and PA during the pandemic provided girls with a safe space to focus on their physical health. As Julia suggested, "*It improved my health a lot, like my physical health, during covid.*" Further, Haylee added that during the lockdown being active in nature allowed her to stay physically healthy, "*It would definitely affect it like a positive way, I know like during the lockdown I really relied on physical activity, like as something to do to stay healthy.*" These examples illustrate how connecting nature and PA allowed participants the opportunity to enhance their physical health and wellbeing, especially during the recent pandemic.

Theme 3: Connecting Nature and PA Provides Adolescent Girls with a Sense of Connection

The participants in this study believed that connecting nature and PA allowed them to

feel a sense of connection to nature and themselves. These participants believed that by connecting with nature, they were able to feel a more profound sense of connectedness and enhance their relationship with PA. Also, as previously mentioned, the participants discussed how they felt as though they valued their time in nature more with age. A few participants mentioned that with age they began to appreciate nature more which resulted in them personally choosing to connect nature and PA. Whereas, when they were younger their parents/guardians persuaded them to spend time outdoors and be active. The participants' stories on how they perceived their sense of belonging and connection regarding nature and PA are divided into the following subheadings: nature allows adolescent girls to feel a sense of personal connection, adolescent girls want to connect nature and PA, and how adolescent girls choose to connect nature and PA.

Adolescent Girls Feel a Sense of Connectedness While in Nature

Adolescent girls discussed how spending time in nature allowed them to feel a sense of connectedness to nature. This sense of connectedness allowed them to enhance their overall sense of belonging in nature, which influenced their PA. Participants spoke about the positive effects nature can have on their sense of personal belonging and connectedness. One participant described her sense of belonging in nature through her time as a camp counselor. Jodie explained her connection as the following:

Oh, I really like that question! Um I feel like, we can go back to camp again, since that is where I spend most time in nature, but I feel like when you work at a place like that, like I've been going to camp, this will be my tenth summer, so being able to spend so much time with the same people like year after year, in nature it makes you feel like you really do belong, like with those people, or like maybe it's just the environment that you're in

that makes you feel like you belong, like I don't know it's just, it makes you feel good when you're out in nature.

As discussed above, Jodie explained in her own words how nature was able to enhance her sense connectedness to nature and herself. Julia discussed how spending time in nature helped her feel a sense of connectedness to nature and more broadly to the world, "*Um*, *I feel like it*, *I think it's a really positive thing, when I'm like outside in nature I feel more like connected to the world in a way*." These quotes illustrate the importance of feeling connected to the outside world and the positive benefits of this connection.

Participants further drew connections between their relationship with nature and stewardship. For example, Robyn connected her relationship with nature to a feeling of purpose, "I feel like, as like humans, that is where we are meant to be, so I definitely feel more connected. I feel like more of a purpose when I'm like in nature and outside." Further, Haylee highlighted how her stewardship towards nature influenced her relationship with nature, "I would say, you know, spending time in nature it like, it really connects me, like grounds me, you know back to my roots... So, definitely I do feel like grounded I would say would be like the best way to *describe it.*" Jodie took her connection to her roots further by suggesting that being a girl allowed her to form a deeper connection due to the stereotypical notion of mother nature. Jodie stated, "Um, like I don't really know. Personally I see nature as like female, I don't know if that's weird to say, but like I picture like nature as like a woman and like it's stereotypical to say that like women need to be cared for, but like I don't know, Mother Nature, everything like that comes to mind, females are the mothers of their children." Jodie went on to further connect her relationship with nature to Indigenous people, although she stated she was not an Indigenous person, she loved the idea. Jodie said:

I love the idea that like Indigenous people have, like women are very well respected in their cultural and in their practices and they are the seers of the water, like the protectors of the water 'cause like their life givers. So I like to think, although I'm not Indigenous person, but I really like that idea that like women are the protectors of the land and were like life givers, so we're able to protect like our waters and everything like that, so I think I have a deeper connection because of my girlness.

These quotes and examples illustrate girls' deeper connection with nature due to their rooted connection to nurturing and protecting their offspring through mother nature.

Adolescent Girls' Value the Connection Between Nature and PA

Participants discussed how they genuinely enjoy being in nature and that they choose to connect the two. For instance, four participants highlighted how they have the opportunity to go on backpacking and camping trips. Brigid highlighted her family's camping experiences, "*My family is very much camping family and like country camping family and they all love to go camping and loves to be outside and just be outdoors doing stuff all the time.*" Kelsey also highlighted that she goes camping with her family. Further, Jodie highlighted how camping trips allowed her to feel connected with nature. Jodie shared:

Um, I have a very strong relationship with nature I would say. At camp we go on things called out trips. So like we leave the camp premise and we either canoeing or hike to these different sites and we practice like no trace camping. So we really respect like the nature that surround us, so we make sure that all the kids that come into our care also practice the same. So, um yeah, love I love the nature.

Olivia also agreed that camping allowed her to enjoy and connect with nature by stating the following, "*I really enjoy being outside I think I've had a good experience with it. When I was*

younger, I did a lot of outdoor stuff. I think it was when I was 12 my cousin [name] and I we flew to Ontario and we always did a canoe trip and camp in [national park] for 22 days." These examples highlight how participants want to engage with nature as they are actively performing activities that involve both nature and PA.

As discussed above, adolescent girls want to participate, and some participants further highlight that PA in nature is more engaging than PA indoors, leading them to choose to go out into nature when being active. For example, Olivia said, *"I think that it's definitely more fun, and like engaging to be doing physical activity outside versus inside."* Tori also agreed by saying, *"… I like to be physically active outside more than inside."* These examples highlight how girls enjoy their time connecting nature and PA as they find it engaging.

Participants discussed their experiences with nature and PA as they transitioned from young to older adolescents. They suggested that they appreciate nature more now that they are older. Jodie suggested that she grew more appreciative with age, *"Yeah, I definitely started respecting nature more with age."* Jodie added to this further by providing an example, where she stated the following:

Um, I think so. So, when I was a kid I used to always pick it grass, like I would pull it up and everything. I remember like I was sitting outside and my dad got mad at me, or it might not have been my dad, I don't know, but someone got mad at me for picking at the grass and told me not to do that because that is what the bees use to, like for, for the dandelions to grow for the pollen, so like I feel like I kind of changed my relationship I guess, and started to respect nature more.

Further, many participants stated that although they appreciate nature more now, they spend less time in nature. Tori highlighted this by saying, *"I don't spend as much time outside, but I*

appreciate my time spent outside more now rather than when I was a kid." Julia added to this by stating, "I feel like when I was younger, I would not be like outside in nature as much and I didn't really appreciate it as much as I do now." Silvana also stated that, "I definitely value my time more now when I get to spend outside, definitely." These quotes illustrate how as adolescent girls' value their relationship between nature and PA.

How Adolescent Girls Choose to Connect Nature and PA

All participants discussed the ways in which they chose to connect with nature and PA. In some instances, girls discussed how they use nature to perform PA and that they did not make the connection between nature and PA. In contrast, many participants stated that they deliberately go out in nature and engage in PA in an effort to form a deeper connection between the two. For example, Robyn stated how she deliberately made an effort to spend time in nature by stating, *"I like need to make a conscious effort to get out in nature and like you know even just do like a walking trail or like things like that, [sometimes] I forget to appreciate it, but I try my best."* This quote illustrates how at times participants felt as though they needed to make a deliberate effort in order to ensure that they spend time in nature.

Many participants spoke about their experiences with hiking and walking when drawing a connection between nature and PA. Adolescent girls highlighted that hiking and walking were the main forms of activities they used to connect nature and PA. Kelsey stated that *"Every now and then I just have an urge to go for a hike, or like walk 13 kilometres, and it's like the most entertaining things to me ever. I love just love like being in nature, and like plants, and animals are so fascinating to me I love them so much."* Additionally, Silvana said, *"Oh I love hiking in the summertime, that is one of my favorite things is going to like the national parks and going hiking."* These examples highlight how girls choose to connect with nature and the positive

experiences they have received through connecting nature and PA.

Many participants discussed how they want to engage and explore different aspects of nature, such as plants and wildlife. Tori stated "*Like trying to find animals and such. I'm not grossed out by like bugs or worms and stuff. So some people are like, 'oh gross why do you dig worms?', but I like to explore the different creatures.*" Robyn discussed using gardening to connect to nature, "*I do have like a little garden so that's like another way that I try and like get into nature… that's like the first thing I think of when I think of nature, and animals, and plants, and things like that.*" Many of the participants also discussed using sports, such as rowing, soccer, or golfing, to be outside. Two participants stated that their relationship with nature is so positive that they pursued employment in nature through summer camps and ski instructing. Tori suggested she choose a job outside in nature so she could spend more time outdoors, "*Being a ski instructor leads me to spend more time in nature in the winter*." In addition, Jodie stated that working and connecting with nature allowed her to not only form a stronger connection to nature, but also learn to respect nature.

Theme 4: Exposure to Stereotypes' Influences Adolescent Girls' Connection with PA & Nature

Gendered stereotypes, expectations, challenges, and norms can negatively impact participants' connection between nature and PA. Participants discussed how stereotypes intersect with gender, leading to gendered expectations, challenges, and norms. Specifically, they spoke about the damaging effect of stereotypes on adolescent girls' relationship with nature and PA. Finally, participants discussed how stereotypes portray girls negatively and highlighted the sources that reinforce these stereotypes about girls.

Stereotypes and their Influence on Girls Connecting with Nature and PA

The participants in this study recognized and discussed the existence of common stereotypes, norms, and roles for girls. During the interviews, participants first described general stereotypes they have faced or heard, followed by nature and PA-related stereotypes. Adolescent girls highlighted different stereotypical expectations women and girls face, such as focusing on beauty and perform household chores. For example, Jodie said, *"I would say a lot of people still think the traditional way of men going outside and hunting and providing for the family, and girls staying inside and caring for others over themselves."* Brigid further comments on the typical stereotype women face today by stating the following:

When women and girls try and achieve those goals that men have where they are like super strong, and like they are super physically active, and they are super healthy, and stuff, like it's viewed very negatively and stereotypically. Like women shouldn't be doing that, like we should be focusing more on like how we look, and how we perform like doing household stuff, and very much 50s housewife ideology, which isn't fair, and I think can contribute greatly to how girls perceived physical activity, and physical activity in nature, and it isn't really fair especially since its projected off to like young girls.

The historical objectification of women is visible here, where women are expected to perform household chores indoors and caring for others over themselves, all while upholding their beauty. These stereotypical ideas about how a woman should look and behave are still felt by most participants in this study.

Stereotypes were discussed further, with participants drawing connections between passive and active behaviour. Participants discussed how girls are expected to stay clean, look pretty, and be non-rowdy, while boys are seen as strong, fast, and aggressive. One participant

said, "I guess just like being really like soft and gentle, like they can't get their hands dirty, and stuff..." While another echoed, "Definitely like being less rowdy, or less aggressive kind of outside when you play..." Further, girls highlighted how they are expected to only do things that are not strenuous. Olivia suggested, "I think that like girls are always seen as only doing things that aren't super like strenuous, if that makes sense. Like hiking is hard but it's not considered like a tough sort of sport..." These quotes outline girls' experiences with gender stereotypes and how these stereotypes can begin to affect their relationships, specifically with nature and PA.

Regarding nature and PA, girls recognized how they are expected to perform passive rather than active exercises. One girl said, "You wouldn't see someone like fishing or like crawling through the mud, it's always just like they're sitting on their deck relaxing, like tanning in the sun." Similarly, another participant said, "How boys are like fighting and that type of thing. We could go on the swings, or we can go play hopscotch, or whatever, and the boys would play around. That type of thing." While another echoed, "All the boys in the community growing up they go like fishing, they play outside with like airsoft guns, and they do all that and just like girls we'd always be indoors like painting their nails, or whatever." These examples highlight the gender expectations the girls in this study faced regarding connecting nature and PA.

The Negative Portrayal of Adolescent Girls in Nature and PA

Many of the participants highlighted that the gender norms and stereotypes they face negatively affects their willingness to connect nature and PA. The stereotypes and gender expectations girls discussed during their interviews were seen as barriers that negatively affected their participation. Participants stated that the stereotypes and gender expectations they faced while connecting nature and PA portrayed them in a negative light, which in turn affected their abilities and the way in which they connect nature and PA. Participants discussed their concerns

about being portrayed negatively and criticized when they connected nature and PA. For example, Brigid suggested: "*It's very hard to like just exist as a girl without being criticized for doing anything*." Participants further suggested that this criticism may be due to the notion of what is considered socially acceptable. For instance, Haylee suggested: "*Like you never hear of any, you know, girls joining or tagging along, like participating it never seemed acceptable.*" These quotes illustrate how criticism from others can influence girls' experiences while connecting nature and PA.

Similarly, participants further went on to state that when they try to form a relationship with nature and PA, they get labelled negatively. Participants suggested that when they do participate in nature-PA activities, they feel as though they will be labelled negatively and seen as rule breakers. One of the girls suggested, *"There's a label that guys give girls when they are like a try harder, or like they are trying too hard, type of thing."* Similarly, and related to being labelled negatively, Brigid shared the following:

I feel like in the sense of like physical activity and nature girls are like very much portrayed negatively. Like if a girl goes to the gym regularly or enjoys nature so much, she will be seen as like a try hard and like a pick me girl and like someone that you might not want to be around, just because she's so focused on that, that she like makes it her entire personality...

These examples illustrate the contradictions girls face when they participate in PA-nature activities and the complex negotiations they are forced to make.

Many of the participants stated that when they try to form a relationship between nature and PA, they become vulnerable to judgment from peers. One girl discussed the influence of negative judgement by stating, *"I feel like, that a big issue that girls have, thinking that everyone*

is judging them. "Whereas, Kalyn suggested, *"It is hard to get over being scared of judgment."* Robyn agreed and added that a lot of girls are afraid to be bad at specific activities, *"I feel like it was always stereotypes that the girls were going to be bad at it, so a lot of the girls I knew would give up right away so they wouldn't have to do it, like the girls would say 'oh it's for the boys'."* Overall, participants felt stereotypes can be damaging for girls that want to explore nature or connect nature and PA. Brigid summarized this feeling:

So I feel like, that is kind of a negative way to look at things too, and that can also be damaging for people who just want to explore that kind of lifestyle and especially young girls when they are wanting to explore things and find who they are, it's hard to actually do that when you are faced with all these negative stereotypes even for things that are actually super awesome and you should definitely explore cause you'll probably have a super good time doing them, but it's kind of nerve wracking sometimes, just like trying new things and then people just talking crap.

These quotes illustrate girls' fears of being labelled negatively and judged by their peers. These fears can lead girls to avoid connecting with nature, as they fear their peers may judge them.

Although participants described situations where they were negatively labelled or judged, they also provided insight into times when they rejected or pushback against norms and stereotypes. For instance, many participants in this study found that by connecting nature and PA they challenged the idea of femininity. Kelsey said, "*Me being super competitive and really into sports, like I play a lot of sports so I would prefer to be like in a guy and girl environment just because it is more competitive.*" However, this same participant add, "*Although I like playing sports with the guys, you have to be careful because there's a label that guys give girls when they are a try hard, or like they are trying too hard, type of thing.*" This quote gives rise to the idea

that although girls are willing to reject certain stereotypes they are still aware of the backlash they may receive. Julia added that although she tries not to think about stereotypes they are always present by stating: *"I try not to think about them [stereotypes] ... I just like to think in my mind that no one is going to judge me... however I know all the boys are making fun of me at the gym, but I just pushback, because I am allowed to be here."* Some participants discussed the negative judgement they receive from their own peers, with one girl stating: *"I'm not grossed out by like bugs or worms and stuff. I posted it on my snap chat story once and people were like what are you doing, that's weird, you're so gross... but I like to explore the different creatures so I continue to do it because I like it."* These examples of participants pushing back and rejecting stereotypes in order to connect with nature and PA illustrates the complex negotiations girls face when deciding to participate in PA-nature activities.

Sources that Reinforce Stereotypes for Girls

Participants suggested that stereotypes are everywhere within our society and are rooted in many sources, such as traditions, cultural influences, government, and media. Participants further discussed sources that reinforce stereotypes, such as family, friends, peers, and schools. Overall, the girls in this study highlighted that stereotypes are developed from a variety of things and places, and can have an effect on everyone. For instance, Julia said, "*I think stereotypes come from a variety of things*" and Kelsey added, *"There are stereotypes in everything.*"

The Media. One of the topics that adolescent girls discussed frequently, was the influence of media. When participants were asked what they thought influenced stereotypes, almost all participants suggested that stereotypes are portrayed in and enforced by the media. Participants suggested that the media, specifically social media, emphasizes stereotypes and portrays girls negatively. Participants expressed how predominant social media is within their

age group and suggested that social media has the power to influences people's views on life. For example, Haylee said, "*I think it's just a lot of social media, that just completely like changes peoples' views on physical activity or going outside, you know?*" Adolescent girls' further highlight how the media can be damaging and toxic for girls, as it leads girls to believe they should maintain a beautiful and delicate body. Brigid stated the following:

But then again social media, I feel like any stereotype that would come from there is female based, but it's just a very toxic place for females to be ... there's a lot of just stereotypes created about girls... So there's just like small things that will later become bigger stereotypes, it is like really damaging to see.

Participants also talked about how the media portrays girls' as delicate and passive, and that they should focus being skinny, but should not work out. Further, many participants indicated that the media leads them to believe that nature and PA is only for boys and that, as a girl, they do not belong in nature. For example, Brigid stated "… *the media makes it seem like if you like PA or nature that it is a negative trait and you should stick to things inside like simple cardio and Pilates and like avoid the outdoors*." The negative stereotype girls receive from the media when they connect nature and PA can have a negative influence on their relationship with nature and PA.

Participants also mentioned how the media can turn the connection they have with nature and PA from a positive to a negative experience. For example, six participants highlighted that when they posted about their connect with nature and PA on social media, they were stereotyped negatively and said to be "*Going into nature just to take a photo*" (Olivia). Participants highlighted that when they do connect nature and PA they get stereotyped as only doing it for the picture. For instance, Haylee said, "*I would say girls and like their physical activity in nature are*

portrayed negatively, just because of that stereotype that you know you are doing it for the picture, you are doing it for the post, you are doing it for the social media presence, like 'look what I did today', the purpose behind it is to kind of show off." Olivia added, "I think people think that that's why girls go out into nature, like going into nature just to take a photo." Lastly, Silvana said, "A lot of my peers are more on the side of like posting it to prove that they went there, to like show-off that type of thing, like 'look at me, I'm really better than you if you haven't been out on this hike', like more negative." These quotes from participants illustrate how girls get stereotyped for going into nature just for the photo, even if that is not their real motive.

Family, Friends, & Peers. Many participants mentioned how family, friends, and peers can influence stereotypes. Participants suggested that many stereotypes are enforced in their homes through family traditions, where their parents learned from their parents, and so on, leading them to be deep-rooted within a family setting. For example, Silvana said, "I think it's definitely like nurture, like you learn it from your parents and from your peers, like they can influence the way you think, without knowing that they influenced it." Robyn shared her experiences with gender norms in her family setting, "I have experienced gender norms in the sense of like 'oh like this is what you're going to have to learn to do', like as a kid, like different things like that. Oh yeah and things like doing laundry, doing dishes, things like that." Robyn further added, "my parents are like a little older and they say 'oh the girls come in at this time and get dinner ready and the guys come in later'... my friends are like where did you learn that and I'm like oh my parents taught me that". Participants also stated how their guy friends enforce many stereotypes; sometimes, it is subconsciously and other times intentional. For example, Kalyn shared one of her experiences, "Well just like if we're all just going for a hike as a group, like a friend group of like girls and guys, the guys will kind of be like oh we will get the

fire, like you guys just sit pretty, you know?" These quotes illustrate that family members and peers can influence stereotypes even when they are unintended.

School. Participants shared examples of stereotypes being reinforced in school settings. Jodie shared an experience from school, "*As a kid, I think like when I was younger it was a lot different, like I remember hearing teachers that would say to like younger boys like oh you run like a girl, like why are you throwing like a girl, what you doing?"* Further, girls identified that looking back at their teachers in school may have promoted stereotypes without realizing it, such as grouping kids into genders. For example, Tori said, "*I feel like maybe some school policies could be changed too, especially with schools that have gender gym classes. I feel like they should be merged to one so everyone can explore what they like regardless of gender."* This quote, illustrating a girls' experience with gendered PE class.

Chapter Four Summary

Four themes were developed to organize and explore the experiences of ten older adolescent girls. First, girls' environments can influence their relationship between PA and nature. This theme was further organized into three subheadings centred around resources and location, opportunities, and fear. The second theme focused on connecting nature and PA for wellbeing, specifically focusing on social, emotional, mental, and physical wellbeing. Connecting nature and PA provides adolescent girls with a sense of connection was the third theme, which highlighted connectedness, value, and choices. Exposure to stereotypes was the last theme which highlighted stereotypes adolescent girls face, the influence of these stereotypes, and the sources that reinforce them.

Chapter 5: Discussion

This study aimed to explore how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes. This study explored the stereotypes and gender norms older adolescent girls in Nova Scotia experience while connecting with nature and PA through the following research objectives: (1) To understand how older adolescent girls perceive their connection with nature; (2) To explore how older adolescent girls' connection with nature relates to PA; (3) To understand how older adolescent girls experience gender-, nature-, and PA-related stereotypes. Through interviews with ten study participants, study objectives were achieved and unpacked into four themes centred around girls' environments, wellbeing, a sense of connection, and the influence of stereotypes.

QD with overtones of feminism was used to address the research objectives by exploring participants experiences and perspectives. Applying a feminist lens allowed me to ask new questions that placed each participant at the center of their experiences, which allowed me to gather information directly from the adolescent girls, while also maintaining a subjective perspective. As women's perspectives have often been silenced employing a feminist lens allowed for close attention to speech, while giving each participants a voice. By employing a subjective perspective, I was able to acknowledge that the perceptions of each adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA may vary. Reflexive TA with a feminist lens allowed me to code the data with an awareness of gender-based oppression and how girls and women's identities have been marginalized in society.

The main study findings are as follows; First, participants believed that their environments influenced their relationship between nature and PA. Participants highlighted how specific resources, their location, opportunities available to them, and fear can impact their

relationship between nature and PA. Second, adolescent girls believed that connecting nature and PA enhanced their social, emotional, mental, and physical wellbeing. Third, participants highlighted that connecting nature and PA allowed them to feel a sense of belonging, as they discussed the ways they choose to connect and their desire to connect nature and PA. Last, participants highlighted the effect of stereotypes on their ability to connect nature and PA. Participants mentioned the negative influence of stereotypes and how stereotypes portray them in a negative light. The following discussion investigates girls' perceptions to respond to the research questions.

Girls' Environments Can Influence Their Relationship Between Nature and PA

The first theme, which focused on environmental influences, was centred around the first two research objectives which were adolescent girls' connection with nature and how this connection relates to PA. Findings from this study suggest that living in a rural area positively influenced adolescent girls' connection with nature. Adolescent girls who identified as living in a rural area discussed how they perceived their connection to nature to be positive due to the resources they had in their area, such as access to hiking trails, nature trails, beaches, and wildlife. These findings are consistent with previous research that found when girls had access to parks, trails, and other resources in their neighbourhood, they had an increased level of PA (Babey et al., 2015; Coen et al., 2019; Humbert et al., 2008; Mitra et al., 2020; Oliveira et al., 2017).

In alignment with previous research, findings from this study found that fear influenced adolescent girls' connection with nature. Participants in this study highlighted that the safety of their environment or the safety of their neighbourhood played a large role in their ability to connect with nature. Previous research also found that perceptions of safety can influence girls'

time in nature, as being alone outdoors can lead to feelings of fear and vulnerability (Ghimire et al., 2014; Ho et al., 2005; Jiang et al., 2018; Kalms, 2019; Wesely & Gaarder, 2004). Further, participants in this study expressed how wildlife, such as bugs and animals, created a barrier to their connection. Although wildlife has been previously identified to be a constraint that hinders adolescents from visiting nature due to pest-related reasons (Oppliger et al., 2019), the research did not focus on gender. Nevertheless, the results from this study do suggest that wildlife such as, animals and insects were considered barriers to girls' connection to nature.

Among the findings that emerged from this study was adolescent girls' not having enough time to be outside and active due to responsibilities such as school and work. This finding also emerged in a study by Sackett et al. (2016) on perspectives of childhood obesity, in which adolescent girls reported not having enough time in their busy schedules to eat healthy and exercise. Also in line with these results, several studies indicated that girls reported prioritizing homework, chores, babysitting, or other jobs as they age, which led to less time available for PA and exploring natural environments (Coen et al., 2019; Janha et al., 2020; Rothe et al., 2010; Sackett et al., 2018; Tannehill et al., 2015; Walia & Leipert, 2012). Studies focusing on young girls in sport, found that many athletes simply do not have the time to secure a job or focus on school, leading them to make the decision on what they believe is most important, which usually results in a disinterest in sports due to being more attracted to making money and excelling in school (Brenner et al., 2019; Rasulovna, 2021; Strandbu et al., 2019; White & McTeer, 2012). This study's findings add to the literature by illustrating that adolescent girls' extracurricular activities and responsibilities, such as jobs and school can also have an influence on their connection with nature and PA.

Connecting Nature and PA Promotes Wellbeing for Girls

The current study found that adolescent girls' wellbeing can be enhanced while connecting nature and PA. Throughout this theme, participants highlight how their connection with nature relates to overall wellbeing and how wellbeing can be enhanced through connecting nature and PA. Specifically, this study found that connecting nature and PA enhances all aspects of wellbeing, such as social, emotional, mental, and physical. For the purpose of this study the terms health and wellbeing were combined to the term wellbeing, meaning that mental health or mental wellbeing are interchangeable within this study.

During the analysis I used participants' own words to differentiate between social, mental, emotional, and physical wellbeing. This helped me divide the themes into subheadings. For example, if a participant referred to their mental wellbeing or referred to coping mechanisms, I coded this as mental wellbeing, as mental wellbeing refers to coping with stress and managing emotions (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Hasa, 2022). Further, I coded emotional wellbeing when participants highlighted controlling and expressing their emotions through words such as, happiness, calmness, and freedom (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Hasa, 2022). My own interpretation of mental, emotional, social, and physical wellbeing may have influenced my coding and development of subheadings for this theme; however during the coding process the participants perspectives influenced the formation of codes and themes. Lastly, it is important to note that different aspects of wellbeing are intertwined, and that connecting nature and PA reinforces multiple aspects of wellbeing simultaneously.

The current study has found evidence to suggest adolescent girls' social wellbeing through friends and family, provided them with the opportunity to connect nature and PA, a

finding frequently supported by previous research (Edwards et al., 2015; Hayball et al., 2018; Jago et al., 2009; Macdonald-Wallis et al., 2012). Participants highlighted that they spent more time outside when they were with their friends, and that their friends significantly influenced their desire to connect nature and PA. These findings align with previous research that indicates the importance of social support for PA, especially for girls (Allison et al., 2005; Brockman et al., 2011; Laird et al., 2016).

Further, the current study's findings suggest that adolescent girls' emotional health can be enhanced through connecting nature and PA. Previous research has highlighted that nature has a positive influence on emotional wellbeing and that PA can have a positive influence on wellbeing; however, limited research has focused on the benefits of connecting nature and PA for adolescent girls' emotional wellbeing. This study's findings add to the current literature as it specifically looked at the connection between nature and PA on wellbeing. The results from this study suggest that adolescent girls connected nature and PA to increased happiness. These findings are in line with previous results concerning the effects of nature on wellbeing (Keniger et al., 2013; Roberts et al., 2020), as well as results specifically addressing the relationship between nature and happiness (Berman et al., 2008; Capaldi et al., 2014; MacKerron & Mourato, 2013; Mayer et al., 2009; Nisbet & Zelenski, 2011; Pritchard et al., 2020; White et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2017).

Previous research noted how girls associated nature with feeling peaceful, relaxed, and a sense of serenity and tranquillity (Birch et al., 2020; Chawla et al., 2014; Cheesbrough et al., 2019; Hakoköngäs & Puhakka, 2021; Milligan et al., 2004; R. Morrow et al., 2017; Wiens et al., 2019; Windhorst & Williams, 2015). Likewise, participants in our study also identified positive adjectives towards nature such as, peacefulness, relaxation, and freedom. However, it should be

noted that participants used terms such as peacefulness and solitude to refer to the feelings they receive while connecting nature and PA. Therefore, this research adds further to the literature by highlighting that through connecting nature and PA, adolescent girls were able to experience these positive emotions.

As stated above, there have been numerous studies focusing on the benefits of nature for mental wellbeing (Martin et al., 2020; McMahan & Estes, 2015; Nisbet et al., 2009; Weir, 2020), and towards PA (Christiana et al., 2021; K. Evans & Anderson, 2018). Although the findings from this study align with previous research, it also enhances previous findings as we looked specifically at the benefits of connecting nature and PA for mental wellbeing, while many studies focus on nature and PA separately. In addition, this study was focused on older adolescent girls, which is an under-researched population and is important to investigate as older adolescent girls have the highest rate of mental health issues (Lipari & Hedden, 2014; World Health Organization, 2015a). Further, it has been found that the leading cause of death among girls aged 15–19, which was the population for this study, is suicide (Lipari & Hedden, 2014; World Health Organization, 2015a). For this reason, it is important to further understand how connecting with nature and PA may promote positive mental wellbeing for adolescent girls.

It is well known that both nature and PA provide many benefits for physical wellbeing (De la Fuente et al., 2021; Jimenez et al., 2021; Johnstone et al., 2022; Maher et al., 2021; Remme et al., 2021; Twohig-Bennett & Jones, 2018). For instance, studies suggest that both nature and PA can lower blood pressure, heart rate, muscle tension, and cortisol levels, as well as increase parasympathetic nervous system activity (Capaldi et al., 2014; Park et al., 2010; Twohig-Bennett & Jones, 2018). Positive benefits towards physical wellbeing were also spoken about as participants highlighted that PA and time spent in nature can help decrease health

issues.

Connecting Nature and PA Provides Adolescent Girls with a Sense of Connection

As previous research has highlighted, engaging with nature or spending time in natural environments is associated with various mental health benefits (Martin et al., 2020; McMahan & Estes, 2015; Nisbet et al., 2009; Weir, 2020). Findings from this study suggest that connecting with nature provided adolescent girls with a deeper connection to the world. These findings align with previous research that suggests engaging with nature can facilitate a sense of connectedness, also known as nature connectedness (Martin et al., 2020; Nisbet et al., 2009; Tauber, 2012). The term nature connectedness is a psychological construct that measures subjective sense of relationships with the natural world (Capaldi et al., 2014; Martin et al., 2020; Nisbet et al., 2009). Past research considers nature connectedness to mediate the relationships between nature contact and positive outcomes, such an overall increasing in wellbeing (Liu et al., 2022; Mayer et al., 2009; Mayer & Frantz, 2004; Olivos et al., 2011).

When referring to nature connectedness, previous research suggests that this connection is much more than just being in nature or exposed to nature, as anyone can go for a hike outside without truly connecting with nature (Liu et al., 2022; Nisbet et al., 2019; M. Richardson et al., 2022). Participants in this study suggested they were able to feel a sense of connectedness to the natural world through performing PA outdoors. For example, participants described their connectedness to nature through activities such as, hiking, walking, and biking. As described above, adolescent girls in this study felt as though having a relationship with nature and PA provided them with the opportunity to experience a sense of connectedness.

One of my key findings is the importance of outdoor environments for girls' PA, in

contrast to work that has suggested girls are more active in indoor environments (Dunton et al., 2007; Klinker et al., 2014; Pawlowski et al., 2014; Ries et al., 2008). Based on the experiences of girls in our study, we found that adolescent girls in this study genuinely enjoy being outdoors in nature and that they choose to connect nature and PA. Importantly, time spent outdoors can be a major contributor to overall PA (Ferreira et al., 2007; Gray et al., 2015). Not only did the girls in our research articulate a clear preference for outdoor PA, but they also suggested PA in nature is more engaging. This finding is in line with Coen et al (2019), who found that outdoor spaces allowed for more variety and unstructured opportunities for PA (Coen et al., 2019). Evidence suggests that when adolescents are in nature they are more likely to engage in PA, especially when engaged in a preferred activity (Barfield et al., 2021; Fromel et al., 2017; Gray et al., 2015; Mnich et al., 2019).

Exposure to Stereotypes Influences Adolescent Girls' Connection with PA & Nature

Participants demonstrated an awareness of stereotypes and gender norms in their everyday life. The adolescent girls within this study discussed examples of stereotypes and gender norms they have experienced or witnessed. Adolescent girls spoke about the housewife stereotype, where women were expected to focus on performing household chores and upkeeping their physical appearance. These findings are in line with previous research, suggesting that in the past, western culture expected girls to wear dresses, cook and clean, raise children, maintain a beautiful and delicate body, and remain passive, moral, and pure (Bound Alberti, 2021; Griffin, 1998; Koenig, 2018; Pearce, 2017; Rathus et al., 2013; Whittington, 2006; Zimmerman, 2011). Not only did the girls in this research believe that these expectations persist in western society, but they also suggested these expectations were found to impede their opportunities to connect nature and PA. For example, participants discussed how they are

expected to stay clean, look pretty, be non-rowdy, and only participate in nonstrenuous activities. Participants highlighted that when they looked back, they wished they were presented with the opportunity to play outside more often than staying inside and paint their nails. This finding is in line with Colley and Krutka (2021), who found that girls look back with frustration that they were forced to wear dresses instead of pants, or that they were not invited to fishing or hiking outings, for example, with their grandfather. This research adds to the literature by illustrating that as girls age, they can take initiative and participate in activities that suit their interest, such as going out in nature and PA.

The results from this study are also in line with previous evidence showing how girls are taking the initiative and resisting stereotypes and gender norms. For example, girls who are between the age of older adolescent and young adult feel as though they do not need to conform to traditional gender roles or behaviors anymore (Eagly et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2022; Mulvey & Killen, 2015). Further, evidence shows that young girls who spend time with women who follow non-traditional roles reported rejecting traditional attitudes as they got older, as exposure to counter stereotypical role models has been found to reduce gender stereotyping (Napp & Breda, 2022).

Resistance and pushback against norms and stereotypes can be seen as controversial, as some research has found that adolescents are against deviating from the social norms centred around femininity and submissive behaviours (Haines et al., 2016; Mulvey & Killen, 2015; Rosselli. et al., 2020), while other research has found that deviating from the stereotypical norm such as, being active is acceptable (Bevan et al., 2021; Eagly et al., 2020; Edell, 2013; Killen et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2022). However, it is important to note that many studies found age-related differences regarding the distinction between conformity to stereotypes and resistance (Bevan et al.

al., 2021; Edell, 2013; Killen et al., 2013; Mulvey & Killen, 2015). The novel findings of this study support the idea that gender norms and stereotypes are beginning to be challenged and rejected by adolescent girls. These findings are consistent with previous work highlighting that over the past few decades girls and women have begun to tackle, limit, and resist stereotypical norms (Plumwood, 2019; Spencer et al., 2021; Wilde, 2007). For example, Spencer et al. (2021) found that girls take pride in challenging norms such as, being active, playing outside, and not worrying about their physical appearance. Findings from this study can help strengthen pervious research highlighting adolescent girls' push towards challenging and rejecting stereotypical norms.

The controversy between conformity and resistance to stereotypes can be linked to the current decrease in PA (Gentile et al., 2018; Metcalfe, 2018; Walker, 2022). A growing body of research that focuses on PA has found that when negative stereotypes about women persist there is likely a reduction of PA (Gentile et al., 2018). The social construction of masculinity is strongly associated with traditional and stereotypical masculine characteristics, such as aggression, dominance, toughness, and confidence (Conroy, 2013; Gentile et al., 2018; Metcalfe, 2018; Walker, 2022). Conversely, femininity includes traditional and stereotypical feminine characteristics, such as sensitivity, purity, and innocence leading to expectations of attractiveness, physical thinness, and an aversion to PA. These socially constructed ideas of masculinity and femininity continue to be a challenge for adolescent girls to overcome, as participants in this study identified being negatively evaluated or stereotyped when challenging the idea of femininity. For instance, many participants in this study found that by connecting nature and PA they challenged the idea of femininity, which resulted in them feeling vulnerable to negative evaluation from their peers and others. The findings from this study are in agreement

with past literature; however, this study also adds to the growing body of literature on negative stereotypes that influence girls' performance in PA by adding nature as a component.

Based on the experiences of girls in this study, it was found that when girls do challenge the socially constructed idea of femininity, they can become vulnerable to negative evaluation and stereotypical views from their peers. This finding is congruent with literature that indicates when girls do not adhere to gender-specific stereotypes and engage in stereotypical masculine behaviour, such as rough and tumble play, they can become vulnerable to negative evaluation, such as name-calling and teasing (Gentile et al., 2018; Khan, 2021; McNiel et al., 2012; Schmalz & Kerstetter, 2006). As discussed, like previous research, participants in this study felt that when they focus on connecting nature and PA, they become vulnerable to negative evaluation and stereotypical views from their peers.

An important finding to note is that the behaviours adolescent girls refer to in previous sections regarding the benefits of connecting nature and PA, runs counter to the stereotypes they described in this section. For instance, the theme connecting nature and PA to wellbeing, and the theme connecting nature and PA to a sense of connectedness, highlights the positive benefits adolescent girls can receive and that they enjoy connecting nature and PA. Throughout this research, participants discussed how they genuinely enjoy being in nature and that they choose to connect nature and PA. Participants highlighted the positive benefits of this connection toward their wellbeing, such as opportunity to connect with friends, family, or their community, and discussed the different ways in which they chose to connect with nature and PA. One reason for this inconsistency could be due to the fact that girls who volunteered for this study identified enjoy nature. Although adolescent girls in this study highlighted gender stereotypes they have faced and witnessed regarding nature and PA, they situated themselves as being aware of these

stereotypes and the influences they may have on their decision making. For example, participants in this study highlighted that connecting nature and PA could result in them being negatively evaluated and stereotypical views from their peers; however, they did not suggest that this negativity fully stopped them from connecting with nature and PA. Instead, they emphasized that they were aware of this negative evaluation, that they have received it, and how it influenced their future activities. These results are well in line with recent evidence showing that stereotypical gender roles can lead girls to feel as though they must gracefully walk the line between being conscientious of others and feminine, yet confident, assertive, and aware (Napp & Breda, 2022; Olsson & Martiny, 2018; Plumwood, 2019).

Participants in the current study discussed how stereotypes are deeply intertwined within our society and are rooted from many different sources, such as family traditions, cultural influences, policy, and media. Likewise, previous research has found that gender stereotypes are complex and originate from local culture and traditions (Hentschel et al., 2019; Institute of Physics, 2018; Koenig & Eagly, 2014). Based on the experiences of girls in our study, we found that adolescent girls in this study discussed the influence of old traditions and cultural influences through examples within a family setting. For example, participants suggested that stereotypes were enforced in their homes through family traditions, which they then connected back to old cultural and family beliefs, where their parents learned from their parents, and so on, leading them to be deep-rooted in a family setting. These results replicated previous research on the influences of stereotypes (Institute of Physics, 2018; Koenig, 2018; Our Watch, 2018), showing that family, friends, communities, the media, and other forms of popular culture all communicate messages, whether explicitly or subtly, enforcing gender norms.

Another finding of the current research study was the influence of the media on

stereotypes. The media has often been studied in terms of the role that it plays in creating, promoting, and sustaining stereotypes, as the media has a large influence on many people (Rosenthal & Overstreet, 2016; L. M. Ward & Grower, 2020). We live in a society where modern media exposes youth to distorted depictions of gender norms and stereotypes, and youth consume these media for a large portion of their days. Participants in this study believed that the media enforces stereotypes concerning body image such as those related to slenderness and beauty. In addition, participants felt adolescent girls were susceptible to stereotypes as they spend much of their free time browsing media and that it influences their age group. As participants in this study were older adolescent girls, it is not surprising that they believed the media was a main contributor to stereotypes they witness many adolescents spend a significant amount of time using media, more specifically, social media (Coyne et al., 2020). The finding that the media is seen as a major contributor to stereotypes is aligned with past literature that found that the media aids in creating and reinforcing stereotypes (Ross, 2019; The Australian Human Rights Commission, 2019; L. M. Ward & Grower, 2020). Participants viewed their connection to society through their connection with the media and suggested that social media has the power to completely change people's views and lives, therefore highlighting the power of the media.

Study Strengths and Limitations

Several strengths have been identified in this research study, as this study was able to explore the experiences and beliefs of ten participants with respect to gender, nature, and PA. As the topic of nature and PA is understudied, especially among older adolescent girls, this research provided space for an underrepresented group to share their perspectives. This study provides data on older adolescent girls' complex relationship between nature, and fills a gap in the

literature on older adolescent girls' ability to form a connection between nature and PA.

As the purpose of this study was to explore how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes, a gendered lens, specifically feminist QD and feminist reflexive TA was utilized. Feminist QD and reflexive TA allowed me to gain access to the meanings that adolescent girls attribute to their connection between nature and PA. More specifically, a feminist lens allowed me to gather information directly from the adolescent girls while employing a subjective outlook and recognizing that the perceptions of their relationship between nature and PA may vary. Additionally, I was able to gain access to the meanings that adolescent girls attribute to their own connections. Although only one theme specifically explores adolescent girls' experiences with stereotypes and gender norms, many aspects of the first three themes did in fact connect to gender norms and stereotypes. For example, the first three themes had underlying aspects of gender norms and stereotypes; however, participants did not explicitly identify them as such.

My identity as a young woman and my personal feelings towards nature and PA may have impacted my interpretation of results. However, my position as an insider may have been beneficial as I could relate to participants and different situations they have experienced. Additionally, as I am aware of my position as a young woman with a positive relationship towards nature and PA, I was able to be mindful of and discuss my position throughout the analysis. Additionally, my age and gender may have allowed participants to perceive me as an insider, as I am a young woman myself, which may have helped mitigate the power dynamics often present between interviewer and interviewees.

Throughout this research I discovered that although I felt like an insider at times I also felt like an outsider. In the beginning I believed that my identity as a young woman would allow

me to be perceived as an insider and in many ways it did, however, there were times were I felt my age and word choice left me feeling like an outsider. During recruitment, many platforms I tried to use to reach potential participants fell flat. I realized that many adolescent girls do not use the same platforms younger adults like myself would use such as, Facebook. In the end, I ended up recruiting my participants through their parents, as their parents saw my recruitment posters and shared the information with their kids. In addition, during the interviews I found myself starting to change the language I originally had in my questions to better fit the slang and terminology I heard other participants use. By building rapport with each participant at the beginning of each interview I was able to identify different language they used, which in the end allowed me to generate codes and develop themes that captured their experiences.

It is important to highlight that this study was likely to attract girls and young women who enjoy nature and PA. For this reason, it should be noted that the perspective of those who choose not to engage in PA or nature may not be represented. Additionally, there is potential that the results may be overwhelmingly from the perspective and point of view of the white lens. Although recruitment posters were sent out to minority populations, most participants did not state their ethnicity during the interviews, and only 8 out of 10 participants completed the demographic survey. Of those that completed the survey, the majority self-identified as White-Canadian, with only two participants self-identifying as Chinese-Canadian and Syrian. This may have contributed to the results of the study being overwhelmingly from the perspective and point of view of the white lens, especially since myself as a white researcher did the analysis and writing. Lastly, no participants mentioned having Two Spirit or nonbinary gender identify, which could potentially exclude the experiences of those that are further marginalized.

The COVID-19 pandemic may have limited this study. For example, in-person posters

were not utilized at the time of recruitment due to public health restrictions, leading to differences in who was able to access the recruitment materials as the poster was available on online platforms only. Further, interviews were conducted online, meaning participants needed the time, space, internet, and privacy to participate. To mitigate this limitation, all interviews were planned around participants schedules and participants were given the option to conduct the interviews via phone to limit the need for internet. At the start of each interview, participants were also informed that respecting their privacy was a vital part of the study and that they were under no obligation to respond to any questions with which they did not feel comfortable.

Significance & Implications

This study will contribute to the limited literature on older adolescent girls and highlight adolescent girls' complex relationships with nature and PA. This study examined adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA through a health promotion lens. By using a health promotion lens, this research was able to further the knowledge on health, PA, and nature among adolescent girls and support relevant action and policy. Although an individual study may not change policy or the way we deliver information, it can help pave the way for future research on this area and add to the growing knowledge base. Population health promotion and public health professionals today must collaborate with those who attempt to shift all aspects of society towards health, wellbeing, and gender equality (United Nations, 2016). With the recognized importance of good health and wellbeing, the health promotion discipline is perfectly situated to advocate for women and girls' equal rights within health and wellbeing. Health promotion should continue working to reduce health disparities and address the social determinants of health while considering nature and PA's implications.

Additionally, there are possible implications for the researcher and study participants. As the researcher, I was able to further my knowledge of adolescent girls' connection between nature and PA and obtain a master's degree. Completing this research and listening to adolescent girls' experiences with nature and PA allowed me to deepen my knowledge on QD and reflexive analysis. Additionally, this study allowed me to expand my knowledge on adolescent girls and develop a better understanding of the relationship between nature and PA. By allowing adolescent girls to express their feelings about their relationship with nature and PA, it is possible that participants gained a sense of empowerment. By participating in this study, adolescent girls were able to use their experiences to highlight specific stereotypes they face regarding nature and PA.

Adolescent Girls' Suggestions

In this study, older adolescent girls provided several suggestions concerning changes that could be made to enhance their connection between nature and PA. Participants also gave suggestions on whom they thought the results should be shared with. First, many participants noted that increased awareness would lead to increased promotion. For example, participants stated that they wish there were more posts on social media about girls engaging in nature, being active, getting dirty, and playing with bugs. Participants also suggested that increased promotion and awareness would allow girls the power to use their voices in a positive way. Many participants wished that nature and PA were discussed more in general, as an increase in conversation could make adolescent girls feel more comfortable. Participants felt that if more people talked about nature and PA, it would make them feel more comfortable engaging in nature and PA.

Participants highlighted the need for increased community promotion. Participants

suggested that if they were made aware of more options within their communities, such as walking trails or organized events, they would be more open to attending as there would be other people there. Further, some participants mentioned how PA was promoted in their community through sports, but unorganized nature and PA events were not promoted. This led participants to suggest the need for increased awareness. One participant mentioned that they go to a university that has health programs, but they felt as though these societies did not advertise or promote events they were having around campus. Lastly, a few participants highlighted the importance of making PE classes within school gender friendly so everyone can have a chance to explore the things they like regardless of how they identify.

Participants also gave suggestions on whom they thought the results should be shared with. All participants highlight that the results should be shared with younger girls in the hopes to led them on a better path into their high school and university years. Participants discussed how the results from this study might allow younger girls to feel more confident to go outside, to explore, or be active. One participant suggested that the results be shared with adolescent teen boys. This participant further stated that if boys could see how girls perceive the world and PAnature stereotypes, it could benefit our future. Lastly, a few participants highlighted that they felt the results from this study should be shared with people of a higher power. For example, they suggested that institutions that directly affect children, such as different sectors of the school boards and administrators, so they are more aware of how girls view PA and help to create an environment that's more comfortable for PA wise. Additionally, participants highlighted the importance of support systems, such as psychologists and doctors, as this information on nature and PA could be helpful for them as PA is a huge part of general health.

Future Research

Future research should further explore the concept of adolescent girls in relation to nature and PA. To further the knowledge on older adolescent girls' challenges regarding their relationship between nature and PA, future research should consider other intersecting identities, such as race, LGTBQ+ status, (dis) ability, income, education, employment type, and more. By incorporating other intersecting identities, we can draw attention to specific aspects that may be impeding their ability to form a relationship between nature and PA. By further investigating adolescent girls' perspectives and considering other intersecting identities, there is potential to create a deeper awareness towards the stereotypes or gender norms these identities may face, providing opportunity to deepen the scope within the health promotion field.

Additionally, as gender and gender expression are fluid and individual concepts, future research should look deeper into gender identity. All participants in this study self-identified as a girl; however, it would be beneficial for future research to dive deeper into gender identity and ask each participant to identify themselves in their own words. Further, this study was only conducted in Nova Scotia, which may have resulted in the study being overwhelmingly from one perspective. Future research should explore the experiences of young women and girls across the globe, as participants experiences may be different from country to country.

Knowledge Translation

An important part of research is to ensure that study results be disseminated to those who may benefit or may be able to act in ways that may benefit from the findings (Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 2012). First, the dissemination includes the defence of the thesis. Following the completion of the study, I will produce a community report of the study findings and disseminate it to study participants as a respectful way to thank them for their time. Study

participants are welcome to share the document with whomever they wish, which could include other young women who may relate to or see themselves in the study findings. Finally, I intend to publish the results of the study in a health promotion journal. By publishing and presenting study findings in spaces where the academic community is likely to reach them, I will be furthering my research knowledge on the topic of nature, adolescent girls, and PA. This method of knowledge translation ensures study results will be shared with those who may benefit or find this research useful.

Conclusion

The current literature revealed a gap, wherein older adolescent girls and their relationship with nature and PA had yet to be fully studied. Older adolescent girls are usually excluded from literature as they are in-between the ages of children and adults. Although PA is a heavily researched area, the connection between nature and PA, especially in older adolescent girls, presented a gap in the literature. This study presents a unique contribution to the literature by exploring how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes.

Participants of this study allowed for an in-depth analysis of the ways in which older adolescent girls perceive their relationship with nature and PA. Feminist QD guided by reflexive TA with a feminist lens allowed me to explore participant perspectives and experiences carefully. Additionally, the two allowed me to analyze adolescent girls' experiences to respond to the research question and objectives. According to the findings of this study, participants' relationships between nature and PA is influenced by their environments, their wellbeing, their sense of connection, and stereotypes. Participants who identified as living in a rural area highlighted their connection to nature to be positive due to the resources they had in their area,

such as access to hiking trails. Additionally, participants in this study expressed how wildlife, such as bugs and animals, created a barrier to their connection. Although participants highlighted some negative barriers from connecting nature and PA, for the most part, they perceived their overall connection to be positive. Participants highlight how their connection with nature relates to overall wellbeing and how their social, emotional, mental, and physical wellbeing can be enhanced through connecting nature and PA. Findings from this study suggest that connecting with nature provided adolescent girls with an overall sense of connection to themselves and their surroundings. Based on the experiences of girls in this study, it was found that they genuinely enjoy being outdoors in nature and that they choose to connect nature and PA. Lastly, participants demonstrated an awareness of stereotypes and gender norms in their everyday life. The adolescent girls within this study discussed examples of stereotypes and gender norms they have experienced or witnessed regarding nature and PA.

Although the purpose of this study was to understand how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes, participants did not directly connect all their experiences to the stereotypes they have been exposed too. Instead, many of the participants experiences had underlying aspects of gender norms and stereotypes. Furthermore, some of the stereotypes and gender norms described by adolescent girls in this study actually run counter to some of their positive perspectives described throughout the other themes. Participants highlighted that connecting nature and PA could result in them being negatively evaluated and stereotypical views from their peers; however, they did not suggest that this negativity fully stopped them from connecting with nature and PA. Instead, participants emphasized that they were aware of this negative evaluation, that they have received it, and how it influenced their future activities.

Participants then shared several suggestions concerning changes that could be made to enhance their connection between nature and PA. For example, participants highlighted the need for increased community promotion and stated if they were aware of more options within their communities, such as walking trails or organized events, they would be more open to attending as there would be other people there. Finally, participants discussed their desires to share results with other girls and women. Participants discussed how the results from this study might allow younger girls to feel more confident to go outside, to explore, or be active.

Summary

In summary, this research provided an opportunity to better understand how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and PA is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes. By participating in this study adolescent girls were able to express their perspectives regarding their relationship with nature and PA. Additionally, this work provided a safe space for participants to highlight specific stereotypes they face regarding nature and PA. Although this study may not change policy or the way we deliver information, it adds to the growing body of knowledge and may act as a template for future research on this area. Health promotion should continue working to understand the influence of stereotypes and should consider nature and PA implications when addressing health disparities and social determinants of health.

References

- Alley, T., & Hicks, C. (2005). Peer Attitudes Towards Adolescents Participants in Male-and Female-Oriented Sports. *Adolescence*, 40, 273–280.
- Allison, K. R., Dwyer, J. J. M., Goldenberg, E., Fein, A., Yoshida, K. K., & Boutilier, M. (2005).
 Male Adolescents' Reasons for Participating in Physical Activity, Barriers to
 Participation, and Suggestions for Increasing Participation. *Adolescence*, 40(157), 155–170.
- Alston, M. (2013). Women and adaptation. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, *4*(5), 351–358.
- Appleton, J. V., & King, L. (1997). Constructivism: A naturalistic methodology for nursing inquiry. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *20*(2), 13–22.
- Ardener, S. (1975). Perceiving Women. Malaby Press.
- Armstrong, S., Wong, C. A., Perrin, E., Page, S., Sibley, L., & Skinner, A. (2018). Association of physical activity with income, race/ethnicity, and sex among adolescents and young adults in the United States: Findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2007-2016. *Jama Pediatrics*, *172*(8), 732–740. https://doi.org/doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1273
- Astell-Burt, T., Feng, X., & Kolt, G. S. (2014). Greener neighborhoods, slimmer people?
 Evidence from 246 920 Australians. *International Journal of Obesity*, *38*(1), 156–159. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2013.64
- Azzarito, L. (2009). The Panopticon of physical education: Pretty, active and ideally white.
 Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy, *14*(1), 19–39.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/17408980701712106

Azzarito, L. (2012). Photography as a pedagogical tool for shedding light on 'bodies-at-risk' in physical culture. *Visual Studies*, 27(3), 295–309.
https://doi.org/10.1080/1472586X.2012.717746

Azzarito, L., Solmon, M. A., & Harrison, L. (2006). "...If I Had a Choice, I Would...." A Feminist Poststructuralist Perspective on Girls in Physical Education. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 77(2), 222–239.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2006.10599356

- Azzarito, L., & Solomon, M. A. (2005). A reconceptualization of physical education: The intersection of gender/race/social class. *Sport, Education and Society*, 10(1), 25–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/135733205200028794</u>
- Baah, F. O., Teitelman, A. M., & Riegel, B. (2019). Marginalization: Conceptualizing patient vulnerabilities in the framework of social determinants of health—An integrative review. *Nursing Inquiry*, *26*(1), e12268. https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/nin.12268
- Babey, S. H., Tan, D., Wolstein, J., & Diamant, A. L. (2015). Neighborhood, family and individual characteristics related to adolescent park-based physical activity. *Preventive Medicine: An International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory*, 76, 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.04.001
- Barfield, P. A., Ridder, K., Hughes, J., & Rice-McNeil, K. (2021). Get outside! Promoting adolescent health through outdoor after-school activity. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(14), 7223. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18147223

- Bedimo-Rung, A. L., Mowen, A. J., & Cohen, D. A. (2005). The significance of parks to physical activity and public health: A conceptual model. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 28(2, Supplement 2), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2004.10.024
- Beltrán-Carrillo, V. J., Devís-Devís, J., & Peiró-Velert, C. (2018). The influence of body discourses on adolescents' (non)participation in physical activity. *Sport, Education and Society*, 23(3), 257–269. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2016.1178109
- Bento, G., & Dias, G. (2017). The importance of outdoor play for young children's healthy development. *Porto Biomedical Journal*, 2(5), 157–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbj.2017.03.003
- Berman, M. G., Jonides, J., & Kaplan, S. (2008). The cognitive benefits of interacting with nature. *Psychological Science*, 19(12), 1207–1212. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02225.x
- Berman, M. G., Kross, E., Krpan, K. M., Askren, M. K., Burson, A., Deldin, P. J., Kaplan, S., Sherdell, L., Gotlib, I. H., & Jonides, J. (2012). Interacting with nature improves cognition and affect for individuals with depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *140*(3), 300–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.03.012
- Bevan, N., Drummond, C., Abery, L., Elliott, S., Pennesi, J.-L., Prichard, I., Lewis, L. K., & Drummond, M. (2021). More opportunities, same challenges: Adolescent girls in sports that are traditionally constructed as masculine. *Sport, Education and Society*, *26*(6), 592–605. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2020.1768525
- Beyer, K. M. M., Szabo, A., Hoormann, K., & Stolley, M. (2018). Time spent outdoors, activity levels, and chronic disease among American adults. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *41*(4), 494–503. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-018-9911-1

- Bilton, H. (2010). Outdoor Learning in the Early Years: Management and Innovation (3rd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203860137
- Birch, J., Rishbeth, C., & Payne, S. R. (2020). Nature doesn't judge you how urban nature supports young people's mental health and wellbeing in a diverse UK city. *Health & Place*, 62, 102296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2020.102296
- Birman, D. (2006). Ethical issues in research with immigrants and refugees. *The Handbook of Ethical Research with Ethnocultural Populations and Communities*, 155–177.
- Bixby, H., Hodgson, S., Fortunato, L., Hansell, A., & Fecht, D. (2015). Associations between
 Green Space and Health in English Cities: An Ecological, Cross-Sectional Study. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(3), e0119495. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119495
- Blau, F. D., & Winkler, A. E. (2017). Women, work, and family. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Bojorquez, I., & Ojeda-Revah, L. (2018). Urban public parks and mental health in adult women:
 Mediating and moderating factors. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 64(7),
 637–646. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764018795198
- Bordo, S. (2004). Unbearable Weight: Feminism, Western Culture, and the Body. University of California Press.
- Bound Alberti, F. (2021). Fat shaming, feminism and Facebook: What 'women who eat on tubes' reveal about social media and the boundaries of women's bodies. *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, *24*(6), 1304–1318.

https://doi.org/10.1177/13675494211055499

- Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a Qualitative Description Approach in Health Care Research. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, *4*, 2333393617742282. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(4), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021a). Can I use TA? Should I use TA? Should I not use TA?
 Comparing reflexive thematic analysis and other pattern-based qualitative analytic approaches. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 21(1), 37–47.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12360
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021b). Conceptual and design thinking for thematic analysis. *Qualitative Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000196
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021c). One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 18(3), 328–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238</u>
- Brenner, J. S., LaBotz, M., Sugimoto, D., & Stracciolini, A. (2019). The psychosocial implications of sport specialization in pediatric athletes. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 54(10), 1021–1029. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-394-18
- Brisolara, S., Seigart, D., & SenGupta, S. (2014). *Feminist evaluation and research: Theory and practice*. Guilford Publications.

- Britton, E., Kindermann, G., Domegan, C., & Carlin, C. (2020). Blue care: A systematic review of blue space interventions for health and wellbeing. *Health Promotion International*, 35(1), 50–69. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/day103
- Brockman, R., Jago, R., & Fox, K. R. (2011). Children's active play: Self-reported motivators, barriers and facilitators. *BMC Public Health*, 11(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-461
- Brussoni, M., Lin, Y., Han, C., Janssen, I., Schuurman, N., Boyes, R., Swanlund, D., & Mâsse,
 L. C. (2020). A qualitative investigation of unsupervised outdoor activities for 10-to 13year-old children:"I like adventuring but I don't like adventuring without being careful." *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 70, 101460. https://dx.doi.org/10.14288/1.0395907Carver
- Buijs, A. E., Elands, B. H., & Langers, F. (2009). No wilderness for immigrants: Cultural differences in images of nature and landscape preferences. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *91*(3), 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.12.003
- Burnette, C. B., Kwitowski, M. A., & Mazzeo, S. E. (2017). "I don't need people to tell me I'm pretty on social media:" A qualitative study of social media and body image in early adolescent girls. *Body Image*, 23, 114–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2017.09.001
- Burr, V. (2015). *Social Constructionism* (3rd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315715421
- Caelli, K., Ray, L., & Mill, J. (2003). 'Clear as Mud': Toward Greater Clarity in Generic Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200201

- Capaldi, C. A., Dopko, R. L., & Zelenski, J. M. (2014). The relationship between nature connectedness and happiness: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00976
- Capaldi, C. A., Passmore, H.-A., Nisbet, E. K., Zelenski, J. M., & Dopko, R. L. (2015).
 Flourishing in nature: A review of the benefits of connecting with nature and its application as a wellbeing intervention. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 5(4).
 https://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v5i4.1
- Carr, D. S., & Williams, D. R. (1993). Understanding the role of ethnicity in outdoor recreation experiences. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *25*(1), 22–38.
- Carver, A., Timperio, A., Hesketh, K., & Crawford, D. (2012). How does perceived risk mediate associations between perceived safety and parental restriction of adolescents' physical activity in their neighborhood?. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 9(101217089), 57. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1186/1479-5868-9-57
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017, December 11). *CDC Healthy Places— Healthy Places Terminology*. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/terminology.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL)* [Centers for Disease Control and Prevention]. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Division of Population Health. https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/wellbeing.htm#three
- Cervinka, R., Röderer, K., & Hefler, E. (2012). Are nature lovers happy? On various indicators of well-being and connectedness with nature. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *17*(3), 379–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105311416873

- Chaparro, M. P., Bilfield, A., & Theall, K. P. (2019). Exposure to Neighborhood Crime Is Associated with Lower Levels of Physical Activity and Higher Obesity Risk among Adolescent Girls, but Not Boys. *Childhood Obesity*, *15*(2), 87–92. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2018.0165
- Chawla, L., Keena, K., Pevec, I., & Stanley, E. (2014). Green schoolyards as havens from stress and resources for resilience in childhood and adolescence. *Health & Place*, *28*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.03.001
- Cheesbrough, A. E., Garvin, T., & Nykiforuk, C. I. (2019). Everyday wild: Urban natural areas, health, and well-being. *Health & Place*, 56, 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.01.005
- Chillón, P., Martínez-Gómez, D., Ortega, F. B., Pérez-López, I. J., Díaz, L. E., Veses, A. M., Veiga, O. L., Marcos, A., & Delgado-Fernández, M. (2013). Six-Year Trend in Active Commuting to School in Spanish Adolescents: The AVENA and AFINOS Studies. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *20*(4), 529–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-012-9267-9
- Christiana, R. W., Besenyi, G. M., Gustat, J., Horton, T. H., Penbrooke, T. L., & Schultz, C. L.
 (2021). A scoping review of the health benefits of nature-based physical activity. *Journal of Healthy Eating and Active Living*, 1(3), 142–160.
 https://doi.org/10.51250/jheal.v1i3.25

Clark, M. I., Spence, J. C., & Holt, N. L. (2011). In the shoes of young adolescent girls:
Understanding physical activity experiences through interpretive description. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 3(2), 193–210.
https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2011.572180

Cobar, A. G. C., Borromeo, M. C. B., Agcaoili, J. K. M., & Rodil, A. M. T. (2017). Acute effect of birdwatching on mood states of senior high school students in the physical education setting. *Ovidius University Annals, Series Physical Education and Sport/Science, Movement and Health*, 17(1), 18+. Gale Academic OneFile.

Coen, S. E., Mitchell, C. A., Tillmann, S., & Gilliland, J. A. (2019). 'I like the "outernet" stuff:'girls' perspectives on physical activity and their environments. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(5), 599–617. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2018.1561500

- Cohen, D. A., Han, B., Evenson, K. R., Nagel, C., McKenzie, T. L., Marsh, T., Williamson, S., & Harnik, P. (2017). The Prevalence and Use of Walking Loops in Neighborhood Parks: A National Study. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *125*(2), 170–174. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP293
- Colley, R., Carson, V., Garriguet, D., Janssen, I., Roberts, K., & Tremblay, M. (2017). Physical activity of Canadian children and youth, 2007 to 2015. *Health Reports*, *28*, 8–16.
- Connell, R. W., & Messerschmidt, J. W. (2005). Hegemonic Masculinity: Rethinking the Concept. *Gender and Society*, 19(6), 829–859. JSTOR. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/0891243205278639
- Conroy, N. E. (2013). Rethinking Adolescent Peer Sexual Harassment: Contributions of Feminist Theory. *Journal of School Violence*, 12(4), 340–356. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2013.813391
- Coyne, S. M., Rogers, A. A., Zurcher, J. D., Stockdale, L., & Booth, M. (2020). Does time spent using social media impact mental health?: An eight year longitudinal study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 104, 106160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.106160

- Crespo, C. J., Smit, E., Andersen, R. E., Carter-Pokras, O., & Ainsworth, B. E. (2000).
 Race/ethnicity, social class and their relation to physical inactivity during leisure time:
 Results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–1994. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 18(1), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0749-3797(99)00105-1
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). The selection of a research approach. Research design. In *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* (5th ed., pp. 3–24). SAGE Publications. https://books.google.ca/books?id=s4ViswEACAAJ
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Choosing Among Five Approaches. In *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Crimmins, E. M., Shim, H., Zhang, Y. S., & Kim, J. K. (2019). Differences between Men and Women in Mortality and the Health Dimensions of the Morbidity Process. *Clinical Chemistry*, 65(1), 135–145. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2018.288332
- Culp, R. H. (1998). Adolescent Girls and Outdoor Recreation: A Case Study Examining
 Constraints and Effective Programming. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *30*(3), 356–379.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.1998.11949838
- Currie, D., & Wiesenberg, S. (2003). Promoting women's health-seeking behavior: Research and the empowerment of women. *Health Care for Women International*, 24(10), 880–899. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399330390244257
- Dankoski, M. E. (2000). What makes research feminist? *Journal of Feminist Family Therapy*, *12*(1), 3–19. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1300/J086v12n01_02

- Davidson, P. M., McGrath, S. J., Meleis, A. I., Stern, P., DiGiacomo, M., Dharmendra, T.,
 Correa-de-Araujo, R., Campbell, J. C., Hochleitner, M., Messias, D. K. H., Brown, H.,
 Teitelman, A., Sindhu, S., Reesman, K., Richter, S., Sommers, M. S., Schaeffer, D.,
 Stringer, M., Sampselle, C., ... Krassen Covan, E. (2011). The Health of Women and
 Girls Determines the Health and Well-Being of Our Modern World: A White Paper From
 the International Council on Women's Health Issues. *Health Care for Women International*, *32*(10), 870–886. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2011.603872
- De la Fuente, F., Saldías, M. A., Cubillos, C., Mery, G., Carvajal, D., Bowen, M., & Bertoglia,
 M. P. (2021). Green Space Exposure Association with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus, Physical Activity, and Obesity: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18010097
- Dennis, B. P., & Neese, J. B. (2000). Recruitment and retention of African American elders into community-based research: Lessons learned. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 14(1), 3– 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0883-9417(00)80003-5
- Dennis, M. K., & Bell, F. M. (2020). Indigenous women, water protectors, and reciprocal responsibilities. *Social Work*, *65*(4), 378–386. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swaa033
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2011). In The Sage handbook of qualitative research. sage.
- DeVault, M. L., & Gross, G. (2012). Feminist qualitative interviewing: Experience, talk, and knowledge. In S. N. Hesse-Biber, *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis* (2nd ed., pp. 173–197). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- DeVille, N. V., Tomasso, L. P., Stoddard, O. P., Wilt, G. E., Horton, T. H., Wolf, K. L., Brymer,E., Kahn Jr, P. H., & James, P. (2021). Time spent in nature is associated with increased

pro-environmental attitudes and behaviors. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(14), 7498. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18147498

- Diamond, L. M. (2020). Gender fluidity and nonbinary gender identities among children and adolescents. *Child Development Perspectives*, 14(2), 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12366
- DiCicco-Bloom, B., & Crabtree, B. F. (2006). The qualitative research interview. *Medical Education*, 40(4), 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x
- Dickson, C. (2008). What is a girl's experience of physical activity? A qualitative descriptive study [Thesis, Auckland University of Technology]. https://openrepository.aut.ac.nz/handle/10292/470
- Ding, D., Bracy, N. L., Sallis, J. F., Saelens, B. E., Norman, G. J., Harris, S. K., Durant, N., Rosenberg, D., & Kerr, J. (2012). Is fear of strangers related to physical activity among youth?. *American Journal of Health Promotion : AJHP*, 26(3), 189–195. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.100701-QUAN-224
- Doherty, S. T., Lemieux, C. J., & Canally, C. (2014). Tracking human activity and well-being in natural environments using wearable sensors and experience sampling. *Social Science & Medicine*, *106*, 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.01.048
- Donovan, G. H., Butry, D. T., Michael, Y. L., Prestemon, J. P., Liebhold, A. M., Gatziolis, D., & Mao, M. Y. (2013). The Relationship Between Trees and Human Health. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 44(2), 139–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.09.066

- Doucet, S. A., Letourneau, N. L., & Stoppard, J. M. (2010). Contemporary Paradigms for Research Related to Women's Mental Health. *Health Care for Women International*, 31(4), 296–312. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399330903518509
- Dowd, A. J., Harden, S. M., & Beauchamp, M. R. (2015). Adolescent girls' experiences in the Go Girls! Group-based lifestyle mentoring program. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 39(2), 267–276. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.39.2.13
- Dowdell, K., Gray, T., & Malone, K. (2011). Nature and its influence on children's outdoor play. *Journal of Outdoor and Environmental Education*, 15(2), 24–35.
- Dumith, S. C., Gigante, D. P., Domingues, M. R., & Kohl, H. W. (2011). Physical activity change during adolescence: A systematic review and a pooled analysis. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 40(3), 685–698. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyq272
- Dunton, G. F., Berrigan, D., Ballard-Barbash, R., Perna, F. M., Graubard, B. I., & Atienza, A. A. (2010). Adolescents' Sports and Exercise Environments in a U.S. Time Use Survey. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 39(2), 122–129.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2010.03.022
- Dunton, G. F., Whalen, C. K., Jamner, L. D., & Floro, J. N. (2007). Mapping the social and physical contexts of physical activity across adolescence using ecological momentary assessment. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 34(2), 144–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02872669
- Dworkin, S. L. (2001). "Holding back": Negotiating a glass ceiling on women's muscular strength. *Sociological Perspectives*, *44*(3), 333–350.

- Dwyer, J. J. M., Allison, K. R., Goldenberg, E. R., Fein, A. J., & al, et. (2006). Adolescent Girls' Perceived Barriers to Participation in Physical Activity. *Adolescence*, 41(161), 75–89.
- Dyment, J. E., & Bell, A. C. (2007). Grounds for movement: Green school grounds as sites for promoting physical activity. *Health Education Research*, 23(6), 952–962. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cym059
- Eagly, A. H., Nater, C., Miller, D. I., Kaufmann, M., & Sczesny, S. (2020). Gender stereotypes have changed: A cross-temporal meta-analysis of US public opinion polls from 1946 to 2018. *American Psychologist*, 75(3), 301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/amp0000494
- Edell, D. (2013). "Say it how it is": Urban teenage girls challenge and perpetuate stereotypes through writing and performing theatre. *Youth Theatre Journal*, *27*(1), 51–62. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/08929092.2012.722903
- Eddolls, W. T. B., McNarry, M. A., Lester, L., Winn, C. O. N., Stratton, G., & Mackintosh, K.
 A. (2018). The association between physical activity, fitness and body mass index on mental well-being and quality of life in adolescents. *Quality of Life Research*, 27(9), 2313–2320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-018-1915-3
- Edwards, M. J., Jago, R., Sebire, S. J., Kesten, J. M., Pool, L., & Thompson, J. L. (2015). The influence of friends and siblings on the physical activity and screen viewing behaviours of children aged 5–6 years: A qualitative analysis of parent interviews. *BMJ Open*, 5(5), e006593. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006593
- Eide, P., & Allen, C. B. (2005). Recruiting Transcultural Qualitative Research Participants: A Conceptual Model. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 4(2), 44–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690500400204

- Evans, B. (2006). 'I'd Feel Ashamed': Girls' Bodies and Sports Participation. *Gender, Place & Culture*, *13*(5), 547–561. https://doi.org/10.1080/09663690600858952
- Evans, K., & Anderson, D. M. (2018). 'It's never turned me back': Female mountain guides' constraint negotiation. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 21(1), 9–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/11745398.2016.1250649

Faber Taylor, A., & Kuo, F. E. (2009). Children with attention deficits concentrate better after walk in the park. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 12(5), 402–409. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054708323000

- Ferreira, I., Van Der Horst, K., Wendel-Vos, W., Kremers, S., Van Lenthe, F. J., & Brug, J. (2007). Environmental correlates of physical activity in youth–a review and update. *Obesity Reviews*, 8(2), 129–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2006.00264.x
- Floyd, M. F., Bocarro, J. N., Smith, W. R., Baran, P. K., Moore, R. C., Cosco, N. G., Edwards,
 M. B., Suau, L. J., & Fang, K. (2011). Park-Based Physical Activity Among Children and
 Adolescents. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *41*(3), 258–265.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.04.013Ge
- Fromel, K., Kudlacek, M., Groffik, D., Svozil, Z., Simunek, A., & Garbaciak, W. (2017). Promoting healthy lifestyle and well-being in adolescents through outdoor physical activity. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(5), 533. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14050533
- Garnier, J., Savic, S., Boriani, E., Bagnol, B., Häsler, B., & Kock, R. (2020). Helping to heal nature and ourselves through human-rights-based and gender-responsive One Health.
 One Health Outlook, 2(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42522-020-00029-0

- Garrett, R. (2004). Negotiating a physical identity: Girls, bodies and physical education. *Sport, Education and Society*, 9(2), 223–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/1357332042000233958
- Gentile, A., Boca, S., & Giammusso, I. (2018). 'You play like a Woman!' Effects of gender stereotype threat on Women's performance in physical and sport activities: A metaanalysis. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 39, 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.07.013
- Gentin, S. (2011). Outdoor recreation and ethnicity in Europe—A review. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, *10*(3), 153–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2011.05.002
- Ghimire, R., Green, G. T., Poudyal, N. C., & Cordell, H. K. (2014). An analysis of perceived constraints to outdoor recreation. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 32(4), 52–67.
- Giles, A. (2013). Women's and girls' participation in Dene games in the Northwest Territories.In J. Forsyth & A. R. Giles, *Aboriginal peoples and sport in Canada* (pp. 145–205). UBC Press.
- Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: Interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, 204(6), 291– 295. https://doi.org/10.1038/bdj.2008.192
- Ginsburg, K. R., Communications, C. on, & Health, C. on P. A. of C. and F. (2007). The importance of play in promoting healthy child development and maintaining strong parent-child bonds. *Pediatrics*, 119(1), 182–191. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-2697
- Gladwell, V. F., Brown, D. K., Wood, C., Sandercock, G. R., & Barton, J. L. (2013). The great outdoors: How a green exercise environment can benefit all. *Extreme Physiology & Medicine*, 2(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-7648-2-3

- Gledhill, D. G., & James, P. (2008). *Rethinking urban blue spaces from a landscape perspective: Species, scale and the human element.*
- Godman, M. (2018). Gender as a historical kind: A tale of two genders? *Biology & Philosophy*, *33*(3), 1–16.
- Godtman Kling, K., Margaryan, L., & Fuchs, M. (2020). (In) equality in the outdoors: Gender perspective on recreation and tourism media in the Swedish mountains. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 23(2), 233–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2018.1495698
- Gorely, T., Holroyd, R., & Kirk, D. (2003). Muscularity, the habitus and the social construction of gender: Towards a gender-relevant physical education. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 24(4), 429–448. https://doi-

org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/01425690301923

- Government of Canada, C. I. of H. R. (2020). *What is gender? What is sex? CIHR*. https://cihrirsc.gc.ca/e/48642.html
- Graneheim, U. H., & Lundman, B. (2004). Qualitative content analysis in nursing research:
 Concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Education Today*, 24(2), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001
- Gray, C., Gibbons, R., Larouche, R., Sandseter, E. B. H., Bienenstock, A., Brussoni, M., Chabot, G., Herrington, S., Janssen, I., Pickett, W., Power, M., Stanger, N., Sampson, M., & Tremblay, M. S. (2015). What Is the Relationship between Outdoor Time and Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, and Physical Fitness in Children? A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *12*(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120606455

- Green, G., Bowker, M., Wang, X.-F., Cordell, K., & Johnson, C. (2012). A national study of constraints to participation in outdoor recreational activities. *In: Cordell, H. Ken, Ed.* 2012. Outdoor Recreation Trends and Futures. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-150. Asheville, NC: US Department of Agriculture Forest Service. Southern Research Station. 70-74., 150, 70–74.
- Green, J., & Thorogood, N. (2013). Qualitative Methodology and Health Research. Chap 1. In *Qualitative Methods for Health Research* (3rd ed., pp. 3–34). SAGE Publications. https://books.google.ca/books?id=qg0tAgAAQBAJ
- Green, K., & Keltner, D. (2017). What Happens When We Reconnect with Nature. *The Greater Good Science Center at the University of California, Berkeley, March, 1.*
- Grellier, J., White, M. P., Albin, M., Bell, S., Elliott, L. R., Gascón, M., Gualdi, S., Mancini, L., Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J., Sarigiannis, D. A., van den Bosch, M., Wolf, T., Wuijts, S., & Fleming, L. E. (2017). BlueHealth: A study programme protocol for mapping and quantifying the potential benefits to public health and well-being from Europe's blue spaces. *BMJ Open*, 7(6), e016188. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016188
- Griffin, P. (1998). *Strong women, deep closets: Lesbians and homophobia in sport*. Human Kinetics Publishers.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1982). Epistemological and Methodological Bases of Naturalistic Inquiry. Educational Communication and Technology: A Journal of Theory, Research, and Development, 30(4), 233–252.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. *Handbook of Qualitative Research*, *2*(163–194), 105.

- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2018). Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: A pooled analysis of 358 population-based surveys with 1.9 million participants. *The Lancet Global Health*, *6*(10), e1077–e1086. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30357-7
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2020). Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: A pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, *4*(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30323-2
- Haines, E. L., Deaux, K., & Lofaro, N. (2016). The Times They Are a-Changing ... or Are They Not? A Comparison of Gender Stereotypes, 1983–2014. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 40(3), 353–363. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684316634081
- Hakoköngäs, E., & Puhakka, R. (2021). Happiness from nature? Adolescents' conceptions of the relation between happiness and nature in Finland. *Leisure Sciences*, 1–20. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/01490400.2021.1877584
- Harrison, L. A., & Lynch, A. B. (2005). Social role theory and the perceived gender role orientation of athletes. *Sex Roles*, 52(3–4), 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-005-1297-1
- Hasa. (2022, April). *Difference Between Mental and Emotional Health*. PEDIAA. https://pediaa.com/difference-between-mental-and-emotional-health/
- Hayball, F., McCrorie, P., Kirk, A., Gibson, A.-M., & Ellaway, A. (2018). Exploring children's perceptions of their local environment in relation to time spent outside. *Children & Society*, 32(1), 14–26. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1111/chso.12217

- Hayes, K., & Poland, B. (2018). Addressing mental health in a changing climate: Incorporating mental health indicators into climate change and health vulnerability and adaptation assessments. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(9), 1806.
- Heise, L., Greene, M. E., Opper, N., Stavropoulou, M., Harper, C., Nascimento, M., Zewdie, D., Darmstadt, G. L., Greene, M. E., Hawkes, S., Heise, L., Henry, S., Heymann, J., Klugman, J., Levine, R., Raj, A., & Rao Gupta, G. (2019). Gender inequality and restrictive gender norms: Framing the challenges to health. *The Lancet*, *393*(10189), 2440–2454. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30652-X
- Henderson, K. A., & Shaw, S. M. (2006). Leisure and gender: Challenges and opportunities for feminist research. In *A handbook of leisure studies* (pp. 216–230). Springer.
- Hentschel, T., Heilman, M. E., & Peus, C. V. (2019). The multiple dimensions of gender stereotypes: A current look at men's and women's characterizations of others and themselves. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00011
- Herrington, S., & Brussoni, M. (2015). Beyond Physical Activity: The Importance of Play and Nature-Based Play Spaces for Children's Health and Development. *Current Obesity Reports*, 4(4), 477–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-015-0179-2
- Hesse-Biber, S. N. (2013). *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis*. Thousand Oakes, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Hesse-Biber, S. N., & Leavy, P. L. (2007). *Feminist research practice: A primer* (pp. xix, 371). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hill, T. A. (2014). 'It's more than a game': Young women's experiences with physical activity as a means for resilience throughout adolescence. *Education Matters: The Journal of*

Teaching and Learning, 2(2), Article 2.

https://journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/index.php/em/article/view/62956

- Hively, K., & El-Alayli, A. (2014). "You throw like a girl:" The effect of stereotype threat on women's athletic performance and gender stereotypes. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 15(1), 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.09.001
- Ho, C., Sasidharan, V., Elmendorf, W., Willits, F. K., Graefe, A., & Godbey, G. (2005). Gender and ethnic variations in urban park preferences, visitation, and perceived benefits. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 37(3), 281–306. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/00222216.2005.11950054
- Hodge, B. (2012). Ideology, Identity, Interaction: Contradictions and Challenges for Critical Discourse Analysis. *Critical Approaches to Discourse Analysis across Disciplines*, *5*(2).
- Humbert, M. L., Chad, K. E., Bruner, M. W., Spink, K. S., Muhajarine, N., Anderson, K. D.,
 Girolami, T. M., Odnokon, P., & Gryba, C. R. (2008). Using a Naturalistic Ecological
 Approach to Examine the Factors Influencing Youth Physical Activity Across Grades 7
 to 12. *Health Education & Behavior*, *35*(2), 158–173.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198106287451
- Hunter, R., Cleary, A., Cleland, C., & Braubach, M. (2017). Urban green space interventions and health: A review of impacts and effectiveness. Full report. World Health Organisation.
- Hunter, S., Leatherdale, S. T., Storey, K., & Carson, V. (2016). A quasi-experimental examination of how school-based physical activity changes impact secondary school student moderate- to vigorous- intensity physical activity over time in the COMPASS

study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity*, *13*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-016-0411-9

Institute of Physics. (2018). Gender stereotypes and their effect on young people. IOP.

- Jackson, E. L., & Henderson, K. A. (1995). Gender-based analysis of leisure constraints. *Leisure Sciences*, 17(1), 31–51.
- Jago, R., Brockman, R., Fox, K. R., Cartwright, K., Page, A. S., & Thompson, J. L. (2009). Friendship groups and physical activity: Qualitative findings on how physical activity is initiated and maintained among 10–11 year old children. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 6(1), 1–9. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1186/1479-5868-6-4
- James, S., Herman, J., Rankin, S., Keisling, M., Mottet, L., & Anafi, M. (2016). *The report of the* 2015 US transgender survey.
- Janha, R. E., Hardy-Johnson, P., Kehoe, S. H., Mendy, M. B., Camara, I., Jarjou, L., Ward, K., Moore, S. E., Fall, C., Barker, M., Weller, S., & TALENT collaboration. (2020).
 Exploring influences on adolescent diet and physical activity in rural Gambia, West Africa: Food insecurity, culture and the natural environment. *Public Health Nutrition*, *9808463, dgy*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020002669
- Janssen, I., & LeBlanc, A. G. (2010). Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-7-40

- Jenkinson, B., Kruske, S., & Kildea, S. (2017). The experiences of women, midwives and obstetricians when women decline recommended maternity care: A feminist thematic analysis. *Midwifery*, 52, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2017.05.006
- Jiang, B., Mak, C. N. S., Zhong, H., Larsen, L., & Webster, C. J. (2018). From broken windows to perceived routine activities: Examining impacts of environmental interventions on perceived safety of urban alleys. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2450. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02450
- Jimenez, M. P., DeVille, N. V., Elliott, E. G., Schiff, J. E., Wilt, G. E., Hart, J. E., & James, P. (2021). Associations between Nature Exposure and Health: A Review of the Evidence. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094790
- Johnson, C. Y., Bowker, J. M., Bergstrom, J. C., & Ken Cordell, H. (2004). Wilderness values in America: Does immigrant status or ethnicity matter? *Society and Natural Resources*, *17*(7), 611–628. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/08941920490466585
- Johnstone, A., McCrorie, P., Cordovil, R., Fjørtoft, I., Iivonen, S., Jidovtseff, B., Lopes, F., Reilly, J. J., Thomson, H., Wells, V., & Martin, A. (2022). Nature-Based Early Childhood Education and Children's Physical Activity, Sedentary Behavior, Motor Competence, and Other Physical Health Outcomes: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *19*(6), 456–472. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2021-0760
- Jung, H. (2019). The Evolution of Social Constructivism in Political Science: Past to Present. *SAGE Open*, 9(1), 2158244019832703. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019832703

- Kaczynski, A. T., Stanis, S. A. W., Hastmann, T. J., & Besenyi, G. M. (2011). Variations in Observed Park Physical Activity Intensity Level by Gender, Race, and Age: Individual and Joint Effects. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, S151–S160. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.8.s2.s151
- Kaijser, A., & Kronsell, A. (2014). Climate change through the lens of intersectionality. *Environmental Politics*, 23(3), 417–433.
- Kalms, N. (2019). *To design safer parks for women, city planners must listen to their stories*. The Conversation. <u>http://theconversation.com/to-design-safer-parks-for-women-city-planners-must-listen-to-their-stories-98317</u>
- Kamičaitytė, J., Gražulevičiūtė-Vileniškė, I., & Gadal, S. (2020). Role of multicultural identity in landscape perception and methodological possibilities of its interdisciplinary analysis. *Landscape Architecture and Art*, 15, 65–74.
- Kayes, N. M., McPherson, K. M., Taylor, D., Schlüter, P. J., & Kolt, G. S. (2011). Facilitators and barriers to engagement in physical activity for people with multiple sclerosis: A qualitative investigation. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 33(8), 625–642. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2010.505992
- Keniger, L. E., Gaston, K. J., Irvine, K. N., & Fuller, R. A. (2013). What are the benefits of interacting with nature? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(3), 913–935. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10030913
- Kenney, W. L., Wilmore, J. H., & Costill, D. L. (2015). *Physiology of Sport and Exercise*. Human Kinetics.

- Khajavei, N. (2017). Women and the Wilderness: A Review of Barriers to Participation, Current Coping Strategies, and Guidance for Future Programs. *University Honors Theses*. https://doi.org/10.15760/honors.459
- Khan, M. R. (2021). Women and Sports: View from Stereotyping and Gender Differentials Perspectives. *Journal of Sports and Physical Education Studies*, 1(1), 01–04. https://doi.org/10.32996/jspes.2021.1.1.1
- Kilgour, L., & Parker, A. (2013). Gender, physical activity and fear: Women, exercise and the great outdoors. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 5(1), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2012.718619
- Kimm, S., Glynn, N., Kriska, A., Barton, B., Kronsberg, S., Daniels, S., Crawford, P., Sabry, Z., & Liu, K. (2002). Decline in Physical Activity in Black Girls and White Girls during Adolescence. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *347*(10), 709–715. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa003277
- Kimm, S., Glynn, N., Mcmahon, R., Voorhees, C., Weissman, R., & Daniels, S. (2006). Self-Perceived Barriers to Activity Participation among Sedentary Adolescent Girls. *Medicine* and Science in Sports and Exercise, 38, 534–540. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000189316.71784.dc
- Kinser, P. A., & Lewis, J. A. (2005). Understanding gender construction: Creating space for feminist health care practice and research. *Health Care for Women International*, 26(5), 422–429. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399330590933953
- Klinker, C. D., Schipperijn, J., Kerr, J., Ersbøll, A. K., & Troelsen, J. (2014). Context-specific outdoor time and physical activity among school-children across gender and age: Using

accelerometers and GPS to advance methods. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *2*, 20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00020

- Knobf, M., Juarez, G., Lee, S.-Y., Sun, V., Sun, Y., & Haozous, E. (2007). Challenges and Strategies in Recruitment of Ethnically Diverse Populations for Cancer Nursing Research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *34*, 1187–1194. https://doi.org/10.1188/07.ONF.1187-1194
- Koenig, A. M. (2018). Comparing prescriptive and descriptive gender stereotypes about children, adults, and the elderly. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1086.
- Koenig, A. M., & Eagly, A. H. (2014). Evidence for the social role theory of stereotype content:
 Observations of groups' roles shape stereotypes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 107(3), 371. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037215
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kudlacek, M., Fromel, K., & Groffik, D. (2020). Associations between adolescents' preference for fitness activities and achieving the recommended weekly level of physical activity. *Journal of Exercise Science & Fitness*, *18*(1), 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesf.2019.10.001
- Kuo, F. E., & Faber Taylor, A. (2004). A potential natural treatment for attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: Evidence from a national study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94(9), 1580–1586. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.94.9.1580

- Kushner, K. E., & Morrow, R. (2003). Grounded theory, feminist theory, critical theory: Toward theoretical triangulation. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 26(1), 30–43. https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-200301000-00006
- Laird, Y., Fawkner, S., Kelly, P., McNamee, L., & Niven, A. (2016). The role of social support on physical activity behaviour in adolescent girls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 13(1), 1–14. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1186/s12966-016-0405-7
- Laird, Y., Fawkner, S., & Niven, A. (2018). A grounded theory of how social support influences physical activity in adolescent girls. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 13(1), 1435099. https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2018.1435099
- Larson, L. R., Green, G. T., & Cordell, H. K. (2011). Children's Time Outdoors: Results and Implications of the National Kids Survey. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 29(2), 1–20.
- Lavallée, L., & Lévesque, L. (2013). Two-eyed seeing: Physical activity, sport, and recreation promotion in Indigenous communities. In J. Forsyth & A. R. Giles, *Aboriginal peoples* and sport in Canada (pp. 206–208). UBC Press.
- Lee, J., & Macdonald, D. (2010). 'Are they just checking our obesity or what?' The healthism discourse and rural young women. *Sport, Education and Society*, 15(2), 203–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573321003683851
- Lee, J.-H., Scott, D., & Floyd, M. F. (2001). Structural inequalities in outdoor recreation participation: A multiple hierarchy stratification perspective. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 33(4), 427–449. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/00222216.2001.11949953

Lewis, D. R. (1995). Native Americans and the Environment: A Survey of Twentieth-Century Issues. American Indian Quarterly, 19(3), 423–450. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1185599

- Li, K., Haynie, D., Lipsky, L., Iannotti, R. J., Pratt, C., & Simons-Morton, B. (2016). Changes in Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity Among Older Adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 138(4). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1372
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. SAGE.
- Lipari, R. N., & Hedden, S. L. (2014). Serious mental health challenges among older adolescents and young adults. *The CBHSQ Report*.

Little, D. E. (2002). How do women construct adventure recreation in their lives? *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 2(1), 55–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729670285200161

- Liu, H., Nong, H., Ren, H., & Liu, K. (2022). The effect of nature exposure, nature connectedness on mental well-being and ill-being in a general Chinese population. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 222, 104397.
- LoBiondo-Wood, G., & Haber, J. (2014). Reliability and validity. *Nursing Research. Methods* and Critical Appraisal for Evidence Based Practice, 289–309.
- Louv, R. (2009). Do Our Kids Have Nature-Deficit Disorder? *Educational Leadership*, 67(4), 24–30.
- Lucibello, K. M., Koulanova, A., Pila, E., Brunet, J., & Sabiston, C. M. (2021). Exploring adolescent girls' experiences of body talk in non-aesthetic sport. *Journal of Adolescence*, 89, 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2021.04.003

- Lugg, A. (2003). Women's experience of outdoor education: Still trying to be 'one of the boys.' *Whose Journeys*, 33–47.
- Luy, M., & Minagawa, Y. (2014). Gender gaps—Life expectancy and proportion of life in poor health. *Health Reports*, *25*(12), 12–19.

MacBride-Stewart, S., Gong, Y., & Antell, J. (2016). Exploring the interconnections between gender, health and nature. *Public Health*, 141, 279–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2016.09.020

- MacCormack, C., & Strathern, M. (1980). *Nature, culture and gender*. Cambridge University Press.
- Macdonald-Wallis, K., Jago, R., & Sterne, J. A. (2012). Social network analysis of childhood and youth physical activity: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43(6), 636–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.08.021
- Mackenbach, J. P., Valverde, J. R., Bopp, M., Brønnum-Hansen, H., Deboosere, P., Kalediene, R., Kovács, K., Leinsalu, M., Martikainen, P., Menvielle, G., Regidor, E., & Nusselder, W. J. (2019). Determinants of inequalities in life expectancy: An international comparative study of eight risk factors. *The Lancet. Public Health*, *4*(10), e529–e537. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30147-1
- MacKerron, G., & Mourato, S. (2013). Happiness is greater in natural environments. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(5), 992–1000.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.03.010

Maher, J. P., Hevel, D. J., Reifsteck, E. J., & Drollette, E. S. (2021). Physical activity is positively associated with college students' positive affect regardless of stressful life

events during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *52*, 101826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2020.101826

- Martin, L., White, M. P., Hunt, A., Richardson, M., Pahl, S., & Burt, J. (2020). Nature contact, nature connectedness and associations with health, wellbeing and pro-environmental behaviours. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 68, 101389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101389
- Marzi, I., Demetriou, Y., & Reimers, A. K. (2018). Social and physical environmental correlates of independent mobility in children: A systematic review taking sex/gender differences into account. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 17(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-018-0145-9
- Mayer, F. S., & Frantz, C. M. (2004). The connectedness to nature scale: A measure of individuals' feeling in community with nature. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 24(4), 503–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2004.10.001
- Mayer, F. S., Frantz, C. M., Bruehlman-Senecal, E., & Dolliver, K. (2009). Why Is Nature Beneficial?: The Role of Connectedness to Nature. *Environment and Behavior*, 41(5), 607–643. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916508319745
- McAnirlin, O., & Maddox, C. B. (2020). 'We have to be a little more realistic': Women's outdoor recreation experiences in a community hiking group. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 1–17. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/11745398.2020.1820880
- McDermott, L. (2004). Exploring intersections of physicality and female-only canoeing experiences. *Leisure Studies*, 23(3), 283–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/0261436042000253039

- McDougall, S. D., & McGeorge, C. R. (2014). Utilizing women's feminist identities in family therapy: A phenomenological exploration of the meaning women assign to their feminist identities. *Journal of Feminist Family Therapy*, 26(2), 73–98. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/08952833.2014.901867
- McMahan, E. A., & Estes, D. (2015). The effect of contact with natural environments on positive and negative affect: A meta-analysis. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *10*(6), 507– 519. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2014.994224
- McNiel, J. N., Harris, D. A., & Fondren, K. M. (2012). Women and the Wild: Gender Socialization in Wilderness Recreation Advertising. *Gender Issues*, 29(1), 39–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12147-012-9111-1
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). Qualitative Research and Case Study Applications in Education. Revised and Expanded from "Case Study Research in Education." Jossey-Bass Publishers, 350
 Sansome St, San Francisco, CA 94104; phone: 415-433-1740; fax: 800-605-2665; World Wide Web: www.
- Metcalfe, S. (2018). Adolescent constructions of gendered identities: The role of sport and (physical) education. *Sport, Education and Society*, *23*(7), 681–693. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/13573322.2018.1493574
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative Data Analysis: An Expanded Sourcebook*. SAGE.
- Milligan, C., Gatrell, A., & Bingley, A. (2004). 'Cultivating health': Therapeutic landscapes and older people in northern England. *Social Science & Medicine*, 58(9), 1781–1793. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00397-6

- Mitchell, R. (2013). Is physical activity in natural environments better for mental health than physical activity in other environments? *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, *91*, 130–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.04.012
- Mitchell, R., & Popham, F. (2008). Effect of exposure to natural environment on health inequalities: An observational population study. *Lancet (London, England)*, 372(9650), 1655–1660. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61689-X
- Mitra, R., Moore, S. A., Gillespie, M., Faulkner, G., Vanderloo, L. M., Chulak-Bozzer, T.,
 Rhodes, R. E., Brussoni, M., & Tremblay, M. S. (2020). Healthy movement behaviours in children and youth during the COVID-19 pandemic: Exploring the role of the neighbourhood environment. *Health & Place*, 65, N.PAG-N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2020.102418
- Mnich, C., Weyland, S., Jekauc, D., & Schipperijn, J. (2019). Psychosocial and physiological health outcomes of green exercise in children and adolescents—A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(21), 4266.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214266
- Mollett, S. (2017). Environmental struggles are feminist struggles: Feminist political ecology as development critique. In *Feminist Spaces* (pp. 155–187). Routledge.
- Morrow, R., Rodriguez, A., & King, N. (2017). Back to basics: Can unstructured camping promote wellbeing? *Therapeutic Communities: The International Journal of Therapeutic Communities*, 38(1), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1108/TC-08-2016-0016
- Morrow, S. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology.
 Journal of Counseling Psychology, 52(2), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250

Morse, J. M. (2000). Determining Sample Size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 10(1), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973200129118183

Mulvey, K. L., & Killen, M. (2015). Challenging gender stereotypes: Resistance and exclusion. *Child Development*, 86(3), 681–694. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1111/cdev.12317

- Napp, C., & Breda, T. (2022). The stereotype that girls lack talent: A worldwide investigation. *Science Advances*, 8(10), eabm3689. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abm3689
- Neergaard, M. A., Olesen, F., Andersen, R. S., & Sondergaard, J. (2009). Qualitative description

 the poor cousin of health research? *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 9(1), 52.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-9-52
- Neufeld, A., Harrison, M. J., Hughes, K. D., Spitzer, D., & Stewart, M. J. (2001). Participation of Immigrant Women Family Caregivers in Qualitative Research. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 23(6), 575–591. https://doi.org/10.1177/019394590102300604
- Nisbet, E. K., & Zelenski, J. M. (2011). Underestimating Nearby Nature: Affective Forecasting Errors Obscure the Happy Path to Sustainability. *Psychological Science*, *22*(9), 1101– 1106. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611418527
- Nisbet, E. K., Zelenski, J. M., & Grandpierre, Z. (2019). Mindfulness in nature enhances connectedness and mood. *Ecopsychology*, 11(2), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1089/eco.2018.0061
- Nisbet, E. K., Zelenski, J. M., & Murphy, S. A. (2009). The nature relatedness scale: Linking individuals' connection with nature to environmental concern and behavior. *Environment and Behavior*, *41*(5), 715–740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916508318748

- Nusbaum, R., Grubs, R. E., Losee, J. E., Weidman, C., Ford, M. D., & Marazita, M. L. (2008). A Qualitative Description of Receiving a Diagnosis of Clefting in the Prenatal or Postnatal Period. *Journal of Genetic Counseling*, *17*(4), 336–350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-008-9152-5
- Nyvang, J., Hedström, M., & Gleissman, S. A. (2016). It's not just a knee, but a whole life: A qualitative descriptive study on patients' experiences of living with knee osteoarthritis and their expectations for knee arthroplasty. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, *11*(1), 30193. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v11.30193
- Ogilvie, L. D., Burgess-Pinto, E., & Caufield, C. (2008). Challenges and approaches to newcomer health research. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 19(1), 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659607309142
- Oliveira, A., Lopes, L., Abreu, S., Moreira, C., Silva, P., Agostinis-Sobrinho, C., Oliveira-Santos, J., Mota, J., & Santos, R. (2020). Environmental perceptions and its associations with physical fitness and body composition in adolescents: Longitudinal results from the LabMed Physical Activity Study. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine & Health*, *32*(5), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh-2017-0205
- Olivos, P., Aragonés, J. I., & Amérigo, M. (2011). The connectedness to nature scale and its relationship with environmental beliefs and identity. *International Journal of Hispanic Psychology*, 4(1), 5–19.
- Oppliger, J., Lieberherr, E., & Hegetschweiler, K. T. (2019). Factors influencing teenagers' recreational forest use in a densely-populated region in Switzerland. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism*, 27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2019.100225

 Ortiz-Castillo, E. M. (2011). Physical Activity Patterns and Factors Influencing Physical Activity Participation among Adolescents with Physical Disabilities in Urban Communities [Ph.D., The Ohio State University].

https://www.proquest.com/docview/919556867/abstract/3B5A0CC624634884PQ/1

Ortner, S. B. (1974). Is Female to Male as Nature Is to Culture? *Feminist Studies*, *1*(2), 5. https://doi.org/10.2307/3177638

Our Watch. (2018). *Challenging gender stereotypes in the early years: The power of parents*. 41.

- Owen, N., Humpel, N., Leslie, E., Bauman, A., & Sallis, J. F. (2004). Understanding environmental influences on walking: Review and research agenda. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 27(1), 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2004.03.006
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015).
 Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method
 Implementation Research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Parahoo, K. (2014). *Nursing research: Principles, process and issues*. Macmillan International Higher Education.
- Paraschak, V., & Thompson, K. (2014). Finding strength (s): Insights on Aboriginal physical cultural practices in Canada. *Sport in Society*, 17(8), 1046–1060. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2013.838353
- Park, B. J., Tsunetsugu, Y., Kasetani, T., Kagawa, T., & Miyazaki, Y. (2010). The physiological effects of Shinrin-yoku (taking in the forest atmosphere or forest bathing): Evidence from field experiments in 24 forests across Japan. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine*, 15(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12199-009-0086-9

ParticipACTION. (2020). The 2020 ParticipACTION Report card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth. Toronto: ParticipACTION. http://www.participaction.com/sites/default/files/downloads/participaction2020ReportCard -FullReport_4.pdf

Pasanen, T. P., Tyrväinen, L., & Korpela, K. M. (2014). The Relationship between Perceived Health and Physical Activity Indoors, Outdoors in Built Environments, and Outdoors in Nature. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 6(3), 324–346. https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12031

- Pate, R. R., Stevens, J., Webber, L. S., Dowda, M., Murray, D. M., Young, D. R., & Going, S. (2009). Age-Related Change in Physical Activity in Adolescent Girls. *The Journal of Adolescent Health : Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 44(3), 275–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.07.003
- Patton, M. Q. (2014). Purposeful Sampling. In *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (3rd ed., pp. 230–248). Sage publications.
- Pawlowski, C. S., Tjørnhøj-Thomsen, T., Schipperijn, J., & Troelsen, J. (2014). Barriers for recess physical activity: A gender specific qualitative focus group exploration. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-639
- Pearce, S. (2017). Reading (not-) eating in the works of Emily and Charlotte Brontë. *Outskirts: Feminisms along the Edge*, *36*, 1–21.
- Perez, L. G., Conway, T. L., Arredondo, E. M., Elder, J. P., Kerr, J., McKenzie, T. L., & Sallis,
 J. F. (2017). Where and when adolescents are physically active: Neighborhood
 environment and psychosocial correlates and their interactions. *Preventive Medicine: An*

International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory, 105, 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.10.010

- Pikora, T., Giles-Corti, B., Bull, F., Jamrozik, K., & Donovan, R. (2003). Developing a framework for assessment of the environmental determinants of walking and cycling. *Social Science & Medicine*, 56(8), 1693–1703. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00163-6
- Pinch, K. J., Breunig, M., Cosgriff, M., & Dignan, A. (2008). Gender and the Outdoors: An International Conversation. *International Outdoor Recreation and Education Conference*. International Outdoor Recreation and Education Conference. https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/1834
- Ponic, P., Nanjijuma, R., Pederson, A., Poole, N., & Scott, J. (2000). Physical activity for marginalized women in British Columbia: A discussion paper. British Columbia Centre of Excellence for Women's Health.
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2005). Qualitative research in counseling psychology: A primer on research paradigms and philosophy of science. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 126– 136. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.126
- Pratt, B. (2019). Inclusion of marginalized groups and communities in global health research priority-setting. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 14(2), 169– 181.
- Prioreschi, A., & Micklesfield, L. K. (2016). A scoping review examining physical activity measurement and levels in the first 2 years of life. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 42(6), 775–783. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12382

- Pritchard, A., Richardson, M., Sheffield, D., & McEwan, K. (2020). The relationship between nature connectedness and eudaimonic well-being: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 21(3), 1145–1167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00118-6
- Proctor, S., & Allan, T. (2006). Sampling. In *In K. Gerrish & A. Lacey (Eds.), The research process* (pp. 180–190). Oxford.
- Proudfoot, N. A., King-Dowling, S., Cairney, J., Bray, S. R., MacDonald, M. J., & Timmons, B.
 W. (2019). Physical Activity and Trajectories of Cardiovascular Health Indicators During Early Childhood. *Pediatrics*, *144*(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-2242
- Rathus, S. A., Nevid, J. S., & Fichner-Rathus, L. (2013). *Human Sexuality in a World of Diversity*. Pearson. https://books.google.ca/books?id=omuqMQEACAAJ
- Read, J., & Gorman, B. (2010). Gender and Health Inequality. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *36*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102535
- Rasulovna, S. N. (2021). The place of physical training and sports in the life of school students. *Web of Scientist: International Scientific Research Journal*, *2*(04), 306–312.

Reinharz, S. (1992). Feminist Methods in Social Research. New York: Oxford University Press.

Remme, R. P., Frumkin, H., Guerry, A. D., King, A. C., Mandle, L., Sarabu, C., Bratman, G. N., Giles-Corti, B., Hamel, P., Han, B., Hicks, J. L., James, P., Lawler, J. J., Lindahl, T., Liu, H., Lu, Y., Oosterbroek, B., Paudel, B., Sallis, J. F., ... Daily, G. C. (2021). An ecosystem service perspective on urban nature, physical activity, and health. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(22), e2018472118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2018472118

- Richardson, E. A., & Mitchell, R. (2010). Gender differences in relationships between urban green space and health in the United Kingdom. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 71(3), 568–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.04.015
- Richardson, E. A., Pearce, J., Mitchell, R., & Kingham, S. (2013). Role of physical activity in the relationship between urban green space and health. *Public Health*, *127*(4), 318–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2013.01.004
- Richardson, M., Hamlin, I., Butler, C. W., Thomas, R., & Hunt, A. (2022). Actively noticing nature (not just time in nature) helps promote nature connectedness. *Ecopsychology*, *14*(1), 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1089/eco.2021.0023
- Richman, E. L., & Shaffer, D. R. (2000). "If You Let Me Play Sports." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *24*(2), 189–199. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2000.tb00200.x
- Ries, A. V., Gittelsohn, J., Voorhees, C. C., Roche, K. M., Clifton, K. J., & Astone, N. M.
 (2008). The environment and urban adolescents' use of recreational facilities for physical activity: A qualitative study. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 23(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.07043042
- Rišová, K., & Sládeková Madajová, M. (2020). Gender differences in a walking environment safety perception: A case study in a small town of Banská Bystrica (Slovakia). *Journal of Transport Geography*, 85, 102723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2020.102723
- Roberts, A., Hinds, J., & Camic, P. M. (2020). Nature activities and wellbeing in children and young people: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 20(4), 298–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2019.1660195

Roman, C. G., Stodolska, M., Yahner, J., & Shinew, K. (2013). Pathways to outdoor recreation, physical activity, and delinquency among urban Latino adolescents. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 45, 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-012-9418-x

Rosenthal, L., & Overstreet, N. (2016). Stereotyping.

Ross, T. (2019). Media and stereotypes. The Palgrave Handbook of Ethnicity, 397-413.

Rosselli, M., Ermini, E., Tosi, B., Boddi, M., Stefani, L., Toncelli, L., & Modesti, P. A. (2020).
Gender differences in barriers to physical activity among adolescents. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, *30*(9), 1582–1589.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2020.05.005

- Roth, A., & Basow, S. A. (2004). Femininity, Sports, and Feminism: Developing a Theory of Physical Liberation. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, *28*(3), 245–265. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723504266990
- Rothe, E., Holt, C., Kuhn, C., McAteer, T., Askari, I., O'Meara, M., Sharif, A., & Dexter, W.
 (2010). Barriers to outdoor physical activity in wintertime among Somali youth. *Journal* of Immigrant and Minority Health, 12(5), 726–736. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-009-9287-y
- Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2021). Qualitative Interviewing (2nd ed.): The Art of Hearing Data (2nd ed.). https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452226651

Russell, K. M., Maraj, M. S., Wilson, L. R., Shedd-Steele, R., & Champion, V. L. (2008). Barriers to recruiting urban African American women into research studies in community settings. *Applied Nursing Research*, 21(2), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2006.05.001

- Sackett, C. R., Newhart, S., Jenkins, A. M., & Cory, L. (2018). Girls' perspectives of barriers to outdoor physical activity through photovoice: A call for counselor advocacy. *Journal of Creativity in Mental Health*, *13*(1), 2–18. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/15401383.2017.1343166
- Saffer, H., Dave, D., Grossman, M., & Ann Leung, L. (2013). Racial, ethnic, and gender differences in physical activity. *Journal of Human Capital*, 7(4), 378–410. https://doi.org/doi:10.1086/671200
- Sallis, J., Prochaska, J., & Taylor, W. (2000). "A Review of Correlates of Physical Activity of Children and Adolescents." *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 32, 963–975. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200005000-00014
- Sandelowski, M. (1986). The problem of rigor in qualitative research. *ANS. Advances in Nursing Science*, 8(3), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-198604000-00005
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing & Health*, *23*(4), 334–340. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240X(200008)23:4<334::AID-NUR9>3.0.CO;2-G
- Sandelowski, M. (2010). What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *33*(1), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.20362
- Sarmiento, O. L., Rios, A. P., Paez, D. C., Quijano, K., & Fermino, R. C. (2017). The Recreovia of Bogota, a Community-Based Physical Activity Program to Promote Physical Activity among Women: Baseline Results of the Natural Experiment Al Ritmo de las Comunidades. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14060633

- Sasidharan, V. (2001). The urban recreation experience: An examination of multicultural differences in park and forest visitation characteristics. The Pennsylvania State University.
- Schmalz, D. L., & Kerstetter, D. L. (2006). Girlie Girls and Manly Men: Chidren's Stigma Consciousness of Gender in Sports and Physical Activities. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 38(4), 536–557. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2006.11950091
- Schnebly, R. A. (2022). Biological Sex and Gender in the United States. *Embryo Project Encyclopedia*. http://embryo.asu.edu/handle/10776/13338
- Schultz, C. L., Wilhelm Stanis, S. A., Sayers, S. P., Thombs, L. A., & Thomas, I. M. (2017). A longitudinal examination of improved access on park use and physical activity in a lowincome and majority African American neighborhood park. *Preventive Medicine*, 95, S95–S100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.08.036
- Schwandt, T. A. (2000). Three epistemological stances for qualitative inquiry: Interpretivism, hermeneutics, and social constructionism. In *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 189–213). Sage Publications Inc.
- Shan, X.-Z. (2014). Socio-demographic variation in motives for visiting urban green spaces in a large Chinese city. *Habitat International*, 41, 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2013.07.012
- Shanahan, D. F., Franco, L., Lin, B. B., Gaston, K. J., & Fuller, R. A. (2016). The Benefits of Natural Environments for Physical Activity. *Sports Medicine*, 46(7), 989–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0502-4

- Shores, K. A., Scott, D., & Floyd, M. F. (2007). Constraints to outdoor recreation: A multiple hierarchy stratification perspective. *Leisure Sciences*, 29(3), 227–246. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1080/01490400701257948
- Spencer, R. A., Numer, M., Rehman, L., & Kirk, S. F. L. (2021). Picture perfect? Gazing into girls' health, physical activity, and nutrition through photovoice. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2021.1874771
- Spencer, R. A., Rehman, L., & Kirk, S. F. (2015). Understanding gender norms, nutrition, and physical activity in adolescent girls: A scoping review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0166-8
- Stark, L., Seff, I., & Reis, C. (2021). Gender-based violence against adolescent girls in humanitarian settings: A review of the evidence. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 5(3), 210–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30245-5
- Stefko, R., Gavurova, B., Ivankova, V., & Rigelsky, M. (2020). Gender Inequalities in Health and Their Effect on the Economic Prosperity Represented by the GDP of Selected Developed Countries—Empirical Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17103555
- Stone, K., Blinn, N., & Spencer, R. (2022). Mental Health Impacts of Climate Change on Women: A Scoping Review. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 9(2), 228–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-022-00346-8</u>
- Strandbu, Å., Bakken, A., & Sletten, M. A. (2019). Exploring the minority–majority gap in sport participation: Different patterns for boys and girls? *Sport in Society*, *22*(4), 606–624.

Tang, K., & Jardine, C. G. (2016). Our way of life: Importance of indigenous culture and tradition to physical activity practices. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, 11(1), 211–227. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.18357/ijih111201616018

Tannehill, D., MacPhail, A., Walsh, J., & Woods, C. (2015). What young people say about physical activity: The Children's Sport Participation and Physical Activity (CSPPA) study. *Sport, Education & Society*, *20*(4), 442–462. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2013.784863

- Tannenbaum, C., Greaves, L., & Graham, I. D. (2016). Why sex and gender matter in implementation research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16(1), 145, s12874-016-0247–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0247-7
- Tauber, P. G. (2012). *An exploration of the relationships among connectedness to nature, quality of life, and mental health.* Utah State University.

The Australian Human Rights Commission. (2019). Chapter 4: The role and influence of the media. In *The Australian Human Rights Commission: Our work*. https://humanrights.gov.au/our-work/chapter-4-role-and-influence-media

- Thivel, D., Masurier, J., Baquet, G., Timmons, B. W., Pereira, B., Berthoin, S., Duclos, M., & Aucouturier, J. (2019). High-intensity interval training in overweight and obese children and adolescents: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Journal of Sports Medicine* and Physical Fitness, 59(2), 310–324. https://doi.org/10.23736/S0022-4707.18.08075-1
- Thomas, F. (2015). The role of natural environments within women's everyday health and wellbeing in Copenhagen, Denmark. *Health & Place*, *35*, 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.11.005

- Thompson, A. M., & Wadsworth, L. A. (2012). Keeping Pace: Physical Activity and Healthy Eating Among Children and Youth: Key Findings from the 2009-2010 Study. Government of Nova Scotia.
- Thompson Burdine, J., Thorne, S., & Sandhu, G. (2021). Interpretive description: A flexible qualitative methodology for medical education research. *Medical Education*, 55(3), 336– 343. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14380
- Thompson Coon, J., Boddy, K., Stein, K., Whear, R., Barton, J., & Depledge, M. H. (2011).
 Does Participating in Physical Activity in Outdoor Natural Environments Have a Greater
 Effect on Physical and Mental Wellbeing than Physical Activity Indoors? A Systematic
 Review. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(5), 1761–1772.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/es102947t
- Thorne, S. (2000). Data analysis in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *3*(3), 68–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ebn.3.3.68
- Thorne, S. (2016). *Interpretive description* (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315426259
- Thorne, S., Kirkham, S. R., & MacDonald-Emes, J. (1997). Interpretive description: A noncategorical qualitative alternative for developing nursing knowledge. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 20(2), 169–177.
- Thorne, S., Kirkham, S. R., & O'Flynn-Magee, K. (2004). The analytic challenge in interpretive description. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *3*(1), 1–11. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/160940690400300101

Tobin, G. A., & Begley, C. M. (2004). Methodological rigour within a qualitative framework. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *48*(4), 388–396. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03207.x

Trost, S. G., Pate, R. R., Sallis, J. F., Freedson, P. S., Taylor, W. C., Dowda, M., & Sirard, J. (2002). Age and gender differences in objectively measured physical activity in youth. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *34*(2), 350–355. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200202000-00025

- Twohig-Bennett, C., & Jones, A. (2018). The health benefits of the great outdoors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of greenspace exposure and health outcomes. *Environmental Research*, 166, 628–637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.06.030
- Van Hecke, L., Verhoeven, H., Clarys, P., Van Dyck, D., Van de Weghe, N., Baert, T., Deforche, B., & Van Cauwenberg, J. (2018). Factors related with public open space use among adolescents: A study using GPS and accelerometers. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 17, 1-N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-018-0123-2
- Vani, M. F., Pila, E., deJonge, M., Solomon-Krakus, S., & Sabiston, C. M. (2021). 'Can you move your fat ass off the baseline?' Exploring the sport experiences of adolescent girls with body image concerns. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 13(4), 671–689. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2020.1771409
- Vlassoff, C. (2007). Gender Differences in Determinants and Consequences of Health and Illness. *Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition*, *25*(1), 47–61.
- Völker, S., & Kistemann, T. (2011). The impact of blue space on human health and well-being– Salutogenetic health effects of inland surface waters: A review. *International Journal of*

Hygiene and Environmental Health, *214*(6), 449–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.05.001

- Vu, M. B., Murrie, D., Gonzalez, V., & Jobe, J. B. (2006). Listening to girls and boys talk about girls' physical activity behaviors. *Health Education & Behavior*, 33(1), 81–96.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198105282443
- Waite, S., Husain, F., Scandone, B., Forsyth, E., & Piggott, H. (2021). 'It's not for people like (them)': Structural and cultural barriers to children and young people engaging with nature outside schooling. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 1–20.
- Walia, S., & Leipert, B. (2012). Perceived facilitators and barriers to physical activity for rural youth: An exploratory study using photovoice. *Rural and Remote Health*, *12*(1), [21]-[33].
- Walker, J. (2022). Tough girls: Gender performance and safety within schools. *Children's Geographies*, *20*(5), 549–562. https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2020.1718606
- Walseth, K., Aartun, I., & Engelsrud, G. (2017). Girls' bodily activities in physical education
 How current fitness and sport discourses influence girls' identity construction. *Sport, Education and Society*, 22(4), 442–459. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2015.1050370
- Ward, A. L., McGee, R., Freeman, C., Gendall, P. J., & Cameron, C. (2018). Transport behaviours among older teenagers from semi-rural New Zealand. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *42*(4), 340–346. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12803
- Ward, L. M., & Grower, P. (2020). Media and the development of gender role stereotypes.
 Annual Review of Developmental Psychology, 2, 177–199.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-devpsych-051120-010630

- Warren, K. (2015). Gender in outdoor studies. In B. Humberstone, H. Prince, & K. A. Henderson (Eds.), *Routledge International Handbook of Outdoor Studies* (1st ed., pp. 360–368).
 Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315768465-41
- Warren, K., Risinger, S., & Loeffler, T. A. (2018). Challenges faced by women outdoor leaders.
 In *The Palgrave international handbook of women and outdoor learning* (pp. 247–258).
 Springer.
- Watson, A., Eliott, J., & Mehta, K. (2015). Perceived barriers and facilitators to participation in physical activity during the school lunch break for girls aged 12–13 years. *European Physical Education Review*, 21(2), 257–271. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356336X14567545
- Watts, N., Amann, M., Arnell, N., Ayeb-Karlsson, S., Beagley, J., Belesova, K., Boykoff, M.,
 Byass, P., Cai, W., & Campbell-Lendrum, D. (2021). The 2020 report of the Lancet
 Countdown on health and climate change: Responding to converging crises. *The Lancet*, *397*(10269), 129–170.
- Weaver, K., & Olson, J. K. (2006). Understanding paradigms used for nursing research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *53*(4), 459–469. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03740.x
- Weedon, C. (1987). *Feminist Practice and Poststructuralist Theory*. Cambridge: Basil-Blackwell.
- Weedon, C. (1997). Feminist practice and poststructuralist theory. Blackwell; /z-wcorg/.
- Weir, K. (2020). Nurtured by nature. Monitor on Psychology, 51(3). American Psychological Association, 51(3). https://www.apa.org/monitor/2020/04/nurtured-nature
- Wesely, J. K., & Gaarder, E. (2004). The Gendered "Nature" of the Urban Outdoors: Women Negotiating Fear of Violence. *Gender & Society*, 18(5), 645–663. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243204268127

- White, M. P., Alcock, I., Grellier, J., Wheeler, B. W., Hartig, T., Warber, S. L., Bone, A., Depledge, M. H., & Fleming, L. E. (2019). Spending at least 120 minutes a week in nature is associated with good health and wellbeing. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 7730. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-44097-3
- White, P., & McTeer, W. (2012). Socioeconomic status and sport participation at different developmental stages during childhood and youth: Multivariate analyses using Canadian national survey data. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 29(2), 186–209. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1123/ssj.29.2.186
- White, M. P., Alcock, I., Wheeler, B. W., & Depledge, M. H. (2013). Would you be happier living in a greener urban area? A fixed-effects analysis of panel data. *Psychological Science*, 24(6), 920–928. https://doi-

org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/095679761246465

- Whitson, D. (1994). The embodiment of gender: Discipline, domination and empowerment. *Women, Sport, and Culture*, 353–371.
- Whittington, A. (2006). Challenging Girls' Constructions of Femininity in the Outdoors. *Journal* of Experiential Education, 28(3), 205–221. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590602800304
- Wiens, V., Kyngäs, H., & Pölkki, T. (2014). A descriptive qualitative study of adolescent girls' well-being in Northern Finland. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 73(1), 24792. https://doi.org/10.3402/ijch.v73.24792
- Wiens, V., Kyngäs, H., & Pölkki, T. (2019). Insight from focus group interviews: Adolescent girls' well-being in relation to experiences of winter, nature and seasonal changes in Northern Finland. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, *33*(4), 969–977. https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12695

- Windhorst, E., & Williams, A. (2015). "It's like a different world": Natural places, postsecondary students, and mental health. *Health & Place*, 34, 241–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2015.06.002
- Wittmer, C. R. (2001). Leadership and gender-role congruency: A guide for wilderness and outdoor practitioners. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 24(3), 173–178. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/105382590102400308
- Woodgate, R. L., & Skarlato, O. (2015). "It is about being outside": Canadian youth's perspectives of good health and the environment. *Health & Place*, *31*, 100–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.11.008
- Woolum, J. (1998). *Outstanding women athletes: Who they are and how they influenced sports in America*. Greenwood Publishing Group.
- World Health Organization. (2015a). *Health for the World's Adolescents: A second chance in the second decade*. https://apps.who.int/adolescent/second-decade/section3/page2/mortality.html
- World Health Organization. (2015b). *Health in 2015: From MDGs, Millennium Development Goals to SDGs, Sustainable Development Goals*. World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2018). *Physical Activity*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity
- World Health Organization. (2019). New WHO-led study says majority of adolescents worldwide are not sufficiently physically active. https://www.who.int/news/item/22-11-2019-newwho-led-study-says-majority-of-adolescents-worldwide-are-not-sufficiently-physicallyactive-putting-their-current-and-future-health-at-risk

World Health Organization. (2020). *Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health*. http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/pa/en/index.html

World Health Organization. (2021a). *Gender and health*. https://www.who.int/westernpacific/health-topics/gender

- World Health Organization. (2021b). *Global status report on the public health response to dementia*. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/344701
- Wright, J. (1996). Mapping the discourses of physical education: Articulating a female tradition. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 28(3), 331–351. https://doi.org/10.1080/0022027980280306
- Yancey, A. K., Ortega, A. N., & Kumanyika, S. K. (2006). Effective recruitment and retention of minority research participants. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 27, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.27.021405.102113
- Zach, S., & Adiv, T. (2016). Strength training in males and females–Motives, training habits, knowledge, and stereotypic perceptions. *Sex Roles*, 74(7–8), 323–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-015-0544-3
- Zelenski, J. M., & Nisbet, E. K. (2014). Happiness and Feeling Connected: The Distinct Role of Nature Relatedness. *Environment and Behavior*, 46(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916512451901
- Zhang, X., Zhang, X., & Chen, X. (2017). Happiness in the air: How does a dirty sky affect mental health and subjective well-being? *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 85, 81–94.
- Zimmerman, J. (2011). *Raising our athletic daughters: How sports can build self-esteem and save girls' lives*. Main Street Books.

Appendix A

Recruitment Poster

Calling All Older Adolescent Girls & Young Women What is Your Connection Between Nature & Physical Activity?



The research study "Understanding Older Adolescent Girl's Perceptions of the Relationship Between Nature & Physical Activity" is looking for older adolescent girls/young women to share their experiences and perspectives with nature and physical activity, either in a one-on-one or group interview (your choice) for approximately one hour

To participate you should identify as a girl/women between the ages of 16-19, live in Nova Scotia, and have experiences, connections, or a relationship with nature & physical activity

If you are interested in participating or have any questions about this study, please contact Cynthia MacDonald at cy800227@dal.ca

The Jay Des Comercia

Appendix B

Recruitment Email

Dear

My name is Cynthia MacDonald, and I am a Masters of Arts in Health Promotion student at Dalhousie University (under the supervision of Dr. Becky Spencer). I am emailing you today to see if you may be able to help me recruit participants for my study on older adolescent girls' perceptions of the relationship between nature and physical activity. I am interested in understanding the perspectives of adolescents girls in Nova Scotia regarding nature and physical activity, and how their relationship between these topics is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes. I am seeking to recruit older adolescents who identify as a girl/young woman between the ages of 16-19, who currently live in Nova Scotia and have perceptions, experiences, connections, or a relationship with nature and physical activity.

Attached to this email is a study recruitment poster. It is my hope that you will share the poster on your social media account and/or distribute it to your email list or to anyone you think might be interested. Should you have any questions or concerns about the study, or want more information, please do not hesitate to reach out by responding to this email, or you can contact my supervisor at becky.spencer@dal.ca.

Sincerely,

Cynthia MacDonald

Appendix C

Semi-structured interview questions

- 1. What does physical activity mean to you?
- 2. Can you tell me a bit about your physical activity?
 - What do you do for physical activity?
 - Further probes: with peers, with others, alone
 - How do you talk about physical activity with other people? Can you give me some examples?
 - Further probes: with peers, with others, alone
- 3. Can you tell me how physical activity affects your health and wellbeing?
 - How does physical activity impact your personal physical, emotional, or mental health?
 - How does physical activity impact your social life?
 - How does physical activity impact your connection with your community?
- 4. Can you tell me about your experience (in general) with nature or being outside?
 - How do you like to engage with nature?
 - How do you feel about being outside or in nature?
 - How does spending time in nature influence your sense of belonging or connection with nature?
 - How have these experiences shifted over the last few years, from childhood to adolescence?
- 5. Can you tell me about your experience with physical activity with nature or being outside?
- 6. How do you feel girls are talked about or portrayed relating to physical activity and nature?
 - Probes: at school, in the media, among your friend groups
- 7. Can you tell me about how you and/or your peers, friends, family perceive your/their connection between nature and physical activity?
 - Feel free to tell me about some experiences. They can be positive and/or negative
- 8. Can you tell me about any stereotypes you, and/or your peers/friends experience while connecting with nature and physical activity?
 - These stereotypes can be either positive and/or negative

- 9. Have you or your peers/friends experienced gender norms or stereotypes regarding nature and physical activity? Where do you think stereotypes and gender norms come from?
 - Probes: Environments, institutions, media, industry, social influence, policy, culture, etc.
- 10. How does identifying as a girl or woman impact how you experience physical activity and nature?
- 11. What would help you feel good about engaging with nature and physical activity?
- 12. Who might this research most benefit? Who would you want the results of this study to be shared with?

Appendix D

Demographics Survey

This is a follow up survey to the semi-structured interview which has already been completed. You have originally gave your verbal consent to participant in the interview, which is shown above. The additional survey also requires your consent.

Additional Consent for the Demographic Survey

I have read the explanation about this study. I have been given the opportunity to discuss it and

my questions have been answered to my satisfaction.

Yes No

I understand that I have been asked to take part in an additional survey

Yes No

I understand that my name and identity will not be attached to the additional survey group

Yes No

I agree to take part in this additional section of the study. My participation is voluntary, and I understand that I am free to withdraw from the study at any time and/or free to not complete this additional part of the study

Yes No

1. I have taken part in Cynthia MacDonald's study regarding adolescent girls' connection

between nature and physical activity. I agree to complete this demographic survey,

understanding that the results will not be connected to my individual responses or

identity, and will be used to describe the participant group only.

- a. Yes
- b. No
- 2. Please identify your age at the time of your interview.
 - a. Response: _____

- As gender and gender-expression are fluid and individual concepts, we have left an open space to identify your gender. Some examples of gender include, but are not limited to: woman, trans*, and non-binary
 - a. Response: _____
- 4. Cultural identity is your self-defined sense of belonging to a group, which could include (but is not limited to) race, ethnicity, nationality, or religion. Please list or describe the ethno-racial-cultural group(s) with whom you identify. Examples include: Mi'kmaq, Italian, African Nova Scotian, Lebanese, Inuit, Acadian, Jewish, English, Canadian, Chinese- Canadian, Colombian, German, etc.
 - a. Response: _____
- 5. Do you identify as a person with a disability?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

Thank you for taking the time to complete this additional survey!

Appendix E

Consent Form

Project title: Understanding Older Adolescent Girl's Perceptions of the Relationship Between Nature and Physical Activity

Researcher: Cynthia MacDonald, MA in Health Promotion Candidate, Dalhousie University, cy800227@dal.ca, (902)-318-4997

Supervisor: Dr. Rebecca Spencer (Becky.spencer@dal.ca)

Introduction

We invite you to take part in a study being conducted by Cynthia MacDonald, a Masters of Arts in Health Promotion student at Dalhousie University. Choosing whether or not to take part in the study is entirely your choice. There will be no negative impact if you decide not to take part. The information below tells you what is involved in the study, what you will be asked to do, and about any benefit or risk you might experience. You should discuss any questions you have about this study with Cynthia MacDonald. Please ask as many questions as you like and contact her at any time.

Study purpose and outline

Older adolescent girls may perceive their relationship with nature and physical activity to be unique, and spending time connecting with nature may be important for health and wellbeing. However, there has been little identified research to date that focuses specifically on older adolescent girls and their relationship between physical activity and nature. Physical activity is any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that require energy expenditure, such as activities like walking, cycling, or sports (World Health Organization, 2018). Where girls' connections with both nature and physical activity can be complex due to the influence of stereotypes and gender norms, the study seeks to explore how older adolescent girls' relationship between nature and physical activity is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes.

Who can take part in this study

You may take part in this research study if you reside in Nova Scotia, and if you are between the ages of 16 and 19. Additionally, you should identify as a girl, woman, non-binary femme, or Two-Spirited, and be interested in engaging in the data collection plans described below. You do not have to have had a direct connection with nature or physical activity. We are looking for recruit six to 10 participants. All participants will need to have an internet capable device to run Microsoft teams.

What you will be asked to do

If you decided to take part in this study, you will be asked to take part in either a group interview or a one-on-one interview, whichever you prefer. Group interviews will only be offered to participants who have a significant other or friends willing to participate with them. The one-on-one or group interviews, will take place on Microsoft teams and will take approximately 1 hour. The maximum amount of time you could spend participating in this study is two hours, as actual participation could approximately be one hour, but recruitment, scheduling, and reviewing the

informed consent document may take extra time. During your one-on-one or group interview, you will be asked to share your experiences with nature and physical activity. All interviews will be recorded with a handheld audio-recorder and recorded through GarageBand, and later transcribed verbatim (typed out). GarageBand is a form of digital audio workstations for macOS, that allows users to create music and record audio and will be used to record the entire group or one-on-one interview as a backup to the handheld audio-recorder.

Possible benefits, risks, and discomforts

Participating in this study might not benefit you directly, but we may learn things from your experiences that could help benefit other adolescent girls. The risks associated with this study are minimal but may include the possibility of emotional or psychological distress. Talking about nature and PA may be therapeutic for participants but given the negative experiences some adolescent girls may have experienced, it could also evoke strong emotions. You can choose to skip any question in your one-on-one or group interview and are free to stop participating at any time. As a honorarium for participating in this study and providing your time, you will receive a compensation of a 15 dollar e-transfer that will be sent to the email you provided during the verbal consent.

How you will be protected

Your participation in this research will be known only to Cynthia MacDonald. The information that you provide to her will be kept confidential through the use of pseudonym. If you choice to take part in a group interview, your identity will be known to the other participant in the group. However, group interviews will only be offered to participants who have a significant other or friend who is willing to take part in the study, therefore participants in group interviews will be familiar with each other and confidentiality should not be an issue. All your identifying information such as your name and contact information will be securely stored separately from your research information. We will use pseudonym (not your name) in our written and computer records. During the study, all electronic records will be kept secure in an encrypted file on the researcher's password-protected computer. Direct quotes will be used in study findings but will not be associated with any individual name. No information about your participation in this research will be disclosed to anyone unless compelled to do so by law, such as in the unlikely event that child abuse is suspected and the researchers are required to contact authorities.

If you decide to stop participating

You are free to stop participating and leave the study at any time without any ramifications. To stop participating in the study you can inform the researcher at any point during the interview that you do not wish to continue. If you decide to stop participating during the study, you can decide whether you want any of the information that you have provided up to that point to be removed or if you will allow us to use that information. If at the end of a one-on-one interview you decide that you would not like any of the information that you have provided to be used, you can inform the research that you wish to revoke all information given. If you participate in a group interview your data may not be able to be removed if you decide to stop participating due to complications in removing individual voices from a group. however, group interview participants can request that specific anecdotes or stories that they told can be removed for up to one week following the interview. If you participated in a one-on-one interview, you can request

that your data be removed from the study for up to one week after your interview. You can make data removal requests by emailing the researcher at cy800227@dal.ca.

How to obtain results

The lead researcher, Cynthia MacDonald, can provide you with a short summary of the study findings when it is finished, as well as updates on future publications or presentations including study findings. You can request to obtain this summary and updates by verbally providing your email address during the verbal consent process.

Questions

The researchers are happy to talk with you about any questions or concerns you may have about your participation in this study. Please contact Cynthia MacDonald at 902-318-4997, cy800227@dal.ca or her supervisor Dr. Rebecca Spencer at Becky.spencer@dal.ca at any time with questions, comments, or concerns about the research study. If you have any ethical concerns about your participation in this research, you may also contact Research Ethics, Dalhousie University at (902)-494-1462, ethics@dal.ca.

Appendix F

Verbal Consent Script

My name is [RA or lead researcher name) and I [describe role at Dalhousie University]. I am part of a study that is conducting research on older adolescent girls' relationship between physical activity and nature.

This study seeks to understand older adolescent girls' perspectives regarding how their relationship between physical activity and nature is influenced by gender norms and stereotypes. You have been asked to take part in a one-on-one or group interview, lasting approximately 60 minutes. You will be compensated for your time by receiving a \$15 honorarium.

Every effort will be made to keep your data confidential. One-on-one and group interviews will be audio recorded, and all recordings will be deleted once they are transcribed. Transcripts will be saved on a password protected hard drive, and only the research team will have access to the data. Although your individual quotes may be used in study results, they will not be attached to your real name, and any identifying information in them will be removed (i.e. your workplace, neighborhood, etc.). If you are participating in a group interview, there is always risk that other participants might share your data with non-participants. It is asked that all participants respect the privacy of others in their group and do not discuss group details with anyone outside of the study and, if data is collected virtually, refrain from any type of recording at all times.

Should you feel discomfort during the interview you are welcome to skip any question. Further, you can stop participating in the study at any point without consequence. If you have chosen to participate in a one-on-one interview, you may ask to have your data removed from the study up to a week after your participation by emailing the lead researcher. Data removal is more difficult in group interviews, but should you wish to remove a particular story or anecdote from your data, this can be done by emailing myself up to a week after the group interview.

If you have any questions or concerns about your participation in this study or the study as a whole, please feel free to ask me now or contact myself, my supervisors, or the Dalhousie Research Ethics board.

To be read aloud and checked off by the researcher:

I have read the explanation about this study. I have been given the opportunity to discuss it and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction.

Yes No

I understand that I have been asked to take part in either a one-on-one interview or a group interview, depending on which is most comfortable to me.

Yes No

I understand that group and one-on-one interviews will be audio recorded, and direct quotes of things I say may be used in presentations and/or publication, but will be attributed to a pseudonym and will not contain identifying information such as my school, neighborhood, etc.

Yes No

I agree to take part in this study. My participation is voluntary, and I understand that I am free to withdraw from the study at any time, but that my individual voice cannot be removed from audio-recorded group discussions.

Yes No

Provision of Results

Would you like to receive a copy of a summary of this study's results? Yes No

Would you like to be updated (via email) regarding publications, events, or presentations associated with this study? Yes No

If you said **Yes** to either of the above questions, please spell out your name and email for me.

Name: ______

Email address: _____

Appendix G

Resources

For immediate/emergency assistance:

Mental Health Crisis Line, available 24 hours, seven days a week: 1-888-429-8167 (toll-free)

Kids Help Phone, available 24 hours, seven days a week: 1-800-668-6868 (toll-free)

*Or call **911** or go to your closest emergency department.

For ongoing assistance:

Eating Disorders Nova Scotia

A community-based organization that offers peer support for individuals with eating disorders and their families, friends and partners.

Healthy Minds Navigator

Provides a variety of peer-based services to people living with mental illness and their families, including assistance with navigating the mental health system.

902-404-3504

Self-Help Connection

A resource for information and tools for self-help.

Avalon Sexual Assault Centre

Avalon Sexual Assault Centre provides services for those affected by sexualized violence, with primary emphasis on support, education, counseling and leadership/advocacy services for women.

902-422-4240

Sexual Assault Services Association (SASA)

The Antigonish Women's Resource Centre and SASA provides services to individual women and adolescent girls that include crisis and ongoing problem-solving support, information, advocacy, accompaniment and referral.

902-863-6221

<u>IWK</u>

Mental health and addictions service for children and youth under the age of 19 and women of all ages

902-464-4110 or toll free 1-855-922-1122

Further recourses:

Nova Scotia Resource Map